


















Throughout 2012 Fluor ceebrated 100 years of servce to our clients often reflecting on the companys

histonc strengths and vaues that made such sgnificant achievement possible Wi al fo mc the

need to take to po hon out selves for the next cent ury of industi leadr dsp

We Ic rried great deal about our company and our riianagen tent comniitin nt or we bi ougl our history id

cuftc into perspective and we hai pencd our focus reahng growth str Itegies tot the tutu mo Ltrong

ar silient company and we fully understand the iperative to delivc areho dei value

We know that we have to earn your trust every day and delivenng profitable growth gves us the

opportumty to do that Notwithstanding the unexpected harpe lah ig to the adv rsc ii bitr iti in ulii in iv

Ore 1abbard Wind Farm pi Ojec po ased to report that luors ft id irTientak emain trc up and ur fir anc ial

rfor ian was sip riticant Pu ing the ye ii we hooked nr awards totaling $27 billio and or idiirg backlog

stood at cizeable $382 hillion litor reve inc grew to rccoi $27 billion id iet ear iii igs ttr bu ibk

Fluoi were $4bC millior or $2 71 pci share

luor balance shnnt rnrnains strong with nnd r.eh and secnrit cc nf $2 hil in 012 wi returned

$b18 nil ion Fr cacti to shareholders through dividends arid there purchasc of nilliori ehai es and still no iii itain one

of lie healthi st cash pnsitions ri the industry We xpect to ontinue to return ru lr to shareholdc durhig 2013

Our shareholders and cUents can have confidence in the underlying strength of Fluor Oui subOantia

inc 01 position globa divei sitir ation expansive cliei it relatio isl tips and the expe ti th it sorties fr entu of

expel icnce pvc luor resilience in the face of big challenges The is the legac of Fluor inc thaI allows js pi
ovd

Aoiner witt best iii class services ii id the best people in the industry The sti ength and depth of oui company

mdo ir continuous efforts to grow the next generatior of industry lcadei position luor as an ernploy rotc ho cc

gi ing us another strategic and ornpetitive advantage

he cc defining clrai acteristic swill prove especially valuable in 2013 arid heyor irge indus nial protects th it

iddresc rinprecedc nted popu atioii needs aid cnergy dernind hoc ome rca ity

We anticipate significant ongterm growth the capital spenduig trends of our major customers which

wifi fuel growth opportunities for Fluor Throughout 2012 we took number of rn ioi tant step to position cior 1w

tI rinext growth cycle focus ng on tI me sti ategic imperatives of optirnixhig osft hu Iding id is ip cc ig ttioi slim mrrd

owing ou isinc ccc arid sr rvices

or example in 2012 luor sened three yeai strategic global nt inc ci ing pi ocuremc nt oimsti or tiori

construction inairagement igreernent with Tow Cher iic al Company his illustrates our ability tc Oratepic dly partuc

ei id poe tion thy nnpvi 3S valned oeource for lcnk or bc exccu on of tF cii capita project plcn or

ilso twarded five year iterpi framework agreement foi engineeri ig and man einn it mx vs lo

Shell projects ii urope Africa anrd the Middle as Our pai tire ing ai angeinent vith OASF in Asia id cii op

is strengttr ned with an additional ervic agreement iii 2012 cove rig all of North Ai ie ico luor ccimrently

has multiple active
pi ojects unrder the BASF partnering agi cc nents an the Pow Ii ince has al mdy re ulWd

cc ntr met for propylc production projec tint neeport tex mc Stn it irtniens mip of ttmis riot ire potio on

scibstant al futcire globa opportunities



Sigmficant new awards across all five business segments were won dunng 2012 and noteworthy

mdestones were achieved dunng the year sollthfying Fuors strong position key markets Hr ors Gas

busines ui $1 bflion in work ft or- ed joint ic ture was warr ad conti act by engiz0 vroit

for it Weth rcr ore Mana en ant Pr iec in Kaa lkhst and two coi tracts vei awars ad to upport PcI anc

Indur ext phase of refinery nd peti or her icak growth in India Ohwi noG oithy awards included iddihonal

cc epc id incre nfal releaser foi niaior oi sands cxpan ciori proiect iii Can ida in addition the number at

fro it end crig aeeririg and dc LD pro ects awirded to nor in 20 signals icsc rgence in oi rrid is

ii kets where luer is wc p0 itinr ad

iorC IndLe tria lnfr sti Lrcturc gr up book new awarcL of $9 illic 0I2 Tb gieup cIebrated the

ai ly opening of tie ww 495 res aner in Virgin bnngii welco no tel tc one of the most congeted

highway system the iited Sb Anothcr luor led Fr nt venture war nanied by he texas Department of

To nport hon as the preferred brIde for the desig construct on arid ipit il ri ntenance of major road project in

DalI exa luor won nuinhei cf important mi iin md metals contra Cs despite slow rig demand for

oinmo lit md thc comnp ny cc Ciriue tow along term opportunities lint 50 our leadership isitmeil this

market Fc example leer vim awc lcd ign ficant mew sc opc from Oar wk Go Cci pci atien at the Pascua am

mini project Icc ited oi the Argcn na/Chile border irn mbly one of the cost nhc mt and ha lengiri in ning

pm ejects ci ri ently undo way in tie orld

Our Government isiness rei ci ied stroi tren thening exist ng dat emiships and xpand ng ur portfolio of

se vicr re itch woi Duriimg 2012 tl U.S Depar tier nt of Lnei gy exteride IF luor contract at the ivr nnah Rivei

ai mdw lcctec iF luor oint yr nhmr company as the prin ace mtracfoi for the dcc ntam nat on and deco nmssioning

cf the Pert iouth Gaseous Piffusi in 01 mnt iii Clue Fluor team was salade by the Army top irt pate in ifs

massive AC logistic program cv is Fm ahew luoi eu pete fei tu urr tak der the Dr partmr nt of

Do ensr also scc ted luer joint an nturc to perform base riper atrens supp mt at cvcn arsenals in Illinoir

luer Glob ii Services team pm sued number of new erig errr contracts with majei industi mal usteniei

Imaakr $904 re fran ri naw vi irk nd rA/als in ip the year in adr1tien kr acqcc 3i ieaft with jeat

yr ntc res eHaF hod during thc ye ar will furth strenthe ii luers grewtl potenti il

urthe advancinig our pesi ci is Ic ader ii these ar pewei cn ineering and onstr icti in industry LS iwer

Crc up awar dccl mom engii iecnng precum er icnt and censtri ctien cent in as well separate contract for

en eing eperat ens am cl in maCc nai services for I/o nregawatt solar ietevu laic fir
ility in Southern California

Als ii in thc an moo mlatory peru ts cv an received by rIce Iment ICR/f lair imp the way for limo to proc eed

tb ilam ste build mcw mU nil fired peww plant ii Her sochee Dry Texas





FIuoVs global reach and project axpsrtlaa provida skong foundation for the future and bring new

opportunlt.asforiuccesewlthourcflanto o%th ncrnergirg narkilt in ra$iucturenedsunu uturemarket

md nprov cconomr conditions hold gu cat prornu for Huor across al of ot isu it ss segmer believe that

rnetingtheepiowingdtmand vllscquure new thunki ipaid ci angestothew wc approichour markets vid

StibO OUt uistome

luo workingtc provide ix re vi rtic ally integrated aproach to executrr work wh should drive mort

valu tc our die it and incre on hart of project prof tabi ity Tot Mt end we will seek oppor unties to make

sfr icquls to is oi cstablush air venture companhs that enh sncc the cou ir anys abut ty to provide modular

con 4w tion an labs it ation We will alsc expand upon ott hu itage as builder ncreasu direct iii construction

wlic re it mAts thc best senst or our busunef and air iistonw is

lunng 012.11 ior formed 01 Venture with ACM Philippines ised company that specializes inn odular

ni crin md ibruc atuon ervuces mack this unvestmer to expai cour capabilrtie3 unto full range oi

ntt rat dir rcerungfabr catuoi modt IC asscmbly and construction scrvicos

so ton ied new ornt vi nture with oni. of Brizi largest construction camp mntes wh ch will link that

rganuiati in growing preseric in Hr wi with Huor proje tex ution dorship AMLCO luors untegi ated

eauipnmc rt ii tool colut ons cot ipa iy acqu red Servulu mdc Mozamblq ie ha ed construction equipment rent il

indaoject .nu escompany lt.sgve ltucranearlyerlryunthrahgh rowthrcgion fAIica

lnve it ntc likethesc potrt or us to ovide unproved ccl edulc dclivtry and cost cc mlnty to ow c.liemts

But list part of thi equ di in Wi also know that Fluor p1 iys an iportant id often essorit al rok in

lx lpin ha etl ccc.mpetituv ness it our cbcnts Cu torners ire searchrrg for tr sted partner wi Ii mutu 31 benef ts

ii hared risks Meeting clients needs or redu capital costs and ac elera ed schedules kt yto cucci ssful

tong term burunc cc rclationshups

Our buaur and trnan rut performance us thi result of extracrdunar commi ruent and capability at tve level

of hecornar.y Ianiimmcn elygritefultofluorsovtr40000cmployecsfort mc dedcatio itheybringtowork

cach ndevery lay dluketoackicwledjethatafteroverade idi of exciptron Jservicc ir uerdunglluor i.financ

oiwinsztion Chief lnancialOfficar Michael Ste .iertretiredduring2Ol2 BiggaC Porter joined tht comparyas
luou at ow vet ir ciii Ofticei runs ig wealth of fin incual leadeu sh expcrcnc And to PInes Board of

rectors for ongoing guidance ant confidence the co pony fou my nc ere tha iks tuning ou

Hnm dstcricthnrnpcndcnrdt tcti srnIflhwmsArrmanded.Olwrl retlrelpreslderft indchiofexc-itvo

officerotllc rd Power LrhtCompany

Whor fie upon wherc luo sta ds oday amA hc re ma kmble ch cvements that stirg iish us is

an undu try leader am at or ec hi tf the va opporti muly th it is Ix tore ua \s we step into time irst decade

of on ext tund yc irs we ai focu on sustainable growth ad mptung market haruges and cI ent

net ds nw stinf in ouu peopli lx sal ctuve in the pu ojects vi pursue and uuldung tr ustc nI ito iships

with our ethkcho lsrs
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Floor is wet potionc to add cv

currc rket condition id wc so

prep red for pturn ci the long term

outlook With pi more on evci

contuient cxc opt Antarchca oui

company lv exception il pen hical

diverOty and thc re ire few coiiipetitoi

who ccii civil our ecrh ni cepahil ties

nor is known for taking on the mo

complex protects nt ie oust cniotc

Icc aticiv we have nIt

strong lotion hips with th lofts

opc itoi worldwidc In dOI iese

adv 1gev generated $1 bil ion

in now awa ds id has king of

I8 billion

nor iv able to help ionft achiov their

goal bee use we ku oc to adapt

tue My to char ping imciimstanccs

We have seen voice on petitor try tc

nyc cc del tI it kc ii

lue wo Id and npo it to oothc

In In idapt ts glob ho nc

modc ito icieet the nn quc liallc ot

our Ii ucion aid vestiiie bc ul tlcot

and kill ii our xc ci tin ip roe

Our ci of morc bc al ute

iied wrth ocir prover tr ic cc ci

ow hoots ice coot ii cethat

ci iou foi maui will inc em ccc

ceir Pu oject tatioi

North erican iale is vc

igiiific ant cc cha cger lentil

snpply fran toi ruiirIi th cii gy

do Cd and hould 110w Inc Uni ct

tate hoc oiiuc icrgy irid ot

in IFie Into Nc th Ac ic Ii

cost teed ic ck cod lou cell

ositioned 1C ific mt nomb ot

ew Au oc heu seal complexes gas to

Iiq
ads Flit plant in mel ipk

cmaic us axe icc

Cr



plent cur om md Fluor

is elrcm ployrrig ire or rok We are

ft verogey tIre xpei once wr heve

inc denyr end bruldinu

mi ihtmes ir other irts of thr

world ii dem in fret my meter

time to rnerket opproect for compli

no thee proj niorc quickly We

IVO mug stone in clelionships with

ineny of ft cliei Is it wil he dcveloo

ing the yr st proje is

Another drrver of Fluoi us ess our

in lcrfiv ur sue Icr yr port on ot

or en erim prcx oii rnent end

curie to ccr tr ct We wi

or hiove tIc througl ii ri eesec use of

modulermo hon mr rd our strategy to

prov dr febnic rtioi cci vices

Modul ir let allows to hui

so wtenlicl portions of focility on

ii co effe tive iC TIre fin shed

iiioCtiJIe ir sh pp to tln ite eddy

to mm ist dltion In 2012 cc for ned

pint ver tui to mrovidr ted ration

the Phil ppinc whicl be LiS to

cornp proier ts feet and more

cot effectmv ly toi oni clients

Oil md is an enoi moos nroi ing

10 mel nr mrket end tI us we must always

opti iii oui position to he mbbe to

LI nyc within it In 2012 wc emigned

our clvr oy cop rpIric region whir

her el owed tr hette focus on

spr cific high growth egs ire or

cxi nplc in rcer nt yr ci we lied or

node etc ectivity ii am nr rft ut

our nc eogrep emp d5i5 hr Ip

us win use or project in Arge if inc

Ii Brecil wr for mcd nt venture

itlr Iceding con truction co npan
We hr lieve th new ventur will

em il iS tI IC ucccss wev her wit Ii

our CA Fluorjcint vu ituri in Mcx en

ovc thr pe two dec arIes which cvr

ci griitii ent petrochcr iF el complex

err offshore pletforrn md substenti ml

efi wry work dun
it

thr year

hr Asia ir ifir Igion is rirother ci cc

wlrr re we tronythcned our posit on

Pc signit antly incrr esed the Si/C

re ot oui offices end xpended

00 prcerico in the Philippines where

yr now nnploy more their 2200

we lii ricel staff In Austrelie we crc

do ny self perform construction on

ic upsti cciii portion of tIre Cantos

oel ee gee pi ojoct which will fee

yes supplir to major NC liquct

io far lity in Cl rdstone In Indi cc

etc pc rloi ing sg ficent Inc el

projects for Reli mnre Industries md
other cI nts We won the PCM of in

offshore p1 mtforrn in the Ph lippines

end we npletod major polys icon

project en sigrnficerrt oc mini

ccl corriplex Chi iw

Ii 2012 our gi oup formed irnportcnt

new ellienres eeweI Our xisting

pertnering agreement with BASI for

Asie and urope was expanded to

over al 01 North Arnerir We also

igned wirldwide ellimnce egreernent

witfr Dow Chemical end en enterpni

Lrei ncwork egneemerrt will Shell





ivc car sees to oopoi tu iltios

ui Afnc am the Midd

Or prc ct artf cor Mi er to

xp md hr or psi rc wri

Kw stair for GO eng cc hevrorl

Cana we sers aw irded ddrtiona

Ia pr eeL foi ynci uric and

iperr md won the worMs tirst

ide car or Ii rc and storape

COD pr je for Ph Quest We alwcrr mwBASF

pc tro herr ii tin ii iany We

so crecltttDwcrk oralaipolNG

OJE Mu roiL qu inn ie

rake pool ogr oi numb

niegu ojen ts rr the Midd aM

Dui mg O12 we he rnjor Oro

ch al project tom cm Ch mn il ri

is ar iii ty stud for Ott

nt id oth pnr rcant pr tm

Ii mk al tan ifties mn or sian

so building in offshore far ility

or xxoriMobil Ca ida ly

mc romp eted ai of pnificant

nr r/ projec dur ir tie year

Mar uthoir in Detroit and

mr Ma mysi

m1 and cheme oppor fur tics

round the ylol arc is Ororr id

bust havr sce in years

Oil Gas gm up structurr

suM intia ii rarkt prowl if oi ph

in integ ated dispersed xccLrt

appr cc cornbrie nni global

eirgrnen ri ig resources with OL be

prcsr rice ur ceesfuily execute

Hr nts projects Our approach dr

no ire prowl ierevor wc work

hy hnildinr
lip our Inc rI esoner in

host ouirt ice while pur sur plo ml

hn srness prospects We rave

substanti backlog of HELD projects

iat are expected to trarr PLor to fri

HF prop etc ov tire next few years

icrms oui upst cc ii dowi stream

otktrore and peG on hernmn al iar kets

rio proud to boa pait of ci cab

ohs and or ono rr growth and as we

pi sue morn so pn rforri or is tm

tori we expect to ti md ornpk

in oxpandinp wo kfor Having

otli ngr icr ring and constructro

apabr iti allows is to he one of

the low viable rn oui mdnsti

it are rap ible ot id mg
nd ft proj etc in thi rapidly

evr opiny mar set OLi roots are

ir nstr oct arid cey to

rLi fut pr owtlr p1 in



esour ccc

ot tire

ktoddy arc at

hr dr morc at

unde eloped beak and theyre epc

under yr
und rose dauritrnb Ira rge

otto lead to tli clet on of Ii or

We excel at remote and complex ork

ix Fr so Fry our proup has enjoyc

very ucc Aul penod of ar go mr ig

pr ojc Fe For ycir we ieve eon the

1w Ic idcr rn pr iv drug tar nkey

utr inc to ncr easng em xprnd

thc extr ctr 51 md pr eo ing of sr

modr rca sucli ri on ore old opper

ems rids and kei On ough prc loots

who ap tel or ste rrr trrir iarkr

xtr en rely rnrpo tint icier rs

ognr od ms the go to co Trp rry

Corxipl xrty is drrvrng facts ir prrbl

wo ks proiects is wc II Our rtiec

agrng whrle popubatrorr elI

Moderrrizatron is severely needed

rr every drftrc ult to odd rntr astruc

tar to derrse 11 areas It taks

ophr trc eted desijji err cc ustrc ct or

xe thodolc gy It tokc xper or rr rd

rr rovetive tro re hr so

iev iyOrrritc hoe ice

at exer iple the 19b rt

Del ry expmn project ow irded

to by tire Vrrginra Deport at of

rii rt itior ear re rr

lcd irrr thc is on Ion

ot tie Fughwey rm Fr

we enarniou ex ensrv iid aiIm

the dc rnolrtr rr rundr ol



bu Idings isoN ited bar tepped

wit plan to expand to the inside of

xistii lanes th this ap oac

only four structures had to be razed

3nd requiremant was subst iti l1y

ft ss orts ware lower md construe

ion trios war ocr We designed

better inousstrap md work

In 2012 we camp eted the atorer men

boned 49 Capital Beltway oxpi es
Iaire project We also coixipir ted the

State Hihw ry
161 proj met in the

as ort Worth area and th 115

highway just outt of alt ake
ity

All hree of II ee projects were

completed at ead of schedule arid oui

cli uts were very pleased with thc results

In mining we put th cc pper conceu

Ii ator ito
pi oduction at the Oyu olpo

onplc in Mongo his has been

transfoi mative for the ounti as the

frI ty soutputinp esentsahrge

per ni tafte Mnngol ms total COP
Wi also completed the Pueblo Viejo

goi niiiie iii ban Dana rmican puolic

In terms of new av ard 20P
st ug ye We ware awarded





addition scope Icr Lii go oruir

project or the emot and IuLh

clue tio corder hotv ocr Arpentuia

Oh II ia he fna ic oil

Ih econon sow recovo ing ud

interest new nt astructuue project uas

poked ip One area showing pi orn nj

op ortuuuty public pnvitc irtner

chip POP whir use ith puhhc

pr veto sources tofu ud ouch need

sb actrecture icr ts ic ee
ojcc to take ai equity staxe and

seat the table to decmnn euakr

hood example of our ucces ri the

POP market is oui vestr ient in

UK based telecom company whe the

pr iject was sue cuss and we ww cable

to eclize $43 rrullion gaio Ii om thc

silo of our terest in 2012

ii nix og proouction frc in existi

sites to kenerate cash ow for their

ivestors Inevitably icing mand wi

drive reti in to new develop ie it arid

eve bel eve the ni urket will be stronger

Ihan ever as owners rush 10 nil iate

rapit ojects quickly

ort term flue tuaf ions

will continue to rise

wi be Ion gterni

pt ooal level

In mining we expect bar to trend

down in tie shoi term Owrir

rc con ently holdi ig bark new dose inc

tend inst using on Ii



ry yr goveniment budgets fur

mor rten surr Or ers

Ofl tuntly 00k iy to Spend

loss md nm eJy hw pressure

ploys perfect to uor putution

us Joe provOer fhs wus rovon

cpu 2012 your tt sow

uwurds of $32 Ollo on end ip

bur.klog of $978 million

In Api ii eXpundr OAF IV

si ir ss to Af mu 11w ti my
cv dr me uwtwkmri

ovdr Jognb ul ipport md
Jn.t uctimnservmc uriosJ

mst untmerrt rtr idm

mc cfully tool over pr ma

oi of the Jo kso iville ivul Ai

Ntutir fn unsit orn

work to our or pm roi cc

VP see tent fur xpu scop

on tho orrtr cc oi Ic



ir rerne or or

rr Sr ve South Carolrna rs

pros rig
rhe of dr dule VIc

ass do mr nate and dm or

erred thri Ictors rrrcludrnp

ths sits posrtrorr and drspos

of tr mc rank ists 2011

re eve 38 ior rth ext 0rron

thr rtract rrrtc lots 2016 At thr

Pr rt roes th Cacs rffusion Plarr

Of se cue essfr ly egotrated

ogre nentc rt tr ide inro armS

tr ci roned II uS anup ctrvrtres to

luo wrrrforc

Wh troops come hone our cona

cy support irn ss mtur My
drrr rnrshcs Our ci ategy pomp
orw rrd to vs Ify across cv do

arr of ontr acO of various crzes to

sccu predicta ale mid re rob

browth Our gem rnorrt customs

hr oc lii ml we carr execute the Or gm

riroct cor rplex pr ojes ts around

vorld Our ge ml roe rs to also

captLrr addrtron mod ii and en

opp rt rojertc Ii ri offer good

mi on arid rove re

Our ore servrnes the icrat on

md marritenance of iirlrt iry bases

the management of DOL cr0

rrrd the provi ron of tramnmng through

our Job Corps contract wrth the

ep trnerrt of abor ire the

ermgmne drivrrng our futu Ia ternr

rowtli As always we re am at

the re idy for any aprd espouse

orrtrrrgenry work As cc lead rnto

013 and beyond we wil do itrnue

rr oactvely al our capabrlrtrcs fh

gverrrrmrent reeds and II lucre as

ngly re iclr rote the cornp ek loor

orgarrr atrorr to hr irrg dditional

orrrpetenc cc to gover urns nt work

Age cy support aster ecoss

Most crrtly we emere called

rpon to assist are deva0ats

by Hnr cane Sir dy

Are ther ruhl ght 2012 wa the

for matron of ie clacsrtiod opera

tie rs gronp that provrd vrcs to

the ntellrgenc corn mn ty



ondition in ie equipr ic nt ental

rnarkct improved wor dwide roogh

out 2012 Ind growth expected foi

cove year which will providr

additior al oppoitunitu and coi hnued

oucceoc for oui AM CO xnhsidiai

coo Wa 110 purr nt of AMf CO bu

no orceo urn luor wh oh low

Urn COlT my to apit Iliac on ic uctry

do inc in dc mand and lurtlrni

pe ieti atr overall ent ii market

hr OM noirket continues to be

challenged due to tier onorny

Howevc we have sustained ow

3uiric thi ough re mewals of ou

ox of sig maintenance co mtr mct

wc ubstanti iew mix includc

cornract with Ci oc ci mrnble md

inainten nrc aontr tim IBM for

over 00 oifoo Our 11 nta continue

my due or capahil ieo md wc ire

bog im img to new oppo hi

witl all mph and nI enaiicc

ro to iii the oil and ix clierni

mining and inoustrial octoro ii
idic it

autioucly hoc utic oh in

In otWf ig aluti am Bk very

good or iv by trnn bu

in Au tr mlia in ida and ko it Inca

We plan to upe ri off cc in Indi to

acv cthc en1inmro mecrh to tmtl

ii oject ianagei ient imtrac cith

liii ice We xpw Ii ido he

tiom giovtlmaica mromrroc at

Ic ict thrc ugh 2014

iothei p012 in Ic vm oui

acquici tion Sc ride cc uip

mc nt mrrip Moo imb quc hi

itio ii irn quo ix it ikw cx to

ripply oth eqnipnient and ope

oro Weha cOma ly
nd ixt

WA IflO BACK oc



onf HO co eat oP pro

oo we hove rc ow eq ic st fr 00

GuI CI eq iipnmnt Ic atlrqto

liw developno nt ol huge pan

hedcorhchwrOl frcl

is un cut pe for inin trw cod

vc Moz rn pldly

ewe mr ket hstantral

00 HtI iot oW or turilties

Wi irc Vc 10 apcd by the

Ill 11 ong win porlc

for cn husinc arlc ci nti we to

pIll sue 1110 0101 01 tout es

31 iktiw iimlt inc

Aooth aica gt it Pu ito
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Forward-Looking Information

From time to time Fluor Corporation makes certain comments and disclosures in reports and

statements including this annual report on Form 10-K or statements are made by its officers or directors

that while based on reasonable assumptions may be forward-looking in nature Under the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 safe harbor may be provided to us for certain of these

forward-looking statements We wish to caution readers that forward-looking statements including

disclosures which use words such as the company believes anticipates expects estimates and

similar statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results of

operations to differ materially from expectations

Any forward-looking statements that we may make are based on our current expectations and beliefs

concerning future developments and their potential effects on us There can be no assurance that future

developments affecting us will be those anticipated by us Any forward-looking statements are subject to

the risks uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results of operations financial condition

cost reductions acquisitions dispositions financing transactions operations expansion consolidation and

other events to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements

Due to known and unknown risks our actual results may differ materially from our expectations or

projections While most risks affect only future cost or revenue anticipated by us some risks may relate to

accruals that have already been reflected in earnings Our failure to receive payments of accrued amounts

or incurrence of liabilities in excess of amounts previously recognized could result in charge against

future earnings As result the reader is cautioned to recognize and consider the inherently uncertain

nature of forward-looking statements and not to place undue reliance on them

These factors include those referenced or described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including in

Item 1A Risk Factors We cannot control such risk factors and other uncertainties and in many

cases we cannot predict the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially

from those indicated by the forward-looking statements You should consider these risks and uncertainties

when you are evaluating us and deciding whether to invest in our securities Except as otherwise required

by law we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-looking statements whether as

result of new information future events or otherwise

Defined Terms

Except as the context otherwise requires the terms Fluor or the Registrant as used herein are

references to Fluor Corporation and its predecessors and references to the company we us or

our as used herein shall include Fluor Corporation its consolidated subsidiaries and divisions

PART

Item Business

Fluor Corporation was incorporated in Delaware on September 11 2000 prior to reverse spin-off

transaction involving the company However through our predecessors we have been in business for over

century and celebrated our 100tI anniversary during 2012 Our principal executive offices are located at

6700 Las Colinas Boulevard Irving Texas 75039 telephone number 469 398-7000

Our common stock currently trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol FLR
Fluor Corporation is holding company that owns the stock of number of subsidiaries Acting

through these subsidiaries we are one of the largest professional services firms providing engineering

procurement construction and maintenance as well as project management services on global basis We

serve diverse set of industries worldwide including oil and gas chemicals and petrochemicals

transportation mining and metals power life sciences and manufacturing We are also primary service

provider to the U.S federal government and we perform operations and maintenance activities for major

industrial clients



Our business is aligned into five principal segments The five segments are Oil Gas Industrial

Infrastructure Government Global Services and Power Fluor Constructors International Inc which is

organized and operates separately from the rest of our business provides unionized management and

construction services in the United States and Canada both independently and as subcontractor on

projects in each of our segments Financial information on our segments as defined under accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States is set forth on page F-44 of this annual report on

Form 10-K under the caption Operating Information by Segment which is incorporated herein by

reference

Competitive Strengths

As an integrated world class provider of engineering procurement construction maintenance and

project management services we believe that our business model allows us the opportunity to bring to our

clients on global basis compelling business offerings that combine excellence in execution safety cost

containment and experience In that regard we believe that our business strategies which are based on

certain of our core competencies provide us with some significant competitive advantages

Excellence in Execution Given our proven track record of project completion and client satisfaction

we believe that our ability to design engineer construct and manage complex projects often in

geographically challenging locations gives us distinct competitive advantage We strive to complete our

projects on schedule while meeting or exceeding all client specifications
In an increasingly competitive

environment we are also continually emphasizing cost controls so that our clients achieve not only their

performance requirements but also their budgetary needs

Financial Strength We believe that we are among the most financially sound companies in our sector

We strive to maintain solid financial condition placing an emphasis on having strong balance sheet and

an investment grade credit rating Our financial strength provides us valuable competitive advantage in

terms of access to surety bonding capacity
and letters of credit which are critical to our business Our

strong balance sheet also allows us to fund our strategic initiatives pay dividends repurchase stock pursue

opportunities for growth and better manage unanticipated cash flow variations

Safety One of our core values and fundamental business strategy
is our constant pursuit of safety

Both for us and our clients the maintenance of safe and secure workplace is key business driver In the

areas in which we provide our services we have delivered and continue to deliver excellent safety

performance with our safety record being better than the industry average In our estimation safe job

site decreases risks on project site assures proper environment for our employees and enhances their

morale reduces project cost and exposure and generally improves client relations We believe that our

safety record is one of our most distinguishing features

Global Execution Platform As the largest U.S.-based publicly-traded engineering procurement

construction and maintenance company we have global footprint with employees situated throughout

the world Our global presence allows us to build local relationships that permit us to capitalize better on

opportunities near these locations It also allows us to mobilize quickly to international project sites

Market Diversity The company serves multiple markets across broad spectrum of industries We

feel that our market diversity is key strength of our company that helps to mitigate the impact of the

cyclicality in the markets we serve Just as important our concentrated attention on market diversification

allows us to achieve more consistent growth and deliver solid returns We believe that our continued

strategy of maintaining good mixture within our entire business portfolio permits us to both focus on our

more stable business markets and to capitalize on developing our cyclical markets when the timing is

appropriate This strategy also allows us to better weather any downturns in specific market by

emphasizing markets that are strong

Client Relationships We actively pursue relationships with new clients while at the same time building

on our long-term relationships with existing clients As the number of national oil companies and

sovereign-owned clients increases we are successfully forging new relationships with these companies



often at local level We continue to believe that long-term relationships with existing sometimes

decades-old clients serves us well by allowing us to better understand and be more responsive to their

requirements Regardless of whether our clients are new or have been with us for many years our ability to

successfully foster relationships is key driver to the success of our business

Risk Management We believe that our ability to assess understand and gauge project risk especially

in difficult locations or circumstances or in lump-sum contracting environment gives us the ability to

selectively enter into markets or accept projects where we feel we can best perform We have an

experienced management team particularly in risk management and project execution which helps us to

better anticipate and understand potential risks and therefore how to manage them Our risk

management capabilities allow us to better control costs and ensure timely performance which in turn

leads to clients who are satisfied with the delivered product

General Operations

Our services fall into five broad categories engineering procurement construction maintenance and

project management In addition the company offers fabrication services We offer these services

independently as well as on fully integrated basis Our services can range from basic consulting activities

often at the early stages of project to complete design-build contracts

In engineering our expertise ranges from traditional engineering disciplines such as piping

mechanical electrical control systems civil structural and architectural to advanced engineering

specialties including process engineering chemical engineering simulation enterprise integration

integrated automation processes and interactive 3-D modeling As part of these services we often

provide conceptual design services which allow us to align each projects function scope cost and

schedule with the clients objectives in order to optimize project success Also included within these

services are such activities as feasibility studies project development planning technology

evaluation risk management assessment global siting constructability reviews asset optimization

and front-end engineering

Our procurement organization offers traditional procurement services as well as supply chain

solutions aimed at improving product quality and performance while also reducing project cost and

schedule Our clients benefit from our global sourcing and supply expertise global purchasing

power technical knowledge processes systems and experienced global resources Our traditional

procurement activities include strategic sourcing material management contracts management

buying expediting supplier quality inspection logistics and export control

In construction we mobilize execute commission and demobilize projects on self-perform or

subcontracted basis or through construction management as the owners agent Generally we are

responsible for the completion of project often in difficult locations and under challenging

circumstances We are frequently designated as program manager where client has facilities in

multiple locations complex phases in single project location or large-scale investment in

facility Depending upon the project we often serve as the primary contractor or we may act as

subcontractor to another party

Under our operations and maintenance contracts our clients ask us to operate and maintain large

complex facilities for them We do so through the delivery of total maintenance services facility

management plant readiness commissioning start-up and maintenance technology small capital

projects and turnaround and outage services on global basis Among other things we can provide

key management staffing and management skills to clients on-site at their facilities Our operations

and maintenance activities can also include routine and outage/turnaround maintenance services

general maintenance and asset management and restorative repair predictive and prevention

services

Project management is required on every project with the primary responsibility of managing all

aspects of the effort to deliver projects on schedule and within budget We are often hired as the



overall program manager on large complex projects where various contractors and subcontractors

are involved and multiple activities need to be integrated to ensure the success of the overall

project Project management services include logistics development of project execution plans

detailed schedules cost forecasts progress tracking and reporting and the integration of the

engineering procurement and construction efforts Project management is accountable to the client

to deliver the safety functionality and financial performance requirements of the project

We operate in five principal business segments as described below

Oil Gas

Through our Oil Gas segment we have long served the global oil and gas production processing

and the chemical and petro-chemical industries as an integrated service provider offering full range of

design engineering procurement construction and project management services to broad spectrum of

energy-related industries We serve number of specific industries including upstream oil and gas

production downstream refining offshore production pipeline chemicals and petrochemicals While we

perform projects that range greatly in size and scope we believe that one of our distinguishing features is

that we are one of the few companies that have the global strength and reach to perform extremely large

projects in difficult locations As the locations of large scale oil gas
and chemicals projects have become

more challenging geographically geopolitically or otherwise we believe that clients will continue to look to

us based upon our size strength global reach and experience Moreover as many of our clients continue

to recognize that they need to invest and expend resources to meet oil gas
and chemicals demands we

believe that the company has been and will continue to be extremely well-positioned to capitalize on these

opportunities

As the global economy becomes increasingly more cost-competitive clients are placing an increasing

emphasis on lower cost project execution We also are seeing that in many of the countries where we work

clients are requiring more local content in their projects through the use of in-country talent as well as

through the procurement of in-country goods and services As result we continue to expand our

footprint in growth regions while also emphasizing dispersed execution model that allows resources from

multiple offices to work on projects we are emphasizing local training programs and we are increasing our

use of global execution centers such as our offices in Manila Delhi and Cebu where we can continue to

provide superior services but on more cost-efficient basis Another way in which we are addressing local

content requirements is our increasing use of strategic alliances with local partners where we can tie

together our global expertise with an existing local presence

With each specific project our role can vary We may be involved in providing front-end engineering

program management and final design services construction management services self-perform

construction or oversight of other contractors and we may also assume responsibility for the procurement

of labor materials equipment and subcontractors We have the capacity to design and construct new

facilities upgrade and revamp existing facilities rebuild facilities following fires and explosions and

expand refineries processing plants petrochemical facilities pipelines and offshore installations We also

provide consulting services ranging from feasibility studies to process assessment to project finance

structuring and studies

In the upstream sector our clients need to develop additional and new sources of supply Our typical

projects in the upstream sector revolve around the production processing and transporting of oil and gas

resources including the development of major new fields and pipelines as well as liquefied natural gas

LNG projects We are also involved in offshore production facilities and we continue to see significant

opportunities in the Canadian oil sands market and in conventional and unconventional gas projects in

various geographical locations

In the downstream sector we continue to pursue significant global opportunities relating to refined

products Our clients are modernizing and modifying existing refineries to increase capacity and satisfy

environmental requirements We continue to play strong role in each of these markets We also remain

focused on markets such as clean fuels both domestically and internationally where an increasing number



of countries are implementing stronger environmental policies As heavier feedstocks become more viable

to refine we employ our strength in technologies to pursue opportunities that facilitate the removal of

sulfur from this heavier crude

In the chemicals and petrochemicals market we have been very active for several
years

with major

projects involving the expansion of ethylene based derivatives as well as in the production of polysilicon

The most active markets have been in the Middle East as well as in China where there is significant

demand for chemical products In addition we are involved in and continue to see significant opportunities

in chemical gas-to-liquid and LNG facilities in the United States driven by the availability of low cost

shale gas

With our partner Grupo ICA we maintain joint venture known as ICA Fluor through which we

continue to participate in the Mexican and Central American oil gas power chemical and other markets

Industrial Infrastructure

The Industrial Infrastructure segment provides design engineering procurement and construction

services to the transportation wind power mining and metals life sciences manufacturing commercial

and institutional telecommunications microelectronics and healthcare sectors These projects often

require state-of-the-art application of our clients processes and intellectual knowledge We focus on

providing our clients with solutions to reduce and contain cost and to compress delivery schedules By

doing so we are able to complete our clients projects on quick and more cost efficient basis

In transportation as the global population continues to grow especially in emerging countries and

existing infrastructure continues to age in developed countries we have won and will continue to pursue

transportation projects on global basis promoting our business model of pursuing large complex projects

We provide broad range of services including consulting design planning financial structuring

engineering and construction domestically and internationally Our service offerings include

transportation infrastructure such as roads highways bridges and rail Many of our projects involve the use

of public/private partnerships which allow us to develop and finance deals in concert with public entities

for projects such as toll roads that would not have otherwise been commenced had only public funding

been available From time to time we are also an equity investor in certain of the public/private

partnerships where appropriate

In mining and metals we provide full range of services to the iron ore copper diamond gold

nickel alumina aluminum and other commodity-based industries These services include feasibility studies

through detailed engineering design procurement construction and commissioning and start-up support

We see many of these opportunities being developed in extreme altitudes topographies and climates such

as the Andes Mountains Mongolia Western Australia and Africa We are one of the few companies with

the size and experience to pursue large scale mining and metals projects in these difficult locations

In life sciences we provide design engineering procurement construction and construction

management services to the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries We also specialize in providing

validation and commissioning services where we not only bring new facilities into production but we also

keep existing facilities operating The ability to complete projects on large scale basis especially in

business where time to market is critical allows us to better serve our clients and is key competitive

advantage

In manufacturing we provide design engineering procurement consulting construction and

construction management services to wide variety of industries

Government

Our Government segment is provider of engineering construction logistics support contingency

response and management and operations services to the U.S government We are primarily focused on

the Department of Energy the Department of Defense and the Department of Homeland Security



Because the U.S government is the single largest purchaser of outsourced services in the world it

represents an attractive opportunity for the company

For the Department of Energy we provide site management environmental remediation

decommissioning engineering and construction services and have been very successful in addressing the

myriad of environmental and regulatory challenges associated with these sites Fluor performs significant

activities as part
of joint venture that has responsibility for the Savannah River site near Aiken South

Carolina Fluor-led team also has responsibility for the Department of Energys Portsmouth Gaseous

Diffusion Plant in Pike County Ohio We are leveraging our skills and experience to pursue additional

domestic and international opportunities in the nuclear services and environmental remediation arenas

The Government segment also provides engineering and construction services as well as logistics and

contingency operations support to the Department of Defense We support military logistical and

infrastructure needs around the world Our largest long-term contract is LOGCAP IV under which we

provide engineering procurement construction and logistical augmentation services to the U.S military in

various international locations with primary focus on the United States military-related activities in and

around the Middle East and more specifically Afghanistan In combination with our subsidiary

Del-Jen Inc we are leading provider of outsourced services to the federal government We provide

operations and maintenance services at military bases and education and training services to the

Department of Labor particularly through Job Corps programs Because of our strong network of global

resources we believe we are well-situated to efficiently and effectively mobilize the resources necessary
for

Department of Defense operations even in the most remote and difficult locations

The company is also providing significant support to the Department of Homeland Security We are

particularly involved in supporting the U.S governments rapid response capabilities to address security

issues and disaster relief the latter primarily through our long-standing relationship with the Federal

Emergency Management Agency

Global Services

The Global Services segment integrates variety of customized service capabilities that serve and

assist industrial clients in improving the performance of their plants and facilities Capabilities
within

Global Services include operations and maintenance activities small capital project engineering and

execution site equipment and tool services industrial fleet services plant turnaround services supply

chain solutions and temporary staffing

Continuing operations and sustaining small capital project services are frequently executed under

multi-year alliance agreements directly between Global Services and its clients Clients demand these

services to help achieve substantial operations improvements while they remain focused on their core

business functions Support services for large capital projects are provided to clients in concert with other

Fluor segments or on standalone basis This segment often benefits from large projects
that originate in

another of our segments which can lead to long-term maintenance or operations opportunities

Alternatively long-term maintenance contracts for Global Services can lead to larger capital projects for

one of our other segments when that need arises

Global Services activities in the operations and maintenance markets include providing facility

start-up and management plant and facility maintenance operations support and asset management

services to the oil and gas chemicals life sciences mining and metals consumer products and

manufacturing industries We are leading supplier of operations and maintenance services providing our

service offerings both domestically and internationally

We also provide Site ServicessM and Fleet OutsourcingsM through American Equipment

Company Inc or AMECO AMECO provides integrated construction equipment tool and fleet service

solutions on global basis for construction projects and plant sites of third parties AMECO supports large

construction projects and plants at locations throughout North and South America Africa including our

growing presence in Mozambique and the Middle East



Our supply chain solutions business line provides full range of strategic sourcing solutions to help

execute capital projects Our material equipment and subcontracted services specialists continually

monitor and analyze supply market activity allowing us to advise our clients on procurement strategies

that can optimize cost and schedule to support increased return on investment We also are in the process

of creating new procurement entity Acqyre which will provide strategic sourcing solutions to third

parties

Global Services serves the temporary staffing market through TRS Staffing Solutions Inc or TRS
TRS is global enterprise of staffing specialists that provides the company and third party clients with

recruiting and permanent placement services and the placement of contract technical professionals

Power

In the Power segment we provide full range of services to the gas fueled solid fuels environmental

compliance renewables nuclear and power services markets Our services include engineering

procurement construction program management start-up and commissioning operations and

maintenance and technical services

Through the gas fueled market we offer full range of services for simple and combined cycle

reference plant designs as well as Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle IGCCprojects In the United

States investment in
gas

fueled plants is continuing to show some resurgence partly driven by coal-fired

plant retirements We are also expanding our international operations in this market

Through the solid fueled and environmental compliance markets we offer full range of services for

subcritical supercritical ultra-supercritical and circulating fluidized bed CFB technologies as well as

emissions reduction solutions including selective catalytic reduction SCR flue gas desulphurization

FGD and particulate and mercury controls designs We offer significant experience in designing and

constructing coal-fired power generation facilities while delivering proven full scale technology for base

load capacity that complies with stringent industry emission guidelines As part of our environmental

compliance service offering we design install and commission emissions reduction equipment in order to

assist our clients with environmental guideline compliance which allows owners to comply with current

emissions regulations We also offer comprehensive solutions for post-combustion carbon capture and

sequestration for solid fueled and gas fueled facilities on global basis offering our commercially

demonstrated proprietary Econamine FG P1usSM CO2 capture technology

In the renewables market we offer wide range of technology choices for solar wind biomass and

geothermal solutions on global basis For solar we are strongly focused globally on thermal technologies

such as Photovoltaic PV as well as Concentrating Solar Power CSP applications
In the biomass market

we bring proven expertise with small boiler and circulating fluidized bed technologies for projects using

woody biomass and/or agricultural waste fuels

In nuclear we are strategically positioned to offer our extensive nuclear experience for new build

plants capital modifications extended power uprate EPU projects and operations and maintenance

services on global basis We bring resume of nuclear experience that includes construction of ten

nuclear units design of three nuclear units and maintenance and capital modification services for units

operating in the United States We continue to invest in NuScale Power LLC an Oregon-based small

modular nuclear reactor SMR technology company NuScale is leader in the development of light

water passively safe SMRs which we believe will provide us with significant future opportunities

Through our power services business line we offer variety of services to owners including fossil

renewable and nuclear plant maintenance facility management operations support asset performance

improvement capital modifications and improvements operations readiness and start-up commissioning

on global basis We have annual maintenance and modification contracts covering full generation fleets

within the utility generation market Additionally we provide solution to the transmission and

distribution market through entities based in the United States and South Africa In the U.S market the



scope of services is focused on the design and construction of new transmission lines to connect new

capacity from the current renewables market to existing distribution centers

Other Matters

Backlog

Backlog in the engineering and construction industry is measure of the total dollar value of work to

be performed on contracts awarded and in progress The following table sets forth the consolidated

backlog of the Oil Gas Industrial Infrastructure Government Global Services and Power segments

at December 31 2012 and 2011

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

in millions

Oil Gas $18181 $15068

Industrial Infrastructure 15472 19601

Government 978 1091

Global Services 1691 1881

Power 1877 1843

Total $38199 $39484

The following table sets forth our consolidated backlog at December 31 2012 and 2011 by region

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

in millions

United States 9445 8572

Asia Pacific including Australia 5846 10517

Europe Africa and Middle East 9553 8172

The Americas excluding the United States 13355 12223

Total $38199 $39484

For purposes of the preceding tables backlog for the Global Services segment includes our operations

and maintenance activities that have yet to be performed The equipment temporary staffing and supply

chain solutions business lines do not report backlog due to the quick turnaround between the receipt of

new awards and the recognition of revenue With respect to backlog in our Government segment if

contract covers multiple years we generally only include the amounts for which Congressional funding has

been approved and then only for that portion of the work to be completed in the next 12 months For our

contingency operations we include only those amounts for which specific task orders have been received

For projects related to proportionately consolidated joint ventures we include only our percentage

ownership of each joint ventures backlog

We expect to perform approximately 55 percent of our backlog at December 31 2012 in 2013

Although backlog reflects business that is considered to be firm cancellations or scope adjustments may
occur Backlog is adjusted to reflect any known project cancellations revisions to project scope and cost

and deferrals as appropriate Due to additional factors outside of our control such as changes in project

schedules we cannot predict the portion of our December 31 2012 backlog estimated to be performed

annually subsequent to 2013

For additional information with respect to our backlog please see Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below



1pes of Contracts

While the basic terms and conditions of the contracts that we perform may vary considerably

generally we perform our work under two groups of contracts cost reimbursable contracts and

fixed-price lump-sum and guaranteed maximum contracts In some markets we are seeing hybrid

contracts containing both fixed-price and cost reimbursable elements As of December 31 2012 the

following table breaks down the percentage and amount of revenue associated with these types
of contracts

for our existing backlog

December 31 2012

in millions percentage

Cost Reimbursable $32604 85%

Fixed-Price Lump-Sum and Guaranteed Maximum 5595 15%

Under cost reimbursable contracts the client reimburses our cost in performing project and pays us

pre-determined fee or fee based upon percentage of the cost incurred in completing the project Our

profit may be in the form of fee simple mark-up applied to labor cost incurred in performing the

contract or combination of the two The fee element may also vary The fee may be an incentive fee

based upon achieving certain performance factors milestones or targets it may be fixed amount in the

contract or it may be based upon percentage of the cost incurred

Our Government segment as prime contractor or major subcontractor for number of U.S

government programs generally performs its services under cost reimbursable contracts subject to

applicable statutes and regulations In many cases these contracts include incentive fee arrangements The

programs in question often take many years to complete and may be implemented by the award of many

different contracts Some of our government contracts are known as Indefinite Delivery Indefinite

Quantity IDIQ agreements Under these arrangements we work closely with the government to define

the scope and amount of work required based upon an estimate of the maximum amount that the

government desires to spend While the scope is often not initially fully defined or does not require any

specific amount of work once the project scope is determined additional work may be awarded to us

without the need for further competitive bidding

Fixed-price contracts include both negotiated fixed-price contracts and lump-sum contracts Under

negotiated fixed-price contracts we are selected as contractor first and then we negotiate price with the

client These types
of contracts generally occur where we commence work before final price is agreed

upon Under lump-sum contracts we bid on contract based upon specifications provided by the client

against competitors agreeing to develop project at fixed price Another type
of fixed-price contract is

unit price contract under which we are paid set amount for every unit of work performed If we

perform well under these contracts we can benefit from cost savings however if the project does not

proceed as originally planned we cannot recover cost overruns except in certain limited situations

Guaranteed maximum price contracts are performed in manner similar to cost reimbursable

contracts except that the total fee plus the total cost cannot exceed an agreed upon guaranteed maximum

price We can be responsible for some or all of the total cost of the project if the cost exceeds the

guaranteed maximum price Where the total cost is less than the negotiated guaranteed maximum price

we may receive the benefit of the cost savings based upon negotiated agreement with the client

Competition

We are one of the worlds largest providers of engineering procurement and construction services

The markets served by our business are highly competitive and for the most part require substantial

resources and highly skilled and experienced technical personnel large number of companies are

competing in the markets served by our business including U.S.-based companies such as Bechtel

Group Inc CH2M Hill Companies Limited Jacobs Engineering Group Inc KBR Inc and URS

Corporation and international-based companies such as AMEC plc Balfour Beatty Chicago Bridge and

Iron Company N.V Chiyoda Corporation Foster Wheeler AG Hyundai Engineering Construction



Company JGC Corporation McDermott International Inc Samsung Engineering Technip and

WorleyParsons Limited

In the engineering and construction arena our competition is primarily centered on performance and

the ability to provide the design engineering planning management and project execution skills required

to complete complex projects in safe timely and cost-efficient manner Our engineering procurement

and construction business derives its competitive strength from our diversity excellence in execution

reputation for quality technology cost-effectiveness worldwide procurement capability project

management expertise geographic coverage and ability to meet client requirements by performing

construction on either union or an open shop basis ability to execute projects of varying sizes strong

safety record and lengthy experience with wide range of services and technologies

The various markets served by the Global Services segment while having some similarities tend also

to have discrete issues impacting individual units Each of the markets we serve has large number of

companies competing in its markets The equipment sector which operates in numerous markets is highly

fragmented and very competitive with most competitors operating in specific geographic areas The

competition for larger capital project services is more narrow and limited to only those capable of

providing comprehensive equipment tool and management services Temporary staffing is highly

fragmented market with over 1000 companies competing globally The key competitive factors in this

business line are price service quality breadth of service and the ability to identify and retain qualified

personnel and geographical coverage The barriers to entry in operations and maintenance are both

financially and logistically low with the result that the industry is highly fragmented with no single company

being dominant Competition is generally driven by reputation price and the capacity to perform

Key competitive factors in our Government segment are primarily centered on performance and the

ability to provide the design engineering planning management and project execution skills required to

complete complex projects in safe timely and cost-efficient manner

Significant Clients

For 2012 revenue earned from BHP Billiton agencies of the U.S government and Exxon Mobil

Corporation and its affiliates accounted for 13 percent 12 percent and 11 percent respectively of our total

revenue We perform work for these clients under multiple contracts and sometimes through joint venture

arrangements

Raw Materials

The principal products we use in our business include structural steel metal plate concrete cable and

various electrical and mechanical components These products and components are subject to raw material

aluminum copper nickel iron ore etc availability and commodity pricing fluctuations which we

monitor on regular basis We have access to numerous global supply sources and we do not foresee any

unavailability of these items that would have material adverse effect on our business in the near term

However the availability of these products components and raw materials may vary significantly from year

to year due to various factors including client demand producer capacity market conditions and specific

material shortages

Research and Development

Aside from our investment in NuScale Power LLC we generally do not engage in research and

development efforts for new products and services and during the past three fiscal years we have not

incurred cost for company-sponsored or client-sponsored research and development activities which would

be material special or unusual in any of our business segments See Item Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Power for further discussion of the

operations of NuScale Power LLC
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Patents

We hold patents and licenses for certain items that we use in our operations However none is so

essential that its loss would materially affect our business

Environmental Safety and Health Matters

We believe based upon present information available to us that our accruals with respect to future

environmental cost are adequate and any future cost will not have material effect on our consolidated

financial position results of operations liquidity capital expenditures or competitive position Some

factors however could result in additional expenditures or the provision of additional accruals in

expectation of such expenditures These include the imposition of more stringent requirements under

environmental laws or regulations new developments or changes regarding site cleanup cost or the

allocation of such cost among potentially responsible parties or determination that we are potentially

responsible for the release of hazardous substances at sites other than those currently identified

Number of Employees

The following table sets forth the number of employees of Fluor and its subsidiaries engaged in our

business segments as of December 31 2012

Number of

Employees

Salaried Employees
Oil Gas 11323

Industrial Infrastructure 4310

Government 10018

Global Services 2940

Power 715

Other 3286

Total Salaried 32592

Craft and Hourly Employees 8601

Total 41193

The number of craft and hourly employees who provide support throughout the various business

segments varies in relation to the number size and phase of execution of projects we have in process at

any particular time

Available Information

Our website address is wwwfiuo corn You may obtain free electronic copies of our annual reports on

Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those

reports on the Investor Relations portion of our website under the heading SEC Filings filed under

Financial Information These reports are available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after

we electronically file them with the Securities and Exchange Commission These reports and any

amendments to them are also available at the Internet website of the Securities and Exchange

Commission http//www.sec.gov The public may also read and copy any materials we file with the

Securities and Exchange Commission at the SECs Public Reference Room located at 100 Street N.E
Washington D.C 20549 In order to obtain information about the operation of the Public Reference

Room you may call 1-800-732-0330 We also maintain various documents related to our corporate

governance including our Corporate Governance Guidelines our Board Committee Charters and our

Codes of Conduct on the Sustainability portion of our website under the heading Corporate

Governance Documents filed under Governance

11



Item 1A Risk Factors

We may experience reduced profits or losses under contracts if costs increase above estimates

We conduct our business under various types of contractual arrangements where costs are estimated

in advance In terms of dollar-value the majority of our contracts allocate the risk of cost overruns to our

clients by requiring our clients to reimburse us for our cost However approximately 15 percent of the

dollar-value of our backlog is currently fixed-price contracts where we bear significant portion of the risk

for cost overruns If we fail to accurately estimate the resources and time necessary for these types of

contracts or fail to complete these contracts within the timeframes and costs we have agreed upon there

could be material impact on our financial results as well as our reputation Risks under our contracts

which could result in cost overruns project delays or other problems can also include

Difficulties related to the performance of our subcontractors suppliers equipment providers or

other third parties including joint venture or teaming partners

Changes in local laws or difficulties in obtaining permits rights of way or approvals

Unanticipated technical problems including issues with regard to the design or engineering phases

of contracts

Unforeseen increases in or failures to properly estimate the cost of raw materials components

equipment labor or the inability to timely obtain them

Delays or productivity issues caused by weather conditions

Incorrect assumptions related to productivity scheduling estimates or future economic conditions

and

Project modifications creating unanticipated costs or delays

These risks tend to be exacerbated for longer-term contracts since there is increased risk that the

circumstances under which we based our original bid could change with resulting increase in costs In

many of these contracts we may not be able to obtain compensation for additional work performed or

expenses incurred and if project is not executed on schedule we may be required to pay liquidated

damages In addition these losses may be material and can in some circumstances equal or exceed the full

value of the contract In such events our financial condition results of operations or cash flow could be

negatively impacted

Intense competition in the global engineering procurement and construction industiy could reduce our market

share and profits

We serve markets that are highly competitive and in which large number of multinational companies

compete These markets can require substantial resources and investment in technology and skilled

personnel We also see continuing influx of non-traditional competitors offering below-market pricing

and terms Competition can place downward pressure on our contract prices and profit margins and may
force us to consider accepting contractual terms and conditions that are not normal or customary Intense

competition is expected to continue in these markets presenting us with significant challenges in our

ability to maintain strong growth rates and acceptable profit margins If we are unable to meet these

competitive challenges we could lose market share to our competitors and experience an overall reduction

in our profits

Our revenue and earnings are largely dependent on the award of new contracts which we do not directly controL

substantial portion of our revenue and earnings is generated from large-scale and increasingly

international project awards The timing of when project awards will be made is unpredictable and outside

of our control We operate in highly competitive markets where it is difficult to predict whether and when

we will receive awards since these awards and projects often involve complex and lengthy negotiations and

bidding processes These
processes can be impacted by wide variety of factors including governmental
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approvals financing contingencies commodity prices environmental conditions and overall market and

economic conditions In addition we may not win contracts that we have bid upon due to price clients

perception of our ability to perform and/or perceived technology advantages held by others In these highly

competitive times many of our competitors may be more inclined to take greater or unusual risks or terms

and conditions in contract that we might not deem market or acceptable Because significant portion of

our revenue is generated from large projects our results of operations can fluctuate from quarter to

quarter and year to year depending on whether and when project awards occur and the commencement

and progress of work under awarded contracts As result we are subject to the risk of losing new awards

to competitors or the risk that revenue may not be derived from awarded projects as quickly as anticipated

We are involved in litigation proceedings potential liability claims and con tract disputes which may reduce our

profits

We may be subject to variety of legal proceedings liability claims or contract disputes in virtually

every part of the world We engage in engineering and construction activities for large facilities where

design construction or systems failures can result in substantial injury or damage to third parties In

addition the nature of our business results in clients subcontractors and vendors occasionally presenting

claims against us for
recovery

of cost they incurred in excess of what they expected to incur or for which

they believe they are not contractually liable We have been and may in the future be named as defendant

in legal proceedings where parties may make claim for damages or other remedies with respect to our

projects or other matters including liabilities associated with divested businesses For example in the

St Joe Minerals matters which relate to discontinued operation of the company while we believe we will

be ultimately successful if we were unsuccessful in the defense of the claims arising in these matters or in

the prosecution of and collection on our indemnity claims or if there is settlement of this matter we

would have to recognize substantial charge to our earnings When it is determined that we have liability

we may not be covered by insurance or if covered the dollar amount of these liabilities may exceed our

policy limits With regard to insurance coverage our professional liability coverage is on claims-made

basis covering only claims actually made during the policy period currently in effect In addition even

where insurance is maintained for such exposure the policies have deductibles resulting in our assuming

exposure for layer of coverage with respect to any such claims Any liability not covered by our insurance

in excess of our insurance limits or if covered by insurance but subject to high deductible could result in

significant loss for us and reduce our cash available for operations In other matters we may be covered

by indemnification agreements which may at times be difficult to enforce Even if enforceable it may be

difficult to recover under these agreements if the indemnitor does not have the ability to financially

support the indemnity Litigation and regulatory proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainties and

unfavorable rulings could occur If we were to receive an unfavorable ruling in matter our business and

results of operations could be materially harmed For further information on matters in dispute please see

13 Contingencies and Commitments in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Our failure to recover adequately on claims against project owners or subcontra ctors for payment or performance

could have material effect on our financial results

We occasionally bring claims against project owners for additional costs exceeding the contract price

or for amounts not included in the original contract price Similarly we present change orders and claims

to our clients and subcontractors If we fail to properly document the nature of claims or change orders or

are otherwise unsuccessful in negotiating reasonable settlement we could incur reduced profits cost

overruns and in some cases loss on the project These types of claims can often occur due to matters such

as owner-caused delays or changes from the initial project scope which result in additional cost both

direct and indirect From time to time these claims can be the subject of lengthy and costly arbitration or

litigation proceedings and it is often difficult to accurately predict when these claims will be fully resolved

When these types of events occur and unresolved claims are pending we may invest significant working

capital in projects to cover cost overruns pending the resolution of the relevant claims failure to

promptly recover on these
types

of claims could have material adverse impact on our liquidity and

financial results
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Current global economic conditions will likely affect portion of our client base partners subcontractors and

suppliers and could materially affect our backlog and profits

Current global economic conditions have reduced and continue to negatively impact our clients

willingness and ability to fund their projects These conditions make it difficult for our clients to accurately

forecast and plan future business trends and activities thereby causing our clients to slow or even curb

spending on our services or seek contract terms more favorable to them Our government clients may face

budget deficits or financial sequestration that prohibit them from funding proposed and existing projects

or that cause them to exercise their right to terminate our contracts with little or no prior notice

Furthermore any financial difficulties suffered by our partners subcontractors or suppliers could increase

our cost or adversely impact project schedules These economic conditions have reduced to some extent

the availability of liquidity and credit to fund or support the continuation and expansion of industrial

business operations worldwide Current financial market conditions and adverse credit market conditions

could adversely affect our clients our partners or our own borrowing capacity which support the

continuation and expansion of projects worldwide and could result in contract cancellations or

suspensions project delays payment delays or defaults by our clients Our ability to expand our business

would be limited if in the future we are unable to access sufficient credit capacity including capital

market funding bank credit such as letters of credit and surety bonding on favorable terms or at all

These disruptions could materially impact our backlog and profits Finally our business has traditionally

lagged recoveries in the general economy and therefore may not recover as quickly as the economy as

whole

If we experience delays and/or defaults in client payments we could suffer liquidity problems or we could be unable

to recover all expenditures

Because of the nature of our contracts we sometimes commit resources to projects prior to receiving

payments from the client in amounts sufficient to cover expenditures as they are incurred In difficult

economic times some of our clients may find it increasingly difficult to pay invoices for our services timely

increasing the risk that our accounts receivable could become uncollectible and ultimately be written off

In certain cases our clients for our large projects are project-specific entities that do not have significant

assets other than their interests in the project While we try to financially secure payments that will be

owed to us from time to time it may be difficult for us to collect payments owed to us by these clients

Delays in client payments may require us to make working capital investment which could impact our

cash flows and liquidity If client fails to pay invoices on timely basis or defaults in making its payments

on project in which we have devoted significant resources there could be material adverse effect on our

results of operations or liquidity

We are vulnerable to the cyclical nature of the markets we serve

The demand for our services and products is dependent upon the existence of projects with

engineering procurement construction and management needs Although downturns can impact our

entire business our oil and gas petrochemicals power and mining and metals lines exemplify businesses

that are cyclical in nature and have historically been affected by decrease in worldwide demand for these

projects or the underlying commodities For example in both our Oil Gas segment and mining and

metals business line of the Industrial Infrastructure segment capital expenditures by our oil and gas

clients may be influenced by factors such as prevailing prices and expectations about future prices

technological advances the costs of exploration production and delivery of product domestic and

international political military regulatory and economic conditions and other similar factors In our Power

segment new order activity has slowed due to low demand for power political and environmental concerns

regarding coal-fired power plants and safety and environmental concerns in the nuclear sector Industries

such as these and many of the others we serve have historically been and will continue to be vulnerable to

general downturns which in turn could materially and adversely affect the demand for our services
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We have international operations that are subject to foreign economic and political uncertainties Unexpected and

adverse changes in the foreign countries in which we operate could result in project disruptions increased cost and

potential losses

Our business is subject to fluctuations in demand and to changing international economic and political

conditions which are beyond our control As of December 31 2012 approximately 75 percent of our

backlog consisted of revenue to be derived from projects and services to be completed outside the United

States We expect that significant portion of our revenue and profits will continue to come from

international projects for the foreseeable future

Operating in the international marketplace exposes us to number of special risks including

abrupt changes in foreign government policies regulations or leadership

embargoes

trade restrictions or restrictions on currency movement

tax increases

currency exchange rate fluctuations

changes in labor conditions and difficulties in staffing and managing international operations

U.S government policies

international hostilities and

local unrest

The lack of well-developed legal system in some of these countries may make it difficult to enforce

our contractual rights We also face significant risks due to civil strife acts of war terrorism and

insurrection We operate in countries where there is significant amount of political risk including

Afghanistan Iraq Kazakhstan Russia China Argentina and Guinea In addition military action or

continued unrest especially in the Middle East could impact the supply or pricing of oil disrupt our

operations in the region and elsewhere and increase our security costs Our level of exposure to these risks

will
vary

with
respect to each project depending on the particular stage of each such project For example

our risk exposure with
respect to project in an early development stage will generally be less than our risk

exposure with
respect to project in the middle of construction To the extent that our international

business is affected by unexpected and adverse foreign economic and political conditions we may

experience project disruptions and losses Project disruptions and losses could significantly reduce our

overall revenue and profits

If we guarantee the timely completion or performance standards of project we could incur additional cost to cover

our guarantee obligations

In some instances and in many of our fixed-price contracts we guarantee client that we will

complete project by scheduled date We sometimes commit that the project when completed will also

achieve certain performance standards From time to time we may also assume projects technical risk

which means that we may have to satisfy certain technical requirements of project despite the fact that at

the time of project award we may not have previously produced the system or product in question If we

subsequently fail to complete the project as scheduled or if the project subsequently fails to meet

guaranteed performance standards we may be held responsible for cost impacts to the client resulting

from any delay or the cost to cause the project to achieve the performance standards generally in the form

of contractually agreed-upon liquidated damages To the extent that these events occur the total cost of

the project could exceed our original estimates and we could experience reduced profits or in some cases

loss for that project
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We are dependent upon suppliers and subcontractors to complete many of our contracts

Much of the work performed under our contracts is actually performed by third-party subcontractors

We also rely on third-party suppliers to provide much of the equipment and materials used for projects If

we are unable to hire qualified subcontractors or find qualified suppliers our ability to successfully

complete project could be impaired If the amount we are required to pay for subcontractors or

equipment and supplies exceeds what we have estimated especially in lump-sum or fixed-price type

contract we may suffer losses on these contracts If supplier or subcontractor fails to provide supplies

equipment or services as required under negotiated contract for any reason or provides supplies

equipment or services that are not an acceptable quality we may be required to source those supplies

equipment or services on delayed basis or at higher price than anticipated which could impact contract

profitability In addition faulty equipment or materials could impact the overall project resulting in claims

against us for failure to meet required project specifications These risks may be intensified during the

current economic downturn if these suppliers or subcontractors experience financial difficulties or find it

difficult to obtain sufficient financing to fund their operations or access to bonding and are not able to

provide the services or supplies necessary for our business In addition in instances where Fluor relies on

single contracted supplier or subcontractor or small number of subcontractors there can be no assurance

that the marketplace can provide these products or services in timely basis or at the costs we had

anticipated failure by third-party subcontractor or supplier to comply with applicable laws rules or

regulations could negatively impact our business and in the case of government contracts could result in

fines penalties suspension or even debarment

The success of our joint ventures depends on the satisfactory performance by our joint venture partners oftheirjoint

venture obligations The failure ofour joint venture partners to perform theirjoint venture obligations could impose

on us additional financial and performance obligations that could result in reduced profits o1 in some cases

significant losses for us with respect to the joint venture

As is very typical in our industry we enter into various joint ventures and teaming arrangements as

part of our engineering procurement and construction businesses including ICA Fluor and project-

specific joint ventures where control may be shared with unaffiliated third parties Our success in many of

our markets is dependent in part the presence or capability of local partner If we are unable to compete

alone or with quality partner our ability to win work and successfully complete our contracts may be

impacted Differences in opinions or views between joint venture partners can result in delayed decision-

making or failure to agree on material issues which could adversely affect the business and operations of

the venture At times we also participate in joint ventures where we are not controlling party In such

instances we may have limited control over joint venture decisions and actions including internal controls

and financial reporting
which may have an impact on our business

From time to time in order to establish or preserve relationship or to better ensure venture success

we may accept risks or responsibilities for the joint venture which are not necessarily proportionate with

the reward we expect to receive The success of these and other joint ventures also depends in large part

on the satisfactory performance by our joint venture partners
of their joint venture obligations including

their obligation to commit working capital equity or credit support as required by the joint venture and to

support their indemnification and other contractual obligations If our joint venture partners fail to

satisfactorily perform their joint venture obligations as result of financial or other difficulties the joint

venture may be unable to adequately perform or deliver its contracted services Under these

circumstances we may be required to make additional investments and provide additional services to

ensure the adequate performance and delivery of the contracted services These additional obligations

could result in reduced profits or in some cases increased liabilities or significant losses for us with respect

to the joint venture In addition failure by joint venture partner to comply with applicable laws rules or

regulations could negatively impact our business and in the case of government contracts could result in

fines penalties suspension or even debarment
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Our businesses could be materially and adversely affected by events outside of our control

Extraordinary or force majeure events beyond our control such as natural or man-made disasters

could negatively impact our ability to operate As an example from time to time we face unexpected severe

weather conditions which may result in weather-related delays that are not always reimbursable under

fixed-price contract evacuation of personnel and curtailment of services increased labor and material

costs in areas resulting from weather-related damage and subsequent increased demand for labor and

materials for repairing and rebuilding inability to deliver materials equipment and personnel to jobsites in

accordance with contract schedules and loss of productivity We may remain obligated to perform our

services after any such natural or man-made event unless force majeure clause or other contractual

provision provides us with relief from our contractual obligations If we are not able to react quickly to

such events or if high concentration of our projects are in specific geographic region that suffers from

natural or man-made catastrophe our operations may be significantly affected which could have

negative impact on our operations In addition if we cannot complete our contracts on time we may be

subject to potential liability claims by our clients which may reduce our profits

We work in international locations where there are high security risks which could result in harm to our employees

or unanticipated cost

Some of our services are performed in high risk locations such as Afghanistan and Iraq where the

country or location is subject to political social or economic risks or war or civil unrest In those locations

where we have employees or operations we may expend significant efforts and incur substantial security

costs to maintain the safety of our personnel Despite these activities in these locations we cannot

guarantee the safety of our personnel and we may suffer future losses of employees and subcontractors

Our backlog is subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations and therefore may not be reliable indicator of

our future revenue or earnings

As of December 31 2012 our backlog was approximately $38.2 billion Our backlog generally consists

of projects for which we have an executed contract or commitment with client and reflects our expected

revenue from the contract or commitment which is often subject to revision over time We cannot

guarantee that the revenue projected in our backlog will be realized or profitable Project cancellations

scope adjustments or deferrals may occur from time to time with respect to contracts reflected in our

backlog and could reduce the dollar amount of our backlog and the revenue and profits that we actually

earn Many of our contracts have termination for convenience provisions in them In addition projects

may remain in our backlog for an extended period of time Finally poor project or contract performance

could also impact our backlog and profits Such developments could have material adverse effect on our

business and our profits

Changes in our effective tax rate and tax positions may vary

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions change in

tax laws treaties or regulations or their interpretation in any country in which we operate could result in

higher tax rate on our earnings which could have material impact on our earnings and cash flows from

operations In addition significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for

income taxes In the ordinary course of our business there are many transactions and calculations where

the ultimate tax determination is uncertain We are regularly under audit by tax authorities Although we

believe that our tax estimates and tax positions are reasonable they could be materially affected by many
factors including the final outcome of tax audits and related litigation the introduction of new tax

accounting standards legislation regulations and related interpretations our global mix of earnings the

realizability of deferred tax assets and changes in uncertain tax positions significant increase in our tax

rate could have material adverse effect on our profitability and liquidity
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Our government contracts and contracting rights may be terminated or otherwise adversely impacted at any time

We enter into significant government contracts from time to time such as those that we have with the

U.S Department of Energy as part of teaming arrangements at Savannah River Nuclear Solutions and at

the Department of Energy site in Portsmouth Ohio or with the Department of Defense for the

LOGCAP IV contract Government contracts are subject to various uncertainties restrictions and

regulations including oversight audits by government representatives and profit and cost controls which

could result in withholding or delay of payments to us Government contracts are also exposed to

uncertainties associated with Congressional funding including the potential impacts of budget deficits and

federal sequestration significant portion of our business is derived as result of federal government

regulatory military and infrastructure priorities Changes in these priorities which can occur due to policy

changes or changes in the economy are unpredictable and may impact our revenues The government is

under no obligation to maintain funding at any specific level and funds for program may even be

eliminated Our government clients may terminate or decide not to renew our contracts with little or no

prior notice

In addition government contracts are subject to specific regulations For example we must comply

with the Federal Acquisition Regulation FAR the Truth in Negotiations Act the Cost Accounting

Standards CAS the Service Contract Act and Department of Defense security regulations We must

also comply with various other government regulations and requirements as well as various statutes related

to employment practices environmental protection recordkeeping and accounting These laws impact how

we transact business with our governmental clients and in some instances impose significant costs on our

business operations If we fail to comply with any of these regulations requirements or statutes our

existing government contracts could be terminated and we could be temporarily suspended or even

debarred from government contracting or subcontracting

We also run the risk of the impact of government audits investigations and proceedings and so-called

qui tam actions where treble damages can be awarded brought by individuals or the government under

the Federal False Claims Act that if an unfavorable result occurs could impact our profits and financial

condition as well as our ability to obtain future government work For example government agencies such

as the U.S Defense Contract Audit Agency the DCAA routinely review and audit government

contractors with respect to the adequacy of and our compliance with our internal control systems and

policies including our labor billing accounting purchasing estimating compensation and management

information systems Despite the fact that we take precautions to prevent and deter fraud misconduct or

other non-compliance we face the risk that our employees partners or subcontractors may engage in such

activities If any of these agencies determine that rule or regulation has been violated variety of

penalties can be imposed including criminal and civil penalties all of which would harm our reputation with

the government or even debar us from future government activities The DCAA has the ability to review

how we have accounted for cost under the FAR and CAS and if they believe that we have engaged in

inappropriate accounting or other activities they may present their findings to the Defense Contract

Management Agency DCMA Should the DCMA determine that we have not complied with the terms

of our contract and applicable statutes and regulations payments to us may be disallowed or we could be

required to refund previously
collected payments Furthermore in this environment if we have significant

disagreements with our government clients concerning costs incurred negative publicity could arise which

could adversely effect our industry reputation and our ability to compete for new contracts

Many of our federal government contracts require contractors to have security clearances Depending

upon the level of required clearances security clearances can be difficult and time-consuming to obtain If

we or our employees are unable to obtain or retain necessary security clearances we may not be able to

win new business and our existing clients could terminate their contracts with us or decide not to renew

them To the extent that we cannot obtain or maintain the required security clearance working on

particular contract we may not derive the revenue anticipated from the contract which could adversely

affect our revenues
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If one or more of our government contracts are terminated for any reason including for convenience

if we are suspended or debarred from government contract work or if payment of our cost is disallowed

we could suffer significant reduction in expected revenue and profits

Fluctuations and changes in the U.S governments spending priorities could adversely impact our business

expectations

The Government segments revenue is generated largely from work we perform for the U.S

government including significant amount generated from contracts with the Department of Defense

Political instability often driven by war conflict or natural disasters coupled with the U.S governments

fight against terrorism has resulted in increased spending from which we have benefitted including in

locations such as Afghanistan where we perform significant work under the LOGCAP IV contract Based

on recent government pronouncements the current level of Department of Defense overall spending will

likely decrease More specifically government services being provided in the Middle East including

Afghanistan will likely not continue at present levels indefinitely and we could see our current level of

services decline over time Future levels of expenditures especially with regard to foreign military

commitments may decrease or may be shifted to other programs in which we are not participant As

result general decline in U.S defense spending or change in priorities could reduce our profits or

revenue Our ability to win or renew government contracts is conducted through rigorous competitive

process and may prove to be unsuccessful

Most federal government contracts are awarded through rigorous competitive process The federal

government has increasingly relied upon multiple-year contracts with pre-established terms and conditions

that generally require those contractors that have been previously awarded the contract to engage in an

additional competitive bidding process for each task order issued under the contract Such
processes

require successful contractors to anticipate requirements and develop rapid-response bid and proposal

teams as well as dedicated supplier relationships and delivery systems in place to react to these needs We
face rigorous competition and significant pricing pressures in order to win these task orders If we are not

successful in reducing costs or able to timely respond to government requests we may not win additional

awards Moreover even if we are qualified to work on government contract we may not be awarded the

contract because of existing government policies designed to protect small businesses and under-

represented minority contractors Our inability to win or renew government contracts during the

procurement processes
could harm our operations

We could sufferfrom temporaly liquidity crisis ifthe financial institutions who hold our cash and investments fail

Our cash balances and short-term investments are maintained in accounts held by major banks and

financial institutions located primarily in North America Europe and Asia Some of our accounts hold

deposits that exceed available insurance Although none of the financial institutions in which we hold our

cash and investments have gone into bankruptcy forced receivership or have been seized by governments

there remains the risk that this could occur in the future If this were to occur we could be at risk of not

being able to access our cash which could result in temporary liquidity crisis that could impede our ability

to fund operations

Systems and information technology interruption and breaches in data security could adversely impact our ability to

operate and our operating results

As global company we are heavily reliant on computer information and communications

technology and related systems in order to properly operate From time to time we experience system

interruptions and delays If we are unable to continually add software and hardware effectively upgrade

our systems and network infrastructure and take other steps to improve the efficiency of and protect our

systems systems operation could be interrupted or delayed or our data security could be breached In

addition our computer and communications systems and operations could be damaged or interrupted by

natural disasters power loss telecommunications failures acts of war or terrorism acts of God computer

viruses physical or electronic break-ins and similar events or disruptions including breaches by computer
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hackers and cyber-terrorists Any of these or other events could cause system interruption delays and loss

of critical data including private data could delay or prevent operations including the processing of

transactions and reporting of financial results could result in the unintentional disclosure of client or our

information including proprietary intellectual property and could adversely affect our operating results

While management has taken steps to address these concerns by implementing sophisticated network

security and internal control measures there can be no assurance that system failure or loss or data

security breach will not materially adversely affect our financial condition and operating results

Our project execution activities may result in liability for faulty engineering services

Because our projects are often large and complicated our failure to make judgments and

recommendations in accordance with applicable professional standards could result in large damages Our

engineering practice involves professional judgments regarding the planning design development

construction operations and management of industrial facilities and public infrastructure projects While

we do not generally accept liability for consequential damages and although we have adopted range of

insurance risk management and risk avoidance programs designed to reduce potential liabilities

catastrophic event at one of our project sites or completed projects resulting from the services we have

performed could result in significant professional or product liability warranty or other claims against us as

well as reputational harm especially if public safety is impacted These liabilities could exceed our

insurance limits or the fees we generate or could impact our ability to obtain insurance in the future In

addition clients or subcontractors who have agreed to indemnify us against any such liabilities or losses

might refuse or be unable to pay us An uninsured claim either in part or in whole if successful and of

material magnitude could have substantial impact on our operations

We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide

anti-bribery laws

The U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act the U.K Bribery Act of 2010 and similar anti-bribery laws in

other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments

to officials or others for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business Our policies mandate compliance

with these anti-bribery laws We operate in many parts
of the world that have experienced governmental

corruption to some degree and in certain circumstances strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may

conflict with local customs and practices We train our staff concerning anti-bribery laws and issues and we

also inform our partners subcontractors agents and others who work for us or on our behalf that they

must comply with anti-bribery law requirements We also have procedures and controls in place to monitor

compliance We cannot assure that our internal controls and procedures always will protect us from the

possible reckless or criminal acts committed by our employees or agents If we are found to be liable for

anti-bribery law violations either due to our own acts or our inadvertence or due to the acts or

inadvertence of others including our partners agents or subcontractors we could suffer from criminal or

civil penalties or other sanctions which could have material adverse effect on our business

Our actual results could differ from the assumptions and estimates used to prepare our financial statements

In preparing our financial statements we are required under U.S generally accepted accounting

principles to make estimates and assumptions as of the date of the financial statements These estimates

and assumptions affect the reported values of assets liabilities revenue and expenses and the disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities Areas requiring significant estimates by our management include

Recognition of contract revenue costs profits or losses in applying the principles of

percentage-of-completion accounting

Recognition of revenues related to project incentives or awards we expect to receive

Recognition of recoveries under contract change orders or claims

Estimated amounts for expected project losses warranty costs contract close-out or other costs
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Collectability of billed and unbilled accounts receivable and the need and amount of any allowance

for doubtful accounts

Asset valuations

Income tax provisions and related valuation allowances

Determination of expense and potential liabilities under pension and other post-retirement benefit

programs and

Accruals for other estimated liabilities including litigation and insurance revenues/reserves

Our actual business and financial results could differ from our estimates of such results which could

have material negative impact on our financial condition and reported results of operations

Our business may be negatively impacted if we are unable to adequately protect intellectual property rights

Our success is dependent in part on our ability to defend our intellectual property rights as to our

technologies and know-how This success includes the ability of companies in which we invest such as

NuScale Power LLC to protect their intellectual property rights We rely principally on combination of

patents trade secrets confidentiality agreements and other contractual arrangements to protect our

interests However these methods only provide limited amount of protection and may not adequately

protect our interests This can be especially true in certain foreign countries We also rely on unpatented

technology and we cannot provide assurances that we can meaningfully protect our interests or that others

will not independently develop substantially similar technology or otherwise gain access to our unpatented

technology We also hold licenses from third parties which may be utilized in our business operations the

loss of which could impact our business operations Litigation to determine the scope of intellectual

property rights even if ultimately successful could be costly and could divert managements attention away
from other aspects of our business

We may need to raise additional capital in the future for working capita4 capital expenditures and/or acquisitions

and we may not be able to do so on favorable terms or at all which would impair our ability to operate our business

or achieve our growth objectives

Our ongoing ability to generate cash is important for the funding of our continuing operations and the

servicing of our indebtedness To the extent that existing cash balances and cash flow from operations

together with borrowing capacity under our credit facilities are insufficient to make future investments

make acquisitions or provide needed working capital we may require additional
financing from other

sources Our ability to obtain such additional financing in the future will depend in part upon prevailing

capital market conditions as well as conditions in our business and our operating results and those factors

may affect our efforts to arrange additional financing on terms that are acceptable to us Furthermore in

the past few years there has been significant upheaval and turmoil in financial markets and in many
financial institutions and if these conditions cause deterioration of the financial institutions which provide

credit to us it is possible that our ability to draw upon our credit facilities may be impacted If adequate
funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms we may not be able to make future

investments take advantage of acquisitions or other opportunities or respond to competitive challenges

Foreign exchange risks may affect our ability to realize profit from certain projects

We generally attempt to denominate our contracts in the currencies of our expenditures However we
do enter into contracts that subject us to currency risk exposure particularly to the extent contract revenue

is denominated in currency different than the contract costs We attempt to minimize our exposure from

currency risks by obtaining escalation provisions for projects in
inflationary economies or entering into

derivative hedging instruments when there is currency risk exposure that is not naturally mitigated via

our contracts Foreign currency market disruptions could adversely affect our hedging instruments and

subject us to additional currency risk exposure thus these actions may not always eliminate all currency
risk exposure Based on fluctuations in currency the U.S dollar value of our backlog may from time to
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time increase or decrease significantly The company does not enter into derivative instruments or hedging

activities for speculative purposes Our operational cash flows and cash balances though predominately

held in U.s dollars may consist of different currencies at various points in time in order to execute our

project contracts globally
Non-U.S dollar denominated asset and liability balances are subject to currency

fluctuations when measured period to period for financial reporting purposes in U.S dollars Financial

hedging may be used to minimize currency volatility for financial reporting purposes

Our continued success requires us to hire and retain qualified personnel

The success of our business is dependent upon being able to attract and retain personnel including

engineers project management and craft employees around the globe and who have the necessary and

required experience and expertise For example in the Government segment from time to time we utilize

personnel who do not have substantial experience working under U.S government contracts While we

undertake to educate these personnel and monitor their activities their lack of experience could impact

our ability to perform under and collect on our government contracts Competition for these and other

experienced personnel is intense In addition as some of our key personnel approach retirement age we

need to provide for smooth transitions and our operations and results may be negatively affected if we are

not able to do so

Our employees work on projects that are inherently dangerous and failure to maintain safr work site could result

in significant losses

We often work on large-scale and complex projects frequently in geographically remote locations

Our project sites can place our employees and others near large equipment dangerous processes or highly

regulated materials and in challenging environments Safety is primary focus of our business and is

critical to our reputation Often we are responsible for safety on the project sites where we work Many of

our clients require that we meet certain safety criteria to be eligible to bid on contracts and some of our

contract fees or profits are subject to satisfying safety criteria Unsafe work conditions also have the

potential of increasing employee turnover increasing project costs and raising our operating costs If we

fail to implement appropriate safety procedures and/or if our procedures fail our employees or others may

suffer injuries or even loss of life Although we maintain functional groups whose primary purpose is to

implement effective health safety and environmental procedures throughout our company the failure to

comply with such procedures client contracts or applicable regulations could subject us to losses and

liability

We could be adversely impacted if we fail to comply with domestic and international import and export laws

Our global operations require importing and exporting goods and technology across international

borders on regular basis Our policies mandate strict compliance with U.S and foreign international

trade laws To the extent we export technical services data and products outside of the United States we

are subject to U.S and international laws and regulations governing international trade and exports

including but not limited to the International Traffic in Arms Regulations the Export Administration

Regulations and trade sanctions against embargoed countries which are administered by the Office of

Foreign Assets Control with the Department of Treasury From time to time we identify certain

inadvertent or potential export or related violations These violations may include for example transfers

without required governmental authorization failure to comply with these laws and regulations could

result in civil or criminal sanctions including the imposition of fines the denial of export privileges
and

suspension or debarment from participation in U.S government contracts
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Past and future environmental safety and health regulations could impose significant additional cost on us that

reduce our profits

We are subject to numerous environmental laws and health and safety regulations Our projects can
involve the handling of hazardous and other highly regulated materials including nuclear and other

radioactive materials which if improperly handled or disposed of could subject us to civil and criminal

liabilities It is impossible to reliably predict the full nature and effect of judicial legislative or regulatory

developments relating to health and safety regulations and environmental protection regulations

applicable to our operations The applicable regulations as well as the technology and length of time

available to comply with those regulations continue to develop and change In addition past activities

could also have material impact on us For example when we sold our mining business formerly
conducted through St Joe Minerals Corporation we retained

responsibility for certain non-lead related

environmental liabilities but only to the extent that such liabilities were not covered by St Joes

comprehensive general liability insurance and the buyers indemnification obligations The cost of

complying with rulings and regulations satisfying any environmental remediation requirements for which

we are found responsible or satisfying claims or judgments alleging personal injury property damage or

natural resource damages as result of exposure to or contamination by hazardous materials including as

result of commodities such as lead or asbestos-related products could be substantial may not be covered

by insurance could reduce our profits and therefore could materially impact our future operations

substantial portion of our business is generated either directly or indirectly as result of federal

state local and foreign laws and regulations related to environmental matters reduction in the number
or scope of these laws or regulations or changes in government policies regarding the funding

implementation or enforcement of such laws and regulations could
significantly reduce the size of one of

our markets and limit our opportunities for growth or reduce our revenue below current levels

We may be unable to win new contract awards if we cannot provide clients with letters of credits bonds or other

security or credit enhancements

In certain of our business lines it is industry practice for customers to require bonds letters of credit

bank guarantees or other forms of credit enhancement These bonds letters of credit or guarantees

indemnify our clients if we fail to perform our obligations under our contracts Historically we have had

strong surety bonding capacity due to our industry leading credit rating but bonding is provided at the

suretys sole discretion In addition because of the overall limitations in worldwide bonding capacity we
may find it difficult to find sufficient surety bonding capacity to meet our total surety bonding needs With

regard to letters of credit we believe we have adequate capacity under our credit facilities but any amounts

required in excess of our credit limits would be at our lenders sole discretion Failure to provide credit

enhancements on terms required by client may result in an inability to compete for or win project

Our use of the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting could result in reduction or reversal of previously

recorded revenue or profits

Under our accounting procedures we measure and recognize large portion of our profits and

revenue under the percentage-of-completion accounting methodology This methodology allows us to

recognize revenue and profits ratably over the life of contract by comparing the amount of the cost

incurred to date against the total amount of cost expected to be incurred The effect of revisions to revenue
and estimated cost is recorded when the amounts are known and can be reasonably estimated and these

revisions can occur at any time and could be material On historical basis we believe that we have made

reasonably reliable estimates of the progress towards completion on our long-term contracts In addition
from time to time when calculating the total amount of profits and losses we include unapproved claims

as contract revenue when collection is deemed probable based upon the criteria for recognizing

unapproved claims under Accounting Standards Codification ASC 605-35-25 Including unapproved
claims in this calculation increases the operating income or reduces the operating loss that would

otherwise be recorded without consideration of the probable unapproved claim Given the uncertainties
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associated with these types of contracts it is possible for actual cost to vary from estimates previously

made which may result in reductions or reversals of previously
recorded revenue and profits

It can be very difficult or expensive to obtain the insurance we need for our business operations

As part of business operations we maintain insurance both as corporate risk management strategy

and in order to satisfy the requirements of many of our contracts Although we have in the past been

generally able to cover our insurance needs there can be no assurances that we can secure all necessary or

appropriate
insurance in the future or that such insurance can be economically secured For example

catastrophic events can result in decreased coverage limits more limited coverage increased premium

costs or deductibles We also monitor the financial health of the insurance companies from which we

procure insurance and this is one of the factors we take into account when purchasing insurance Our

insurance is purchased from number of the worlds leading providers often in layered insurance or quota

share arrangements If any of our third party insurers fail abruptly cancel our coverage or otherwise can

not satisfy their insurance requirements to us then our overall risk exposure and operational expenses

could be increased and our business operations could be interrupted

Any acquisitions dispositions or other investments may present
risks or uncertainties

We have made and expect to continue to pursue selective acquisitions or dispositions ofbusinesses or

investments in strategic business opportunities We cannot assure you that we will be able to locate suitable

acquisitions or investments or that we will be able to consummate any such transactions on terms and

conditions acceptable to us or that such transactions will be successful Acquisitions may bring us into

businesses we have not previously conducted and expose us to additional business risks that are different

from those we have traditionally experienced We also may encounter difficulties identifying all significant

risks during our due diligence activities or integrating acquisitions
and successfully managing the growth

we expect to experience from these acquisitions We may not be able to successfully cause buyer of

divested business to assume the liabilities of that business or even if such liabilities are assumed we may

have difficulties enforcing our rights contractual or otherwise against the buyer We may invest in

companies that fail causing loss of all or part of our investment In addition if we determine that an

other-than-temporary decline in the fair value exists for company in which we have invested we may have

to write down that investment to its fair value and recognize the related write-down as an investment loss

For cases in which we are required under equity method or the proportionate consolidation method of

accounting to recognize proportionate share of another companys income or loss such income or loss

may impact our earnings

We may be affected by market or regulatory responses to climate change

Growing concerns about climate change may result in the imposition of additional environmental

regulations Legislation international protocols regulation or other restrictions on emissions could affect

our clients including those who are involved in the exploration production or refining of fossil fuels

such as our Oil Gas clients emit greenhouse gases through the combustion of fossil fuels including

some of our Power clients or emit greenhouse gases through the mining manufacture utilization or

production of materials or goods Such legislation or restrictions could increase the costs of projects
for

our clients or in some cases prevent project from going forward thereby potentially reducing the need

for our services which could in turn have material adverse effect on our operations and financial

condition However legislation and regulation regarding climate change could also increase the pace of

development of carbon capture and storage projects alternative transportation alternative energy

facilities such as wind farms or incentivize increased implementation of clean fuel projects which could

positively impact the company We cannot predict
when or whether any of these various legislative and

regulatory proposals may become law or what their effect will be on us and our customers
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In the event we make acquisitions using our stock as consideration stockholders ownership percentage would be

diluted

We intend to grow our business not only organically but also potentially through acquisitions One
method of paying for acquisitions or to otherwise fund our corporate initiatives is through the issuance of

additional equity securities If we do issue additional equity securities the issuance would have the effect of

diluting our earnings per share and stockholders percentage ownership

As holding company we are dependent on our subsidiaries for cash distributions to fund debt payments and other

corporate liabilities

Because we are holding company we have no true operations or significant assets other than the

stock we own of our subsidiaries We depend on dividends loans and other distributions from these

subsidiaries to be able to service our indebtedness fund share repurchases and satisfy other financial

obligations Contractual limitations and legal regulations may restrict the ability of our subsidiaries to

make such distributions to us or if made may be insufficient to cover our financial obligations

We maintain workforce based upon current and anticipated workloads If we do not receive future contract awards

or if these awards are delayed significant cost may result

Our estimates of future performance depend on among other matters whether and when we will

receive certain new contract awards including the extent to which we utilize our workforce The rate at

which we utilize our workforce is impacted by variety of factors including our ability to manage attrition

our ability to forecast our need for services which allows us to maintain an appropriately sized workforce

our ability to transition employees from completed projects to new projects or between internal business

groups and our need to devote resources to non-chargeable activities such as training or business

development While our estimates are based upon our good faith judgment these estimates can be

unreliable and may frequently change based on newly available information In the case of large-scale

domestic and international projects where timing is often uncertain it is particularly difficult to predict

whether and when we will receive contract award The uncertainty of contract award timing can present

difficulties in matching our workforce size with our contract needs If an expected contract award is

delayed or not received we could incur cost resulting from reductions in staff or redundancy of facilities

that would have the effect of reducing our profits

Delaware law and our charter documents may impede or discourage takeover or change of control

Fluor is Delaware corporation Various anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law impose

impediments on the ability of others to acquire control of us even if change of control would be

beneficial to our stockholders In addition certain provisions of our charters and bylaws may impede or

discourage takeover For example

our Board of Directors remains partially classified

stockholders may not act by written consent

there are various restrictions on the ability of stockholder to call special meeting or to nominate

director for election and

our Board of Directors can authorize the issuance of preference shares

These types of provisions in our charters and bylaws could also make it more difficult for third party to

acquire control of us even if the acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders Accordingly
stockholders may be limited in the ability to obtain premium for their shares

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

Major Facilities

Operations of Fluor and its subsidiaries are conducted at both owned and leased properties in

domestic and foreign locations totaling approximately 7.2 million rentable square feet Our executive

offices are located at 6700 Las Colinas Boulevard Irving Texas As our business and the mix of structures

are constantly changing the extent of utilization of the facilities by particular segments cannot be

accurately stated In addition certain owned or leased properties of Fluor and its subsidiaries are leased or

subleased to third party tenants While we have operations worldwide the following table describes the

location and general character of our more significant existing facilities

Location
Interest

United States

Aliso Viejo California Owned and Leased

Greenville South Carolina Owned and Leased

Houston Sugar Land Texas Leased

Irving Texas Corporate Headquarters
Owned

Canada

Calgary Alberta Owned and Leased

Vancouver British Columbia Leased

Latin America

Mexico City Mexico Leased

Santiago Chile
Owned and Leased

Europe Africa and Middle East

Al Khobar Saudi Arabia Owned

Farnborough England
Owned and Leased

Gilwice Poland Owned

Haarlem the Netherlands Ovned

Johannesburg South Africa
Leased

Asia/Asia Pacific

Cebu the Philippines
Leased

Manila the Philippines
Owned and Leased

Melbourne Australia Leased

New Delhi India Leased

Shanghai China Leased

We also lease or own number of sales administrative and field construction offices warehouses and

equipment yards strategically located throughout the world

Item Legal Proceedings

Fluor and its subsidiaries as part of their normal business activities are parties to number of legal

proceedings and other matters in various stages of development While we cannot predict the outcome of

these proceedings in our opinion and based on reports of counsel any liability arising from these matters

individually and in the aggregate
will not have material adverse effect upon the consolidated financial

position or the results of operations of the company after giving effect to provisions already recorded

For information on matters in dispute see 13 Contingencies and Commitments in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information regarding the companys executive officers is set forth under the caption Executive

Officers of the Registrant in Part III Item 10 of this Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by this

reference

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol FLR The

following table sets forth for the quarters indicated the high and low sales prices of our common stock as

reported in the Consolidated Transactions Reporting System and the cash dividends paid per share of

common stock

Common Stock

Price Range
Dividends

High Low Per Share

Year Ended December 31 2012

Fourth Quarter $59.96 $51.09 0.16

Third Quarter $60.82 $45.61 0.16

Second Quarter $61.65 $44.99 0.16

First Quarter $64.67 $51.02 0.16

Year Ended December 31 2011

Fourth Quarter $60.76 $44.16 $0.125

Third Quarter $68.00 $45.86 $0.125

Second Quarter $74.58 $60.10 $0.125

First Quarter $75.76 $63.43 $0.125

Any future cash dividends will depend upon our results of operations financial condition cash

requirements availability of surplus and such other factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant

See Item 1A Risk Factors

At February 14 2013 there were 162508215 shares outstanding and 5977 stockholders of record of

the companys common stock The company estimates there were an additional 171521 stockholders

whose shares were held by banks brokers or other financial institutions at February 2013
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information as of the three months ended December 31 2012 about

purchases by the company of equity securities that are registered by the company pursuant to Section 12 of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act

Maximum

Total Number of Number of

Shares Purchased as Shares that May

Total Number Average Price Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased

of Shares Paid per Announced Plans Under Plans or

Period Purchased1 Share__ or Programs Programs

October October 31 2012 8026051

November November 30 2012 2903588 52.71 2903588 5122463

December December 31 2012 1281647 56.10 1281647 3840816

Total 4185235 $53.75 4185235

Consists of 4185235 shares of company stock repurchased and canceled by the company during the

fourth quarter of 2012 under its stock repurchase program for total consideration of $225035726

On November 2011 the company announced that the Board of Directors had approved the

repurchase of up to 12000000 shares of our common stock Following this approval we repurchased

total of 8159184 shares as of December 31 2012 As result as of December 31 2012 we had

3840816 shares remaining available for repurchase On February 2013 the Board of Directors

approved an increase of 8000000 shares to the share repurchase program bringing the total number

of shares available for repurchase to 11840816 shares This repurchase program is ongoing and does

not have an expiration date
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected financial data for the last five years This selected financial data

should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules Amounts are expressed in millions except for

per share and employee information

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS
Total revenue $27577.1 $23381.4 $20849.3 $21990.3 $22325.9

Earnings before taxes12 733.5 1001.8 559.6 1136.8 1141.7
Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation14 456.3 593.7 357.5 6849 716.1

Earnings per share1X34

Basic 2.73 3.44 2.01 3.79 3.99

Diluted 2.71 3.40 1.98 3.75 3.89

Cash dividends per common share declared 0.64 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

Return on average shareholders equity 13.0% 17.4% 10.4% 23.0% 28.1%

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

Current assets 6094.1 5878.7 5561.8 5122.1 4668.5
Current liabilities 3887.1 3838.2 3522.4 3301.4 3162.2

Working capital 2207.0 2040.5 2039.4 1820.7 1506.3

Property plant and equipment net 951.3 921.6 866.3 837.0 799.8

Total assets1
8276.0 8268.4 7613.9 7178.5 6423.6

Capitalization

3.375% Senior Notes 496.2 495.7

1.5% Convertible Senior Notes 18.5 19.5 96.7 109.8 133.2

Other debt obligations 26.3 17.8 17.8 17.7 17.7

Shareholders equity 3341.3 3395.5 3497.0 3305.5 2671.3

Total capitalization1 3882.3 3928.5 3611.5 3433.0 2822.2

Total debt as percent of total capitalization1

Shareholders equity per common share

Common shares outstanding at year end

13.9% 13.6% 3.2% 3.7% 5.3%

20.58 20.09 19.82 18.48 14.71

OTHER DATA
New awards

Backlog at year end

Capital expenditures

Cash provided by operating activities2

Cash provided utilized by investing activities

Cash utilized by financing activities

Employees at year end

Salaried employees

Craft/hourly employees

162.4 169.0 176.4 178.8 181.6

$27129.2

38199.4

254.7

628.4

38.4

616.6

$26896.1

39483.7

338.2

889.7

436.4

395.8

$27362.9

34908.7

265.4

550.9

218.4

389.9

$18455.4

26778.7

233.1

905.0

818.1

323.0

$25057.8

33245.3

299.6

991.6

22.5

270.2

Total employees 41193 43087 39229 36152 42119

32592 33252 29159 24943 27958

8601 9835 10070 11209 14161

Includes the impact of adopting certain provisions of ASC 470-20 related to accounting for convertible debt instruments
that may be settled in cash upon conversion

Includes the impact of adopting certain provisions of ASC 810-10-45 related to accounting for noncontrolling interests

in consolidated financial statements

Includes the impact of adopting certain provisions of ASC 260-10-45 related to the determination of whether
instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities

Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation in 2012 included pre-tax charges of $416 million or $1.57 per diluted

share for the Gabbard Offshore Wind Farm Project Greater Gabbard Project pre-tax gain of $43 million or
$0.16 per diluted share on the sale of the companys unconsolidated interest in telecommunications company located

in the United Kingdom and tax benefits of $43 million $0.25 per diluted share associated with the net reduction of tax

reserves for various domestic and international disputed items and U.S Internal Revenue Service IRS settlement
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Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation in 2011 included pre-tax charges of $60 million or $0.21 per diluted

share for the Greater Gabbard Project

Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation in 2010 included pre-tax charges of $343 million or $1.79 per diluted

share for the Greater Gabbard Project These charges were partially offset by tax benefit of $152 million or $0.84 per

diluted share for worthless stock deduction from the tax restructuring of foreign subsidiaiy in the fourth quarter

significant portion of this tax benefit resulted from the financial impact of the Greater Gabbard Project charges on the

foreign subsidiary Net earnings in 2010 also included pre-tax charge of $95 million or $0.33 per
diluted share related

to completed infrastructure joint venture project in California and pre-tax charges of $91 million or $0.31 per diluted

share on gas-fired power project in Georgia

Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation in 2009 included pre-tax charge of $45 million $0.15 per
diluted share

for paper mill project in the Global Services segment

Net earnings in 2008 included pre-tax gain of $79 million $0.27 per diluted share from the sale of joint venture

interest in the Greater Gabbard Project and tax benefits of $28 million $0.15 per diluted share from the expiration of

statutes of limitations and tax settlements that favorably impacted the effective tax rate

See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on pages 30

to 47 and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on pages F-8 to F-46 for additional information relating to

significant items affecting the results of operations

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

The following discussion and analysis is provided to increase the understanding of and should be read

in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes For purposes of

reviewing this document segment profit is calculated as revenue less cost of revenue and earnings

attributable to noncontrolling interests excluding corporate general and administrative expense interest

expense interest income domestic and foreign income taxes and other non-operating income and

expense items For reconciliation of segment profit to earnings before taxes see 15 Operations by

Business Segment and Geographical Area in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Results of Operations

Summaty of Overall Company Results

Consolidated revenue for 2012 increased 18 percent to $27.6 billion from $23.4 billion for 2011

primarily due to substantial growth in the mining and metals business line of the Industrial

Infrastructure segment and growth in the Oil Gas segment Revenue in the Global Services and Power

segments also increased in 2012 compared to the prior year

Consolidated revenue for 2011 increased 12 percent to $23.4 billion from $20.8 billion for 2010

principally due to substantial growth in the mining and metals business line of the Industrial

Infrastructure segment as well as revenue growth in the Oil Gas Government and Global Services

segments This revenue growth was partially offset by the significant revenue decline in the Power segment

in 2011

Earnings before taxes for 2012 decreased 27 percent to $734 million from $1.0 billion in 2011 due to

lower contributions from the Industrial Infrastructure segment which recorded charge of $416 million

in the fourth quarter of 2012 related to an unexpected adverse decision from the arbitration proceedings

on the Greater Gabbard Offshore Wind Farm Greater Gabbard Project $1.8 billion lump-sum

project to provide engineering procurement and construction services for the clients offshore wind farm

project in the United Kingdom See Industrial Infrastructure below and 13 Contingencies and

Commitments in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the Greater

Gabbard Project Improved contributions in the Oil Gas Global Services and Government segments

during 2012 were offset by lower earnings in the Power segment

Earnings before taxes for 2011 increased 79 percent to $1.0 billion from $560 million in 2010 Earnings

for the 2011 period increased primarily due to reduced level of project charges compared to 2010 During
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2010 the company recorded significant charges for two infrastructure projects First for the Greater

Gabbard Project charges totaling $343 million were taken in 2010 for estimated cost overruns for variety

of execution
challenges that impacted the schedule and project cost forecast including material and

equipment delivery issues productivity issues the bankruptcy of major subcontractor and weather-

related delays Second the company recorded charge of $95 million during 2010 after an adverse

bankruptcy court ruling on the priority of claims made by its joint venture against bankrupt client entity

for completed $700 million fixed-price infrastructure joint venture project near San Diego California

During 2011 the company recorded additional charges for the Greater Gabbard Project totaling

$60 million primarily due to increased costs associated with the installation of subsea cable and schedule

delays related to adverse weather conditions However the 2011 results were positively impacted by

improved performance in the mining and metals business line of the Industrial Infrastructure segment
and the Global Services segment offset somewhat by lower earnings in the Power and Oil Gas segments

highly competitive business environment has continued to put increased pressure on margins This

competitive environment is expected to continue and in certain cases may result in more lump-sum
project execution for the company In some instances margins are being negatively impacted by the change
in the mix of work performed e.g higher mix of construction-related work and higher content of

customer-furnished materials which typically generate lower margins than engineering work or projects

without customer-furnished materials The mining and metals business line of the Industrial

Infrastructure segment has grown rapidly over the last four years but has shown recent signs of slowing

down It is possible that the weakened mining market conditions could be protracted

The effective tax rate was 22.1 percent 30.3 percent and 21.2 percent for 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively The 2012 rate was favorably impacted by the release of previously unrecognized tax benefits

of $13 million related to settlement with the IRS for tax years 2003 through 2005 as well as the net

reduction of tax reserves totaling $30 million attributable to variety of domestic and international

disputed items including the resolution of an uncertainty associated with prior year tax restructuring

The 2011 rate was favorably impacted by the release of previously unrecognized tax benefits related to the

expiration of statutes of limitations and the resolution of various disputed items The lower 2010 rate was

primarily attributable to $152 million tax benefit that resulted from worthless stock deduction for the

tax restructuring of foreign subsidiary in the fourth quarter partially offset by an increase in the valuation

allowance associated with net operating losses Factors affecting the effective tax rates for 2010 2012 are

discussed further under Corporate Tax and Other Matters below

Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation were $2.71 per diluted share in 2012 compared to

$3.40 and $1.98 per diluted share in 2011 and 2010 respectively Net earnings attributable to Fluor

Corporation in 2012 reflected the pre-tax charge of $416 million $1.57 per diluted share for the Greater

Gabbard Project noted above Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation in 2012 also included

pre-tax gain of $43 million $0.16 per diluted share on the sale of the companys unconsolidated interest in

telecommunications company located in the United Kingdom Net earnings attributable to Fluor

Corporation in 2011 reflected the pre-tax charges of $60 million $0.21 per diluted share for the Greater

Gabbard Project Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation in 2010 included the negative impact of

the following pre-tax charges $343 million $1.79 per diluted share for the Greater Gabbard Project

$95 million $0.33 per diluted share for completed infrastructure joint venture project in California and

$91 million $0.31 per diluted share for gas-fired power project in Georgia Net earnings attributable to

Fluor Corporation in 2010 also included the $152 million $0.84 per diluted share tax benefit described

above for the tax restructuring of foreign subsidiary significant portion of this tax benefit resulted

from the financial impact of the Greater Gabbard Project charges on the foreign subsidiary

Consolidated new awards for 2012 were $27.1 billion compared to $26.9 billion in 2011 and

$27.4 billion in 2010 The major contributors of new award activity for all three years were the Oil Gas
and Industrial Infrastructure segments Approximately 77 percent of consolidated new awards for 2012

were for projects located outside of the United States
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Consolidated backlog was $38.2 billion as of December 31 2012 $39.5 billion as of December 31

2011 and $34.9 billion as of December 31 2010 The Oil Gas and Industrial Infrastructure segments

made up the vast majority
of backlog for all three years

and drove the increase in backlog in 2012 and 2011

compared to 2010 As of December 31 2012 approximately 75 percent of consolidated backlog related to

projects
located outside of the United States

For more detailed discussion of operating performance of each business segment corporate general

and administrative expense and other items see Segment Operations and Corporate Tax and

Other Matters below

Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies

The companys discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations is based

upon its Consolidated Financial Statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States The companys significant accounting policies are

described in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements The preparation of the Consolidated

Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities revenue and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities Estimates are based on information available as of the date of the financial statements and

accordingly actual results in future periods could differ from these estimates Significant judgments and

estimates used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements apply to the following critical

accounting policies

Engineering and Construction Contracts Contract revenue is recognized on the percentage-of-

completion method based on contract cost incurred to date compared to total estimated contract cost

Contracts are generally segmented between types of services such as engineering and construction and

accordingly gross margin related to each activity is recognized as those separate services are rendered The

percentage-of-completion method of revenue recognition requires the company to prepare estimates of

cost to complete for contracts in progress In making such estimates judgments are required to evaluate

contingencies such as potential variances in schedule and the cost of materials labor cost and productivity

the impact of change orders liability claims contract disputes and achievement of contractual

performance standards Changes in total estimated contract cost and losses if any are recognized in the

period they are determined Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred The majority of the companys

engineering and construction contracts provide for reimbursement of cost plus
fixed or percentage fee

As of December 31 2012 85 percent of the companys backlog was cost reimbursable while 15 percent was

for fixed-price lump-sum or guaranteed maximum contracts In certain instances the company provides

guaranteed completion dates and/or achievement of other performance criteria Failure to meet schedule

or performance guarantees could result in unrealized incentive fees or liquidated damages In addition

increases in contract cost can result in non-recoverable cost which could exceed revenue realized from the

projects

Claims arising from engineering and construction contracts have been made against the company by

clients and the company has made claims against clients for cost incurred in excess of current contract

provisions The company recognizes revenue but not profit for certain significant claims when it is

determined that recovery
of incurred cost is probable and the amounts can be reliably estimated Under

ASC 605-35-25 these requirements are satisfied when the contract or other evidence provides legal basis

for the claim additional costs were caused by circumstances that were unforeseen at the contract date and

not the result of deficiencies in the companys performance claim-related costs are identifiable and

considered reasonable in view of the work performed and evidence supporting the claim is objective and

verifiable Cost but not profit associated with unapproved change orders is accounted for in revenue when

it is probable that the cost will be recovered through change in the contract price In circumstances where

recovery
is considered probable but the revenue cannot be reliably estimated cost attributable to change

orders is deferred pending determination of the impact on contract price If the requirements for

recognizing revenue for claims or unapproved change orders are met revenue is recorded only to the

extent that costs associated with the claims or unapproved change orders have been incurred Recognized
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claims against clients amounted to $20 million and $298 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively Claim revenue of $278 million for the Greater Gabbard Project was reversed in the fourth

quarter of 2012 when the company no longer believed the recovery of its incurred cost was probable as

result of the unexpected adverse arbitration ruling

Backlog in the engineering and construction industry is measure of the total dollar value of work to

be performed on contracts awarded and in progress Although backlog reflects business that is considered

to be firm cancellations or scope adjustments may occur Backlog is adjusted to reflect any known project

cancellations revisions to project scope and cost and deferrals as appropriate

Engineering and Construction Partnerships and Joint Ventures Certain contracts are executed jointly

through partnership and joint venture arrangements with unrelated third parties Generally these

arrangements are characterized by 50 percent or less ownership interest that requires only small initial

investment The arrangements are often formed for the single business purpose of executing specific

project and allow the company to share risks and br secure specialty skills required for project execution

The company evaluates each partnership and joint venture at inception to determine if it qualifies as

variable interest entity VIE under ASC 810 variable interest entity is an entity used for business

purposes that either does not have equity investors with voting rights or has equity investors who

are not required to provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities without

additional subordinated financial support The majority of the companys partnerships and joint ventures

qualify as VIEs because the total equity investment is typically nominal and not sufficient to permit the

entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support Upon the occurrence of

certain events outlined in ASC 810 the company reassesses its initial determination of whether the

partnership or joint venture is VIE

The company also evaluates whether it is the primary beneficiary of each VIE and consolidates the

VIE if the company has both the power to direct the economically significant activities of the entity and

the obligation to absorb losses of or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially

be significant to the VIE The company considers the contractual agreements that define the ownership

structure distribution of profits and losses risks responsibilities indebtedness voting rights and board

representation of the respective parties in determining whether it qualifies as the primary beneficiary The

company also considers all parties that have direct or implicit variable interests when determining whether

it is the primary beneficiary In most cases the company does not qualify as the primary beneficiary When
the company is determined to be the primary beneficiary the VIE is consolidated As required by ASC
810 managements assessment of whether the company is the primary beneficiary of VIE is continuously

performed

For partnerships and joint ventures in the construction industry unless full consolidation is required
the company generally recognizes its proportionate share of revenue cost and profit in its Consolidated

Statement of Earnings and uses the one-line equity method of accounting in the Consolidated Balance

Sheet as allowed under ASC 810-10-45-14 At times the cost and equity methods of accounting are also

used depending on the companys respective ownership interest amount of influence in the VIE and other

factors The most significant application of the proportionate consolidation method is in the Oil Gas
Industrial Infrastructure and Government segments

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to annual impairment tests

Interim testing for impairment is performed if indicators of potential impairment exist For purposes of

impairment testing goodwill is allocated to the applicable reporting units based on the current reporting

structure When testing goodwill for impairment the company first compares the fair value of each

reporting unit with its carrying amount If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds its fair value
second

step is performed to measure the amount of potential impairment In the second step the company
compares the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting units

goodwill If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill

an impairment loss is recognized During 2012 the company completed its annual goodwill impairment

tests in the first quarter and determined that none of the goodwill was impaired because the fair value of
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each reporting unit substantially exceeded its carrying amount The company also performed an interim

goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter
of 2012 for the Industrial Infrastructure segment after the

Greater Gabbard Project charge and quantitatively determined that none of the segments goodwill was

impaired

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are subject to annual impairment tests

Interim testing for impairment is performed if indicators of potential impairment exist An intangible asset

with an indefinite life is impaired if its carrying value exceeds its fair value As of December 31 2012 none

of the companys intangible assets with indefinite lives were impaired Intangible assets with finite lives are

amortized on straight-line
basis over the useful lives of those assets ranging from one year to ten years

Deferred Taxes and Tax Contingencies Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the

expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the companys financial

statements or tax returns As of December 31 2012 the company had deferred tax assets of $659 million

which were partially
offset by valuation allowance of $230 million and further reduced by deferred tax

liabilities of $99 million The valuation allowance reduces certain deferred tax assets to amounts that are

more likely than not to be realized The allowance for 2012 primarily relates to the deferred tax assets on

certain net operating and capital loss carryforwards for U.S and non-U.S subsidiaries and certain reserves

on investments The company evaluates the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its valuation

allowance and by adjusting
the amount of such allowance if necessary The factors used to assess the

likelihood of realization are the companys forecast of future taxable income and available tax planning

strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets Failure to achieve forecasted

taxable income in the applicable taxing jurisdictions could affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax

assets and could result in an increase in the companys effective tax rate on future earnings

Income tax positions must meet more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to be recognized

Income tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in

the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met Previously recognized tax

positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not
threshold are derecognized in the first subsequent

financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met The company recognizes potential

interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within its global operations in income tax

expense

Retirement Benefits The company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans in accordance with

ASC 715-30 Defined Benefit Plans Pension As required by ASC 715-30 the unfunded or overfunded

projected benefit obligation is recognized in the companys financial statements Assumptions concerning

discount rates long-term rates of return on plan assets and rates of increase in compensation levels are

determined based on the current economic environment in each host country at the end of each respective

annual reporting period The company evaluates the funded status of each of its retirement plans using

these current assumptions and determines the appropriate funding level considering applicable regulatory

requirements tax deductibility reporting considerations and other factors Assuming no changes in current

assumptions the company expects to fund between $30 million and $60 million for the calendar year 2013

which is expected to be in excess of the minimum funding required If the discount rates were reduced by

25 basis points plan liabilities for the U.S and non-U.S plans
would increase by approximately $20 million

and $39 million respectively

Segment Operations

The company provides professional services on global basis in the fields of engineering

procurement construction maintenance and project management The company is organized into five

principal business segments Oil Gas Industrial Infrastructure Government Global Services and

Power For more information on the business segments see Item Business above
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Oil Gas

Revenue and segment profit for the Oil Gas segment are summarized as follows

Year Ended December 31

in millions 2012 2011 2010

Revenue $9513.9 $7961.7 $7740.0

Segment profit 334.7 275.6 344.0

Revenue for 2012 increased nearly 20 percent compared to the prior year as result of higher project

execution activities for several projects in the segment including coal bed methane gas project in

Australia grassroots petrochemical complex in the Middle East and major mine replacement project in

Canada Revenue in 2011 increased three percent compared to 2010 primarily because of increased

construction-related activities including greater content of customer-furnished materials for projects that

were awarded in 2010

Segment profit in 2012 increased 21 percent compared to 2011 and was driven by the higher project

execution activities associated with the current year revenue increase including higher contributions from

the coal bed methane gas project in Australia as well as numerous other projects in various geographic

regions Segment profit in 2011 decreased 20 percent compared to 2010 primarily because the 2010 results

were favorably impacted by contributions of certain large projects that were completed or nearing

completion as well as various other projects that achieved their peak earnings that year In addition 2010

segment profit was favorably impacted by the successful resolution of some disputed items and the

expiration of certain warranty obligations

Segment profit margin was 3.5 percent in both 2012 and 2011 compared to 4.4 percent in 2010 The

reduction in segment profit margin in the two more recent years compared to 2010 was primarily due to

shift in the mix of work from higher margin engineering activities to lower margin construction activities

The successful resolution of some disputed items and the expiration of certain warranty obligations in 2010

also contributed to the higher segment profit margin in 2010 relative to 2012 and 2011

New awards in the Oil Gas segment were $12.6 billion in 2012 $8.3 billion in 2011 and $9.7 billion

in 2010 New awards in 2012 included an oil sands bitumen processing facility in Canada gas processing

project in Kazakhstan and petrochemicals complex in the United States New awards in 2011 included

petrochemicals complex in the Middle East and upstream services associated with an oil sands bitumen

processing facility in Canada

Backlog for the Oil Gas segment was $18.2 billion as of December 31 2012 compared to

$15.1 billion as of December 31 2011 and $14.3 billion as of December 31 2010 Although market

conditions remain very competitive the increase in backlog reflects the improvement in the segments

markets particularly the increasing worldwide demand for new capacity in oil and gas production

including pipelines rcfining and petrochemicals

Total assets in the segment increased to $1.7 billion as of December 31 2012 from $1.2 billion as of

December 31 2011 due to higher levels of working capital being needed to support project execution

activities
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Industrial Infrastructure

Revenue and segment profit loss for the Industrial Infrastructure segment are summarized as

follows

Year Ended December 31

in millions 2012 2011 2010

Revenue $12195.7 $9700.4 $6867.2

Segment profit loss 124.3 389.3 169.7

Revenue in 2012 increased 26 percent compared to 2011 and revenue in 2011 increased 41 percent

from 2010 primarily due to substantial growth in the mining and metals business line

Segment profit and segment profit margin decreased significantly in 2012 compared to 2011 as result

of $416 million pre-tax charge in the fourth quarter of 2012 due to an unexpected adverse decision in the

arbitration proceedings related to the companys claims for additional compensation on the Greater

Gabbard Project The 2012 Greater Gabbard Project charges were somewhat offset by the favorable

impact on segment profit of the substantially higher level of project execution activities related to the

growth in the mining and metals business line noted above and pre-tax gain of $43 million on the

October 2012 sale of the companys unconsolidated interest in telecommunications company located in

the United Kingdom that was formed in connection with the development and construction of previously

completed project Segment profit for 2012 also included positive contributions from various infrastructure

projects including $21 million due to the achievement of significant progress milestones on one project

$20 million as an infrastructure road project neared completion and $19 million for fees earned at

financial closing for another infrastructure road project During 2011 the segment recorded charges

totaling $60 million for the Greater Gabbard Project due to increased costs associated with project

execution activities These charges were largely offset by positive contributions from other projects
in the

segment during the year including $20 million for forecast adjustments due to the achievement of progress

milestones on two infrastructure road projects $11 million from the closeout of an infrastructure project

$11 million of costs recovered in settlement with bankrupt client for fixed-price infrastructure joint

venture project discussed in more detail below and $10 million related to the favorable resolution of

certain disputed items and the achievement of incentive targets on mining project

Segment profit and segment profit margin increased substantially in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily

because the earlier period included the impact of significant charges for the Greater Gabbard Project and

another infrastructure project For the Greater Gabbard Project charges totaling $343 million were taken

in 2010 for estimated cost overruns for variety of execution challenges that impacted the schedule and

project cost forecast including material and equipment delivery issues productivity issues the bankruptcy

of major subcontractor and weather-related delays In addition the segment recorded charge of

$95 million during 2010 after an adverse bankruptcy court ruling on the priority of claims made by its joint

venture against bankrupt client entity for completed $700 million fixed-price infrastructure joint

venture project in California As result of the ruling the company determined that the likelihood of

recovering cost overruns resulting from owner-directed scope changes was no longer considered probable

As noted in the preceding paragraph the segment recorded charges of $60 million for Greater Gabbard in

2011 that were offset by positive contributions from various projects Segment profit in 2011 was also

favorably impacted by significantly higher level of project execution activities associated with the growth

in the mining and metals business line relative to 2010 The 2010 charges for the two infrastructure projects

were offset somewhat by positive contributions from other projects in the segment during the year which

included solid overall contributions from the mining and metals business line as well as $16 million of fees

earned at financial closing for an infrastructure rail project $13 million for the final negotiated settlement

and closeout of both an infrastructure road project and an infrastructure telecommunications project and

$11 million for the approval of significant change order for another infrastructure road project
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The company is involved in dispute in connection with the substantially completed Greater Gabbard

Project As noted above in the fourth quarter of 2012 the company received an unexpected adverse

decision in the arbitration proceedings related to the companys claims for additional compensation on the

project The claim related to delays in the fabrication of monopiles and transition pieces along with certain

disruption and productivity issues associated with construction activities and weather-related delays that

the company believed would he recovered in arbitration due to the companys belief the schedule and cost

impacts were attributable to the client and other third parties As noted above and as result of the

adverse decision the company recorded charge of $416 million in the fourth quarter of 2012 The charge

was primarily comprised of the reversal of claim revenue of $278 million that had been recorded in prior

periods for costs incurred when the company believed the recovery of such costs was probable under

ASC 605-35-25 and significant portion of the $150 million contractual maximum of liquidated damages

that the client had previously withheld and the company believed were recoverable as well as additional

costs expected to be incurred through close-out of the project The client has filed counterclaim against

the company seeking to recover approximately $100 million for past and future costs associated with

among other things monitoring certain monopiles and transition pieces for alleged defects The
counterclaim is currently scheduled for hearing in April 2013 While the ultimate outcome of the hearing is

uncertain the company believes that the monopiles and transition pieces meet applicable performance

requirements and therefore does not believe that loss associated with the counterclaim is probable As

result the company has not recorded charge under ASC 450 To the extent the clients counterclaim is

successful there could be substantial charge to earnings See 13 Contingencies and Commitments
below in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the legal proceedings

related to the Greater Gabbard Project

New awards in the Industrial Infrastructure segment were $9.5 billion during 2012 $12.2 billion

during 2011 and $12.5 billion during 2010 New awards in 2012 were primarily attributable to the mining
and metals business line The lower new award activity in 2012 was attributable to the deferral of major

capital investment decisions by some mining customers due to project cost escalation softening commodity

demand and project-specific circumstances The timing of when capital investment by these mining

customers could resume is uncertain However it is possible that the weakened mining market conditions

could be prolonged New award activity in 2011 and 2010 was also primarily attributable to the mining and

metals business line with significant contributions from the infrastructure business line in 2010 The new
awards in 2011 included $6.2 billion for ongoing iron ore work in Australia as well as major copper

project in Peru The new awards in 2010 included an aluminum program in Saudi Arabia valued at

$3.4 billion $1.4 billion copper mine in Chile and $1.7 billion for an infrastructure rail project in the

United States

Ending backlog for the segment decreased to $15.5 billion for 2012 from $19.6 billion for 2011 and

$16.9 billion for 2010 The decline in 2012 backlog was due to the reduced new award volume in the mining

and metals business line during the year discussed above and cancellations of two mining projects during

the third quarter of 2012 totaling $2.0 billion The growth in backlog in 2011 was due to the substantial new
award activity in both 2011 and 2010

Total assets in the Industrial Infrastructure segment were $561 million as of December 31 2012

compared to $944 million as of December 31 2011 This decrease was due to the removal of amounts from

work in
process related to the fourth quarter 2012 charge for the Greater Gabbard Project
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Government

Revenue and segment profit for the Government segment are summarized as follows

Year Ended December 31

in millions
2012 2011 2010

Revenue $3304.7 $3398.2 $3038.0

Segment profit
149.7 145.5 142.2

Revenue in 2012 decreased slightly compared to 2011 primarily due to the close-out of the American

Recovery and Reinvestment Act ARRA funded work at the Savannah River Site Management and

Operating Project the Savannah River Project in South Carolina Revenue in 2011 increased

12 percent compared to 2010 principally due to an increase in the volume of work for the Logistics Civil

Augmentation Program LOGCAP IV for the United States Army in Afghanistan Project execution

activities associated with the gaseous diffusion plant contract for the Department of Energy in Portsmouth

Ohio the Portsmouth Project awarded in the first quarter
of 2011 also contributed to the 2011

revenue increase though the impact was largely offset by reduction in revenue attributable to the

winding down of the ARRA funded work at the Savannah River Project and the completion of many task

orders for the U.S Army Corps of Engineers Transatlantic Programs Center CETAC logistics program

in Iraq

Segment profit during 2012 and 2011 increased three percent and two percent compared to 2011 and

2010 respectively The modest improvement in segment profit in 2012 was primarily due to additional

contributions from project execution activities on LOGCAP IV task orders which more than offset

charges totaling $13 million related to an adverse judgment in the first quarter
of 2012 associated with the

companys claim on an embassy project discussed below in 13 Contingencies and Commitments in the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements An agreement has been reached to change the LOGCAP IV

award fee to fixed fee and address other open contract issues As result of this agreement the company

recognized additional segment profit of $17 million in the fourth quarter of 2012 which largely offset the

impact of an unexpected lower award fee for LOGCAP IV in the third quarter of 2012 The slight growth

in segment profit for 2011 was mostly attributable to increased volume on LOGCAP IV task orders The

Portsmouth Project also contributed to the growth in segment profit though reduced contributions from

both CETAC task orders and work at the Savannah River Project more than offset its positive impact

Segment profit margin was 4.5 percent 4.3 percent and 4.7 percent for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

New awards were $3.2 billion during 2012 $3.7 billion during 2011 and $2.8 billion during 2010 The

decrease in 2012 was primarily due to reduction in LOGCAP IV new award activity that corresponded to

lower volume and the timing of incremental task order awards as well as less funding for the Portsmouth

Project for which 2011 as the initial year of the contract included amounts for both transition period and

the projects annual funding The increase in new award activity in 2011 was primarily attributable to the

initial contract funding for the Portsmouth Project and increased funding for LOGCAP IV task orders

New awards in 2012 and 2011 also included the annual funding for the Savannah River Project The

company reports new awards for LOGCAP IV as individual task orders are awarded and funded

Backlog was $978 million as of December 31 2012 $1.1 billion as of December 31 2011 and

$751 million as of December 31 2010 The decline in backlog in 2012 was attributable to the reduced new

award activity for LOGCAP IV and the work off of backlog for the ARRA funded work at the Savannah

River Project The growth in backlog during 2011 was driven by the initial contract funding for the

Portsmouth Project and increased funding for LOGCAP IV task orders

Total assets in the Government segment were $827 million as of December 31 2012 and $800 million

as of December 31 2011
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Global Services

Revenue and segment profit for the Global Services segment are summarized as follows

Year Ended December 31

in millions 2012 2011 2010

Revenue $1721.7 $1577.7 $1508.6

Segment profit 177.6 151.8 133.3

Revenue in 2012 increased nine percent compared to 2011 primarily due to the equipment business

lines increased volume of activity in South America Mexico and Canada The operations and

maintenance temporary staffing and supply chain solutions business lines also contributed to the revenue

increase Revenue in 2011 increased five percent compared to 2010 principally due to the equipment

business line which experienced higher volume of work in Afghanistan and South America decrease in

2011 revenue attributable to the close-out of the Gulf Coast oil spill cleanup project in 2010 was offset by

an increase in other 2011 operations and maintenance business line project execution activities and an

increase in revenue in the temporary staffing business line

Segment profit during 2012 increased 17 percent compared to 2011 primarily due to contributions

from the operations and maintenance business line which experienced higher contributions from various

domestic and international projects The temporary staffing business line also contributed to the increase

in segment profit due to improvement in its North American and European operations Segment profit

during 2011 increased 14 percent compared to 2010 primarily due to the improved performance from the

equipment business line as noted above Increased segment profit in 2011 from the temporary staffing

business line was offset by decrease in contributions from the operations and maintenance business line

the latter of which was primarily the result of the close-out of the Gulf Coast oil spill cleanup project in

2010

Segment profit margin was 10.3 percent 9.6 percent and 8.8 percent for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Segment profit margin for 2012 was higher compared to

2011 due to improvement in margins from the operations and maintenance business line Segment profit

margin for 2011 was higher compared to 2010 due to improvement in margins in the equipment business

lines activities in Afghanistan and South America

New awards in the Global Services segment were $904 million during 2012 $1.0 billion during 2011

and $1.6 billion during 2010 The operations and maintenance business line continues to experience

reduced renewal agreements with existing clients as well as delayed new client releases

Backlog for the Global Services segment was $1.7 billion as of December 31 2012 $1.9 billion as of

December 31 2011 and $2.1 billion as of December 31 2010 Operations and maintenance activities that

have yet to be performed comprise Global Services backlog Short-duration operations and maintenance

activities may not contribute to ending backlog The equipment temporary staffing and supply chain

solutions business lines do not report backlog or new awards

Total assets in the Global Services segment were $960 million as of December 31 2012 and

$935 million as of December 31 2011
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Power

Revenue and segment profit loss for the Power segment are summarized as follows

Year Ended December 31

in millions 2012 2011 2010

Revenue $841.1 $743.4 $1695.5

Segment profit loss 16.9 81.1 170.9

Revenue in 2012 was 13 percent higher compared to 2011 primarily attributable to projects awarded

in 2011 and 2012 including new gas-fired power plant project in Texas and new solar power projects in

Arizona and California The prior year period included project execution activities for several projects

which have since been completed including gas-fired power plants in Texas Virginia and Georgia

Revenue in 2011 decreased 56 percent compared to 2010 primarily due to the expected reduction in

project execution activities on several projects which had reached or were near final completion including

the Oak Grove coal-fired power project in Texas for Luminant unit of Energy Future Holdings

Corporation gas-fired power plants in Texas and Virginia and pre-construction services on nuclear new

build project in Texas as well as reduced volume on certain other projects progressing toward completion

Segment profit and segment profit margin for 2012 declined significantly compared to 2011

principally due to reduced contributions from several completed projects including the gas-fired power

plants in Texas and Virginia and expenses associated with the companys continued investment in NuScale

small modular nuclear reactor technology company in which the company acquired majority interest in

late 2011 The NuScale expenses for 2012 and 2011 were $63.4 million and $6.7 million respectively The

operations of NuScale are primarily for research and development activities Although part of the Power

segment these activities could provide future benefits to both commercial and government clients Power

segment profit during 2011 decreased 53 percent compared to 2010 principally due to reduced

contributions from the Oak Grove project The reduced contributions from other projects nearing

completion including the gas-fired power plant project in Texas pre-construction services on the nuclear

new build project in Texas and an emissions control retrofit project in South Carolina were offset by lower

charges taken for cost overruns on gas-fired power plant project in Georgia $13 million during 2011

compared to $91 million in 2010 and improved performance on the gas-fired power plant project in

Virginia due to the achievement of major milestones Segment profit margin in the Power segment was

10.9 percent and 10.1 percent for 2011 and 2010 respectively and are explained by the factors noted above

that impacted revenue and segment profit for those years

The Power segment continues to be impacted by relatively weak demand for new power generation

Market segments that are best suited to yield new near-term opportunities include gas-fired combined

cycle generation renewable energy regional transmission feasibility additions and air emissions

compliance projects for existing coal-fired power plants New awards of $884 million in 2012 included

new solar power project in California New awards of $1.6 billion in 2011 included an air emissions control

construction program for Luminant new gas-fired power plant project in Texas and new solar power

project in Arizona New awards of $757 million in 2010 included work for nuclear preconstruction services

and the renewal of the Luminant system-wide fossil maintenance program in Texas

Backlog was $1.9 billion as of December 31 2012 $1.8 billion as of December 31 2011 and

$972 million as of December 31 2010 The increase in backlog in 2011 was principally driven by the 2011

new awards mentioned in the preceding paragraph which were awarded in the latter part of the year

Total assets in the Power segment were $121 million as of December 31 2012 and $191 million as of

December 31 2011 The decrease in the segments total assets in 2012 was attributed to reduction in

project working capital
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Corporate Tax and Other Matters

Corporate For the three years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 corporate general and

administrative expenses were $151 million $163 million and $156 million respectively The eight percent

reduction in 2012 corporate general and administrative expenses compared to 2011 was the net result of

many factors including lower executive bonuses and reduced foreign currency losses in the current year

The five percent increase in 2011 corporate general and administrative expenses compared to 2010 was

primarily the result of higher management incentive compensation and foreign currency losses offset

somewhat by overhead reduction efforts and other factors

Net interest expense was $0.5 million for the year ended December 31 2012 compared to net interest

income of $16 million and $11 million for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Interest expense was considerably higher in 2012 due to the $500 million of 3.375% Senior Notes that were

issued in September 2011 The increase in net interest income in 2011 was due to higher cash balances in

certain international locations that earn higher yields offset partially by an increase in interest expense due

to the issuance of the 3.375% Senior Notes discussed above

Tax The effective tax rate on the companys pretax earnings was 22.1 percent 30.3 percent and

21.2 percent for the years 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The 2012 rate was favorably impacted by the

release of previously unrecognized tax benefits of $13 million related to settlement with the IRS for tax

years 2003 through 2005 as well as the net reduction of tax reserves totaling $30 million attributable to

variety of domestic and international disputed items including the resolution of an uncertainty associated

with prior year tax restructuring The 2011 rate was favorably impacted by the release of previously

unrecognized tax benefits related to the expiration of statutes of limitations and the resolution of various

disputed items The lower 2010 rate was primarily attributable to $152 million tax benefit that resulted

from worthless stock deduction for the tax restructuring of foreign subsidiary in the fourth quarter

partially offset by an increase in the valuation allowance associated with net operating losses significant

portion of the $152 million tax benefit resulted from the financial impact of the 2010 Greater Gabbard

Project charges on the foreign subsidiary

Litigation and Matters in Dispute Resolution

See 13 Contingencies and Commitments below in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Liquidity and Financial Condition

Liquidity is provided by available cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities cash generated

from operations credit facilities and access to financial markets The company has committed and

uncommitted lines of credit totaling $4.4 billion which may be used for revolving loans letters of credit

and/or general purposes The company believes that for at least the next 12 months cash generated from

operations along with its unused credit capacity of $3.3 billion and substantial cash position is sufficient to

support operating requirements However the company regularly reviews its sources and uses of liquidity

and may pursue opportunities to increase its liquidity positions The companys conservative financial

strategy
and consistent performance have earned it strong credit ratings resulting in continued access to

the capital markets As of December 31 2012 the company was in compliance with all its covenants

related to its debt agreements The companys total debt to total capitalization debt-to-capital ratio as

of December 31 2012 was 13.9 percent compared to 13.6 percent as of December 31 2011

Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents were $2.2 billion as of both December 31 2012 and 2011 Cash and cash

equivalents combined with current and noncurrent marketable securities were $2.6 billion as of

December 31 2012 compared to $2.8 billion as of December 31 2011 Cash and cash equivalents are held

in numerous accounts throughout the world to fund the companys global project execution activities As of

December 31 2012 and 2011 cash and cash equivalents held outside the United States amounted to

$1.7 billion and $1.5 billion respectively The company did not consider any cash to be permanently
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reinvested overseas as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and as result has accrued the U.S deferred tax

liability on foreign earnings as appropriate

Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities result primarily from earnings sources and are impacted by

changes in operating assets and liabilities which consist primarily of working capital balances Working

capital levels vary from year to year and are primarily affected by the companys volume of work These

levels are also impacted by the mix stage of completion and commercial terms of engineering and

construction projects as well as the companys execution of its projects within budget Project working

capital requirements also vary by project For example accounts receivable and contract work in progress

relate to clients in various industries and locations throughout the world Most contracts require payments

as the projects progress The company evaluates the counterparty credit risk of third parties as part of its

project risk review process
and in determining the appropriate level of reserves The company maintains

adequate reserves for potential credit losses and generally such losses have been minimal and within

managements estimates In the current economic environment it is more likely that such credit losses

could occur and impact working capital requirements Additionally certain projects receive advance

payments from clients normal trend for these projects is to have higher cash balances during the initial

phases of execution which then level out toward the end of the construction phase As result the

companys cash position is reduced as customer advances are worked off unless they are replaced by

advances on other projects The company maintains cash reserves and borrowing facilities to satisf any net

operating cash outflows in the event there is an investment in operating assets that exceeds the projects

available cash balances

During 2012 working capital increased primarily due to an increase in prepaid income taxes and

decrease in advance billings in the Oil Gas segment partially offset by an increase in accounts payable in

the Oil Gas segment and slight overall decrease in contract work in progress The decrease in advance

billings during 2012 resulted primarily from normal project execution activities associated with coal bed

methane gas project in Australia The higher accounts payable balance during 2012 resulted primarily from

normal invoicing and payment activities associated with major mine replacement project in Canada and

the coal bed methane gas project in Australia decrease in work in
progress

in the Industrial

Infrastructure segment which resulted primarily from the charge on the Greater Gabbard Project was

substantially offset by increases in work in progress in the Oil Gas and Government segments which

resulted from normal project execution activities associated with numerous projects in those segments

During 2011 working capital decreased primarily due to decrease in prepaid income taxes and increases

in both advance billings and accounts payable in the Oil Gas segment partially offset by increases in

contract work in progress The increases in advance billings and accounts payable during 2011 resulted

primarily from normal project execution activities associated with numerous projects The increase in work

in
progress during 2011 resulted from normal project execution activities associated with numerous

projects as well as amounts funded for the losses and claim on the Greater Gabbard Project During 2010

working capital increased primarily due to higher accounts receivable balance as well as amounts funded

for the losses and claim on the Greater Gabbard Project and gas-fired power project in Georgia The

higher accounts receivable balance in 2010 was the net result of normal billing and collection activities

associated with numerous projects and not indicative of any significant collection or liquidity issue

Cash provided by operating activities was $628 million $890 million and $551 million in 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively The decrease in cash flows from operating activities in 2012 compared to 2011 was

primarily attributable to the significant increase in working capital during 2012 compared to the relatively

small decrease in working capital during 2011 which are discussed in the preceding paragraphs Cash

provided by operating activities improved in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to increases in earnings

sources and positive cash flows resulting from net reduction in working capital partially offset by higher

retirement plan contributions

The company had net cash outlays of $175 million $382 million and $277 million during 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively to fund the project execution activities for the Greater Gabbard Project The client
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has filed counterclaim against the company seeking to recover costs associated with alleged defects as

discussed in Results of Operations Industrial Infrastructure above and 13 Contingencies and

Commitments in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements To the extent the clients counterclaim

is successful there could be substantial charge to earnings and substantial negative impact on the cash

flows of the company

Income tax payments of $294 million in 2012 were higher than income taxes paid of $177 million and

$202 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively primarily due to higher tax payments in foreign jurisdictions

Income tax payments in 2011 were lower than income taxes paid in 2010 primarily due to the prepayment

of certain 2011 taxes in 2010

Cash from operating activities is used to provide contributions to the companys defined contribution

and defined benefit plans Contributions into the defined contribution plans during 2012 2011 and 2010

were $144 million $101 million and $93 million respectively The company contributed approximately

$57 million$122 million and $43 million into its defined benefit pension plans during 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively The increase in company contributions to defined contribution plans during 2012 was

principally the result of certain U.S plan amendments that increased employer contributions to the

primary U.S defined contribution plan and reduced contributions to the U.S defined benefit plan The

decrease in company contributions to defined benefit plans during 2012 resulted from the freezing of the

accrual of future service-related benefits for certain eligible participants of the defined benefit plans in

both the United State and United Kingdom The increase in contributions to the defined benefit pension

plans during 2011 was primarily due to lower long-term interest rates coupled with the business objective

to generally maintain plan assets in excess of accumulated benefit obligations As of December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 plan assets of all of the companys more significant benefit plans exceeded accumulated

benefit obligations

Investing Activities

Cash utilized by investing activities amounted to $38 million and $436 million in 2012 and 2011

respectively while cash provided by investing activities amounted to $218 million in 2010 The primary

investing activities included purchases sales and maturities of marketable securities capital expenditures

business acquisitions disposals of property plant and equipment and investments in partnerships and joint

ventures Investing activities in 2012 also included proceeds of $55 million from the sale of the companys

unconsolidated interest in telecommunications company located in the United Kingdom

The company holds cash in bank deposits and marketable securities which are governed by the

companys investment policy This policy focuses on in order of priority the preservation of capital

maintenance of liquidity and maximization of yield These investments include money market funds which

invest in U.S Government-related securities bank deposits placed with highly-rated financial institutions

repurchase agreements that are fully collateralized by U.S Government-related securities high-grade

commercial paper and high quality short-term and medium-term fixed income securities During 2012 and

2010 proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities exceeded purchases by $143 million and

$438 million respectively During 2011 purchases of marketable securities exceeded proceeds from sales

and maturities of such securities by $133 million The company held current and noncurrent marketable

securities of $455 million and $600 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Capital expenditures of $255 million $338 million and $265 million during 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively primarily related to construction equipment associated with equipment operations in the

Global Services segment as well as investments in information technology and the refurbishment of

facilities Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment of $78 million in 2012 and $54 million

in both 2011 and 2010 primarily related to the disposal of construction equipment associated with the

equipment operations in the Global Services segment

During 2012 the company paid $19 million to acquire an equipment company in Mozambique

During 2011 the company paid $27 million to acquire controlling interests in both NuScale Power LLC
an Oregon-based designer of small modular nuclear reactors and Goar Allison Associates
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Texas-based provider of sulfur technologies for upstream gas plants downstream refineries and

gasification The company continues to make investments in partnerships or joint ventures primarily for

the execution of single contracts or projects Investments in partnerships and joint ventures accounted for

using the cost and equity method were $31 million $8 million and $10 million in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

Financing Activities

Cash utilized by financing activities during 2012 2011 and 2010 of $617 million $396 million and

$390 million respectively
included company stock repurchases company dividend payments to

stockholders proceeds from the issuance of senior notes convertible note repayments distributions paid

to holders of noncontrolling interests and corporate-owned life insurance loan repayments

The company has common stock repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors to

purchase shares in open market or privately negotiated transactions at the companys discretion The

company repurchased 7409200 shares 10050000 shares and 3079600 shares of common stock under its

current and previously authorized stock repurchase programs resulting in cash outflows of $389 million

$640 million and $175 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively As of December 31 2012 3.8 million

shares could still be purchased under the existing stock repurchase program On February 2013 the

Board of Directors approved an increase of 8.0 million shares to the share repurchase program bringing

the total number of shares available for repurchase to 11.8 million shares

During 2012 the companys Board of Directors authorized the payment of quarterly dividends of

$0.16 per share compared to quarterly dividends of $0.125 per share in 2011 and 2010 Declared

dividends are typically paid during the month following the quarter in which they are declared However

dividends declared in the fourth quarter of 2012 were paid in December 2012 The payment and level of

future cash dividends is subject to the discretion of the companys Board of Directors Dividends of

$129 million $88 million and $90 million were paid during 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

In September 2011 the company issued $500 million of 3.375% Senior Notes the 2011 Notes due

September 15 2021 and received proceeds of $492 millionnet of underwriting discounts and debt issuance

costs Interest on the 2011 Notes is payable semi-annually on March 15 and September 15 of each year

and began on March 15 2012 The company may at any time redeem the 2011 Notes at redemption

price equal to 100 percent of the principal amount plus make whole premium described in the

indenture Additionally if change of control triggering event occurs as defined by the terms of the

indenture the company will be required to offer to purchase the 2011 Notes at purchase price equal to

101 percent of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest if any to the date of purchase

The company is generally not limited under the indenture governing the 2011 Notes in its ability to incur

additional indebtedness provided the company is in compliance with certain restrictive covenants

including restrictions on liens and restrictions on sale and leaseback transactions These covenants are not

expected to impact the companys liquidity or capital resources

In February 2004 the company issued $330 million of 1.5% Convertible Senior Notes the 2004

Notes due February 15 2024 and received proceeds of $323 million net of underwriting discounts

Proceeds from the 2004 Notes were used to pay off the then-outstanding commercial paper and

$100 million was used to obtain ownership of engineering and corporate office facilities in California

through payoff of the lease financing In December 2004 the company irrevocably elected to pay the

principal amount of the 2004 Notes in cash The 2004 Notes are convertible during any fiscal quarter if the

closing price of the companys common stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading

day-period ending on the last trading day of the previous fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to

130 percent of the conversion price in effect on that 30th trading day the trigger price The trigger price

was $35.83 as of December 31 2012 but is subject to adjustment as outlined in the indenture The trigger

price condition was satisfied during the fourth quarter of 2012 and 2011 and the 2004 Notes were therefore

classified as short-term debt as of December 31 2012 and 2011 During 2012 holders converted $1 million

of the 2004 Notes in exchange for the principal balance owed in cash plus 18899 shares of the companys
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common stock During 2011 holders converted $77 million of the 2004 Notes in exchange for the principal

balance owed in cash plus 1678095 shares of the companys common stock During 2010 holders

converted $13 million of the 2004 Notes in exchange for the principal balance owed in cash plus 184563

shares of the companys common stock The company does not know the timing or principal amount of the

remaining 2004 Notes that may be presented for conversion by the holders in the future Holders of the

2004 Notes will be entitled to require the company to purchase all or portion of their 2004 Notes at

100 percent of the principal amount plus unpaid interest on February 15 2014 and February 15 2019 The

2004 Notes are currently redeemable at the option of the company in whole or in part at 100 percent of

the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest Available cash balances will be used to satisfy any

principal and interest payments Shares of the companys common stock will be issued to satisfy any

appreciation between the conversion price and the market price on the date of conversion The carrying

value of the 2004 Notes was $18 million and $19 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Distributions paid to holders of noncontrolling interests represent cash outflows to partners
of

consolidated partnerships or joint ventures created primarily for the execution of single contracts or

projects Distributions paid were $101 million $104 million and $84 million in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively Distributions in all three years primarily related to an iron ore joint venture project in

Australia see 14 Variable Interest Entities below in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Capital contributions by joint venture partners were $3 million $23 million and $1 million in 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively Capital contributions in 2011 represent the funding of joint venture that is

providing services to the Department of Energy under contract for gaseous diffusion plant in

Portsmouth Ohio

During 2010 the company repaid $32 million in principal related to loans against the cash surrender

value of corporate-owned life insurance policies

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash

Unrealized translation gains and losses resulting from changes in functional currency exchange rates

are reflected in the cumulative translation component of accumulated other comprehensive loss During

2012 and 2010 most major foreign currencies strengthened against the U.S dollar During 2011 most

major foreign currencies weakened against the U.S dollar As result the company had unrealized

translation gains of $20 million and $68 million in 2012 and 2010 respectively and unrealized translation

losses of $31 million in 2011 related to cash held by foreign subsidiaries The cash held in foreign

currencies will primarily be used for project-related expenditures in those currencies and therefore the

companys exposure to realized exchange gains and losses is generally mitigated

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

On November 2012 the company entered into $1.8 billion Revolving Loan and Letter of Credit

Facility Agreement Credit Facility that matures in 2017 Borrowings on the Credit Facility are to bear

interest at rates based on the London Interbank Offered Rate LEBOR or an alternative base rate plus

an applicable borrowing margin The Credit Facility may be increased up to an additional $500 million

subject to certain conditions and contains customary financial and restrictive covenants including

maximum ratio of consolidated debt to tangible net worth of one-to-one and cap on the aggregate

amount of debt of $600 million for the companys subsidiaries On the same day the company terminated

its $800 million Revolving Loan and Financial Letter of Credit Facility and its $500 million Letter of Credit

Facility and all outstanding letters of credit thereunder were assigned or otherwise transferred to the new

Credit Facility

In conjunction with the Credit Facility the company also amended its existing $1.2 billion Revolving

Performance Letter of Credit Facility PLOC Facility dated December 14 2010 The cap on the PLOC

Facility for the aggregate amount of debt for the company subsidiaries was increased from $500 million to

$600 million subject to certain conditions
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As of December 31 2012 the company had combination of committed and uncommitted lines of

credit that totaled $4.4 billion These lines may be used for revolving loans letters of credit and/or general

purposes Letters of credit are provided in the ordinary course of business primarily to indemnify the

companys clients if the company fails to perform its obligations under its contracts As of December 31

2012 $1.1 billion in letters of credit were outstanding under these committed and uncommitted lines of

credit As an alternative to letters of credit surety bonds are also used as form of credit enhancement

Guarantees Inflation and Variable Interest Entities

Guarantees

In the ordinary course of business the company enters into various agreements providing

performance assurances and guarantees to clients on behalf of certain consolidated and unconsolidated

partnerships joint ventures and other jointly executed contracts These agreements are entered into

primarily to support the project execution commitments of these entities The performance guarantees

have various expiration dates ranging from mechanical completion of the facilities being constructed to

period extending beyond contract completion in certain circumstances The maximum potential payment

amount of an outstanding performance guarantee is the remaining cost of work to be performed by or on

behalf of third parties under engineering and construction contracts Amounts that may be required to be

paid in excess of estimated cost to complete contracts in
progress are not estimable For cost reimbursable

contracts amounts that may become payable pursuant to guarantee provisions are normally recoverable

from the client for work performed under the contract For lump-sum or fixed-price contracts the

performance guarantee amount is the cost to complete the contracted work less amounts remaining to be

billed to the client under the contract Remaining billable amounts could be
greater or less than the cost to

complete In those cases where costs exceed the remaining amounts payable under the contract the

company may have recourse to third parties such as owners co-venturers subcontractors or vendors for

claims Performance guarantees outstanding as of December 31 2012 were estimated to be $3.8 billion of

which an immaterial amount was recorded as liability in accordance with ASC 460 Guarantees

Financial guarantees made in the ordinary course of business in certain limited circumstances are

entered into with financial institutions and other credit grantors and generally obligate the company to

make payment in the event of default by the borrower These arrangements generally require the

borrower to pledge collateral to support the fulfillment of the borrowers obligation

Inflation

Although inflation and cost trends affect the company its engineering and construction operations are

generally protected by the ability to fix the companys cost at the time of bidding or to recover cost

increases in cost reimbursable contracts The company has taken actions to reduce its dependence on

external economic conditions however management is unable to predict with certainty the amount and

mix of future business

Variable Interest Entities

In the normal course of business the company forms partnerships or joint ventures primarily for the

execution of single contracts or projects The company evaluates each partnership and joint venture to

determine whether the entity is VIE If the entity is determined to be VIE the company assesses

whether it is the primary beneficiary and needs to consolidate the entity

For further discussion of the companys VIEs see Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies above

and 14 Variable Interest Entities below in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Contractual Obligations

Contractual Obligations as of December 31 2012 are summarized as follows

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total year or less 23 years 45 years Over years

in millions

Debt

3.375% Senior Notes 496 $496

1.5% Convertible Senior Notes 18 18

5.625% Municipal Bonds1 18 18

Notes Payable including noncurrent portion

Interest on debt obligations2 169 18 35 35 81

Operating leases3 292 49 92 64 87

Capital leases 23 10

Uncertain tax contingencies4 33 33

Joint venture contributions 41 17 24

Pension minimum funding5 27 10

Other post-employment benefits 31 10

Other compensation-related obligations6 379 44 63 44 228

Total $1536 $169 $245 $169 $953

The contractual maturity of the 5.625% Municipal Bonds is June 2019 In January 2013 the

company redeemed the $18 million principal amount of the bonds at price of 100 percent of their

principal amount

Interest is based on the borrowings that are presently outstanding and the timing of payments

indicated in the above table

Operating leases are primarily for engineering and project execution office facilities in Sugar Land
Texas the United Kingdom and various other U.S and international locations equipment used in

connection with long-term construction contracts and other personal property

Uncertain tax contingencies are positions taken or expected to be taken on an income tax return that

may result in additional payments to tax authorities The total amount of uncertain tax contingencies

is included in the Over years column as the company is not able to reasonably estimate the timing

of potential future payments If tax authority agrees with the tax position taken or expected to be

taken or the applicable statute of limitations expires then additional payments will not be necessary

The company generally provides funding to its U.S and non-U.S pension plans to at least the

minimum required by applicable regulations In determining the minimum required funding the

company utilizes current actuarial assumptions and exchange rates to forecast estimates of amounts

that may be payable for up to five
years

in the future In managements judgment minimum funding

estimates beyond five-year time horizon cannot be reliably estimated Where minimum funding as

determined for each individual plan would not achieve funded status to the level of accumulated

benefit obligations additional discretionary funding may be provided from available cash resources

Principally deferred executive compensation

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Cash and marketable securities are deposited with major banks throughout the world Such deposits

are placed with high quality institutions and the amounts invested in any single institution are limited to

the extent possible in order to minimize concentration of counterparty credit risk Marketable securities

consist of time deposits registered money market funds U.S agency securities U.S Treasury securities
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commercial paper international government securities and corporate debt securities The company has not

incurred any credit risk losses related to deposits in cash and marketable securities

The company limits exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in most of its engineering and

construction contracts through provisions
that require client payments in currencies corresponding to the

currency in which cost is incurred As result the company generally does not need to hedge foreign

currency cash flows for contract work performed However in cases where revenue and expenses are not

denominated in the same currency the company hedges its exposure if material as discussed below

The company utilizes derivative instruments to mitigate certain financial exposure including currency

and commodity price risk associated with engineering and construction contracts currency risk associated

with intercompany transactions and risk associated with interest rate volatility The company does not

enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes As of December 31 2012 the company had

foreign exchange forward contracts of less than two year duration and total gross
notional amount of

$225 million As of December 31 2012 the company had commodity swap forward contracts of less than

two years
duration and total gross notional amount of $1 million The companys historical gains and

losses associated with derivative instruments have been immaterial and have largely mitigated the

exposures being hedged

The companys long-term debt obligations carry fixed-rate coupon and its exposure to interest rate

risk is not material due to the low interest rates on these obligations

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is submitted as separate section of this Form 10-K See

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules below

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation as of December 31 2012 which is the end of the period covered by this

annual report on Form 10-K our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded

that our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e or 15d-15e of the Exchange

Act are effective based upon an evaluation of those controls and procedures required by paragraph of

Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 of the Exchange Act

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

The companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed as defined in Rule 13a-15f

under the Exchange Act to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting

and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles in the United States

In connection with the preparation of the companys annual consolidated financial statements

management of the company has undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of the companys internal

control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO

Framework Managements assessment included an evaluation of the design of the companys internal

control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of the companys internal
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control over financial reporting Based on this assessment management has concluded that the companys
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2012

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with

the policies or procedures may deteriorate

49



Ernst Young LLP the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the companys

consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K has issued an attestation

report on the effectiveness of the companys internal control over financial reporting which appears below

Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Fluor Corporation

We have audited Fluor Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Fluor Corporations

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in

all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial

reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance

of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the

assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention

or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance

with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Fluor Corporation maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the consolidated balance sheets of Fluor Corporation as of December 31 2012 and

2011 and the related consolidated statements of earnings comprehensive income cash flows and changes

in equity
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 of Fluor Corporation and our

report dated February 20 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is/Ernst Young LLP

Dallas Texas

February 20 2013
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter

of the fiscal year ending December 31 2012 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to

materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following information is being furnished with respect to the companys executive officers

Except where otherwise indicated all references are to positions held with Fluor Corporation or one

of its subsidiaries All of the officers listed in the preceding table serve in their respective capacities at

the pleasure of the Board of Directors

Ray Barnard

Mr Barnard has been Senior Vice President Information Technology Execution Services since

January 2013 Prior to that he was Senior Vice President Information Technology since February 2002
Mr Barnard joined the company in 2002

Stephen Dobbs

Mr Dobbs has been Senior Group President Industrial Infrastructure since January 2012 Prior to

that he was Senior Group President Industrial Infrastructure and Global Services from March 2009 to

January 2012 Senior Group President Industrial Infrastructure Government and Global Services from

March 2007 to March 2009 Group President Industrial Infrastructure from September 2005 to March

2007 President Infrastructure from 2002 to September 2005 and President Transportation from 2001 to

2002 Mr Dobbs joined the company in 1980

David Dunning

Mr Dunning has been Group President Business Development Strategy since January 2013 Prior

to that he was Group President Power from March 2009 to January 2013 Senior Vice President Sales

Marketing and Strategic Planning for Power from March 2006 to March 2009 Vice President Sales for the

Age Position with the CompanyName

Ray Barnard

Stephen Dobbs

David Dunning

Garry Flowers

Glenn Gilkey

Kirk Grimes

Carlos Hernandez...

Peter Oosterveer

Biggs Porter

David Seaton

Gary Smalley

Bruce Stanski

54 Senior Vice President Information Technology Execution Services

56 Senior Group President Industrial Infrastructure

61 Group President Business Development Strategy

61 Group President Global Services

54 Senior Vice President Human Resources and Administration

55 Group President Supply Chain

58 Senior Vice President Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

55 Group President Oil Gas

59 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

51 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

54 Senior Vice President and Controller

52 Group President Government
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Power Group from July 2003 to March 2006 and Vice President Sales for the Duke/Fluor Daniel

partnership from March 2001 to July 2003 Mr Dunning joined the company in 1977

Garry Flowers

Mr Flowers has been Group President Global Services since January 2012 From September 2009 to

January 2012 he was President and CEO of Savannah River Nuclear Solutions LLC which contracts with

the Federal Government for operations and maintenance of the Savannah River nuclear site Prior to that

Mr Flowers was Senior Vice President HSE Security and Industrial Relations from November 2003 to

September 2009 and Vice President Industrial Relations from December 1995 to November 2003

Mr Flowers joined the company in 1978

Glenn Gilkey

Mr Gilkey has been Senior Vice President Human Resources and Administration since June 2008

Prior to that he was Vice President Operations from June 2006 to June 2008 and Vice President

Engineering from January 2001 to June 2006 Mr Gilkey joined the company in 1988 with previous service

from 1981 to 1984

Kirk Grimes

Mr Grimes has been Group President Supply Chain since January 2013 Prior to that he was Group

Executive Operations from January 2012 to January 2013 Group President Global Services from October

2003 to January 2012 and Group Executive Oil Gas from February 2001 to October 2003 Mr Grimes

joined the company in 1980

Carlos Hernandez

Mr Hernandez has been Senior Vice President Chief Legal Officer and Secretary since October

2007 Prior to joining
the company he was General Counsel and Secretary of ArcelorMittal USA Inc

from April 2005 to October 2007 and General Counsel and Secretary of International Steel Group Inc

from September 2004 to April 2005 prior to its acquisition by Mittal Steel Company Prior to that he was

General Counsel of Fleming Companies Inc from February 2001 to August 2004 Fleming

Companies Inc filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S Bankruptcy Code on April

2003

Peter Oosterveer

Mr Oosterveer has been Group President Oil Gas since March 2009 Prior to that he was Senior

Vice President Business Line Lead-Chemicals from February 2007 to March 2009 Vice President

Business Line Lead-Chemicals from September 2005 to February 2007 and Vice President Operations

from October 2002 to September 2005 Mr Oosterveer joined the company in 1989

Biggs Porter

Mr Porter has been Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office since May 2012 Prior to joining

the company in 2012 he was Chief Financial Officer of Tenet Healthcare Inc from June 2006 to March

2012 He joined the company in March 2012

David Seaton

Mr Seaton has been Chief Executive Officer since February 2011 and Chairman since February 2012

Prior to that he was Chief Operating Officer from November 2009 to February 2011 Senior Group

President Oil Gas Power and Government from March 2009 to November 2009 Group President

Oil Gas from March 2007 to March 2009 Senior Vice President Corporate Sales Board from

September 2005 to March 2007 Senior Vice President Chemicals Business Line from October 2004 to
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September 2005 and Senior Vice President Sales for Oil Gas from March 2002 to October 2004
Mr Seaton joined the company in 1985

Gary Smalley

Mr Smalley has been Senior Vice President and Controller since March 2008 He was Vice President

of Internal Audit from September 2002 to March 2008 and prior to that served in number of financial

management roles including Controller of South Latin America and Controller of Australia Mr Smalley

joined the company in 1991

Bruce Stanski

Mr Stanski has been Group President Government since August 2009 Prior to joining the company
in March 2009 he was President Government and Infrastructure of KBR Inc from August 2007 to March

2009 and Executive Vice President of KBR Inc.s Government and Infrastructure division from

September 2005 to August 2007

Code of Ethics

We have long maintained and enforced Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all Fluor

officers and employees including our chief executive officer chief financial officer and principal

accounting officer and controller copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics as amended has

been posted on the Sustainability Compliance and Ethics portion of our website wwwfluor corn

We have disclosed and intend to continue to disclose any changes or amendments to our code of

ethics or waivers from our code of ethics applicable to our chief executive officer chief financial officer

and principal accounting officer and controller by posting such changes or waivers to our website

Corporate Governance

We have adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines which are available on our website at

www.fluor corn under the Investor Relations portion of our website

Additional Information

The additional information required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K is hereby incorporated by

reference from the information contained in the section entitled Election of Directors Biographical

Information including Experience Qualifications Attributes and Skills in our Proxy Statement for our

2013 annual meeting of stockholders Disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of

Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in our Proxy Statement Information

regarding the Audit Committee is hereby incorporated by reference from the information contained in the

section entitled Corporate Governance Board of Directors Meetings and Committees Audit

Committee in our Proxy Statement

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information required by this item is included in the following sections of our Proxy Statement for our

2013 annual meeting of stockholders Organization and Compensation Committee Report
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation Executive Compensation and

Director Compensation as well as the related pages containing compensation tables and information

which information is incorporated herein by reference
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Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31 2012 with respect to the shares of

common stock that may be issued under the Companys equity compensation plans

Number of securities to be Weighted average Number of securities available for

issued upon exercise of exercise price of future issuance under equity

outstanding options outstanding options compensation plans excluding

Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights securities listed in column

Equity compensation plans

approved by stockholders1 3233025 $53.64 3498926

Equity compensation plans not

approved by stockholders
________

Total 3233025 $53.64 3498926

Consists of the 2000 Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors under which no securities are

currently issuable upon exercise of outstanding options warrants or rights but under which 206305

shares remain available for future issuance the 2003 Executive Performance Incentive Plan the 2003

Plan under which 803214 shares are currently issuable upon exercise of outstanding options

warrants and rights but under which no shares remain available for future issuance and the 2008

Executive Performance Incentive Plan under which 2429811 shares are currently issuable upon

exercise of outstanding options warrants and rights and under which 3292621 shares remain

available for issuance The 2003 Plan was terminated when the companys 2008 Executive

Performance Incentive Plan was approved by stockholders at the companys annual stockholders

meeting in 2008

The additional information required by this item is included in the Stock Ownership and Stock-

Based Holdings of Executive Officers and Directors and Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial

Owners sections of our Proxy Statement for our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders which information

is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information required by this item is included in the Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

and Board Independence sections of the Corporate Governance portion of our Proxy Statement for

our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders which information is incorporated herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item is included in the Ratification of Appointment of Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm section of our Proxy Statement which information is incorporated

herein by reference
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PART 1Y

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Documents filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K

Financial Statements

Our consolidated financial statements at December 31 2012 and 2011 and for each of the three years

in the period ended December 31 2012 and the notes thereto together with the report of the independent

registered public accounting firm on those consolidated financial statements are hereby filed as part of this

annual
report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-i

Financial Statement Schedules

No financial statement schedules are presented since the required information is not present or not

present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule or because the information required is

included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto

Exhibits

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2012

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to

the registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2012

4.1 Indenture between Fluor Corporation and Bank of New York as trustee dated as of

February 17 2004 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrants Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on February 17 2004

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture between Fluor Corporation and The Bank of New York as

trustee dated as of February 17 2004 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the

registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17 2004

4.3 Senior Debt Securities Indenture between Fluor Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association as trustee dated as of September 2011 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.3 to the registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 2011

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture between Fluor Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association as trustee dated as of September 13 2011 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.4 to the registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 13 2011

4.5 Second Supplemental Indenture between Fluor Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association as trustee dated as of June 22 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to

the registrants Form S-3ASR filed on June 22 2012

10.1 Fluor Corporation 2000 Executive Performance Incentive Plan as amended and restated as of

March 30 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrants Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q filed on May 2005

10.2 Fluor Corporation 2000 Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors as amended and

restated effective January 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrants

Quarterly Report on Form i0-Q filed on May 20 2010

10.3 Fluor Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Plan as amended and restated effective

April 21 2003 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed on February 29 2008
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10.4 Fluor Corporation Deferred Directors Fees Program as amended and restated effective

January 2002 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrants Annual Report

on Form 10-K filed on March 31 2003

10.5 Directors Life Insurance Summary incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the

registrants Registration Statement on Form 10/A Amendment No filed on November 22

2000

10.6 Fluor Executives Supplemental Benefit Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the

registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 29 2008

10.7 Executive Severance Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrants Annual

Report on Form 10-K filed on February 22 2012

10.8 Fluor Corporation 2001 Fluor Stock Appreciation Rights Plan as amended and restated on

November 2007 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrants Annual

Report on Form 10-K filed on February 29 2008

10.9 Fluor Corporation 2003 Executive Performance Incentive Plan as amended and restated as of

March 30 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the registrants Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2005

10.10 Form of Compensation Award Agreements for grants under the Fluor Corporation 2003

Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the

registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 2004

10.11 Offer of Employment Letter dated May 2001 from Fluor Corporation to Michael Steuert

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K

filed on March 15 2004

10.12 Summary of Fluor Corporation Non-Management Director Compensation incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

August 2012

10.13 Fluor Corporation 409A Deferred Directors Fees Program as amended and restated effective

as of January 2013

10.14 Fluor 409A Executive Deferred Compensation Program as amended and restated effective

January 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the registrants Annual Report

on Form 10-K filed on February 22 2012

10.15 Fluor Corporation 2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2008

10.16 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the registrant and each of its

directors and executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the registrants

Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 25 2009

10.17 Retention Award granted to Stephen Dobbs on February 2008 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on

February 25 2009

10.18 Retention Award granted to David Seaton on February 2008 incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.23 to the registrants
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 25 2009

10.19 Form of Value Driver Incentive Award Agreement under the Fluor Corporation 2008

Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the

registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 filed on May 11 2009

10.20 Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Fluor Corporation 2008 Executive Performance

Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the registrants Quarterly Report

on Form 10-0 filed on May 11 2009
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10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Fluor Corporation 2008 Executive

Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the registrants

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 11 2009

10.22 Form of Non-U.S Stock Growth Incentive Award Agreement under the Fluor Corporation

2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the

registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 11 2009

10.23 Form of Stock Option Agreement with double trigger change of control under the Fluor

Corporation 2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.28 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10 2010

10.24 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement with double trigger change of control under the

Fluor Corporation 2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.29 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10 2010

10.25 Form of Non-U.S Stock Growth Incentive Award Agreement with double trigger change of

control under the Fluor Corporation 2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

filed on May 10 2010

10.26 Form of Restricted Unit Award Agreement under the Fluor Corporation 2000 Restricted

Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the

registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2011

10.27 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Fluor Corporation 2000 Restricted Stock Plan

for Non-Employee Directors incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the registrants

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2011

10.28 Form of Change in Control Agreement entered into between the registrant and each of its

executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrants Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on June 29 2010

10.29 Revolving Loan and Letter of Credit Facility Agreement dated as of November 2012 among
Fluor Corporation the Lenders thereunder BNP Paribas as Administrative Agent and an

Issuing Lender Bank of America N.A as Syndication Agent and Citibank N.A and The

Bank of Toyko-Mitsubishi UFJ Ltd as Co-Documentation Agents including schedules and

exhibits thereto

10.30 Revolving Performance Letter of Credit Facility Agreement dated as of December 14 2010

among Fluor Corporation the Lenders thereunder BNP Paribas as Administrative Agent and

an Issuing Lender Bank of America N.A as Co-Syndication Agent and an Issuing Lender
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Ltd and The Bank of Nova Scotia as Co-Syndication

Agents and Banco Santander S.A New York Branch and Credit Agricole Corporate and

Investment Bank as Co-Documentation Agents incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to

the registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 23 2011

10.31 Amendment No dated as of November 2012 to that certain Revolving Performance Letter

of Credit Facility Agreement dated as of December 14 2010 among Fluor Corporation the

Lenders thereunder and BNP Paribas as Administrative Agent and an Issuing Lender

10.32 Retention Award granted to Michael Steuert on August 2010 incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.34 to the registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 23 2011

10.33 Form of Value Driver Incentive Award Agreement payable in shares under the Fluor

Corporation 2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.33 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2012

10.34 Form of Option Agreement with international grant language under the Fluor Corporation
2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the

registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2011
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10.35 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement with international grant language under the Fluor

Corporation 2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.39 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 filed on May 2011

10.36 Form of Non-U.S Stock Growth Incentive Award Agreement under the Fluor Corporation

2008 Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the

registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2011

10.37 Offer of Employment Letter dated January 2009 from Fluor Corporation to Bruce

Stanski incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed on February 22 2012

10.38 Offer of Employment Letter from Fluor Corporation to Biggs Porter incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 filed on May

2012

10.39 Consulting Agreement between Fluor Corporation and Michael Steuert dated May 11

2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the registrants Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q filed on August 2012

10.40 Retention Award granted to Peter Oosterveer on December 11 2009 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 filed on May

2011

21.1 Subsidiaries of the registrant

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Fluor Corporation

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Fluor Corporation

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14b or Rule 15d-14b of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14b or Rule 15d-14b of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

New exhibit filed or furnished with this report

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL Extensible

Business Reporting Language the Consolidated Statement of Earnings for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 ii the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31 2012 and

December 31 2011 iii the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 and iv the Consolidated Statement of Equity for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this annual report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized

February 20 2013

FLUOR CORPORATION

By Is BIGGS PORTER

Biggs Porter

Senior Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this annual
report on Form 10-K

has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the

dates indicated

Signature Title

Principal Executive Officer and Director

Is DAVID SEATON

David Seaton

Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer
February 20 2013

Principal Financial Officer

Is BIGGS PORTER

Biggs Porter

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
February 20 2013

Principal Accounting Officer

Is GARY SMALLEY

Gary Smalley

Senior Vice President and

Controller
February 20 2013

Other Directors

Is PETER BARKER

Peter Barker

Is JAMES HACKETF

James Hackett
Director February 20 2013

Date

Is ALAN BENNETF

Alan Bennett

Is ROSEMARY BERKERY

Rosemary Berkery

/s PETER FLUOR

Peter Fluor

Director

Director

Director

Director

February 20 2013

February 20 2013

February 20 2013

February 20 2013
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Title Date
Signature

________________________________ ______________________

Is KENT KRESA
Director February 20 2013

Kent Kresa

Is DEAN OHARE
Director February 20 2013

Dean OHare

Is ARMANDO OLIVERA
Director February 20 2013

Armando Olivera

Is JOSEPH PRUEHER
Director February 20 2013

Joseph Prueher

Is NADER SULTAN
Director February 20 2013

Nader Sultan

Is SUZANNE WOOLSEY
Director February 20 2013

Suzanne Woolsey
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors anJ Shareholders of Fluor Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fluor Corporation as of December 31

2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of earnings comprehensive income cash flows and

changes in equity for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31 2012 These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits

provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects
the

consolidated financial position of Fluor Corporation at December 31 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated

results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31

2012 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Fluor Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 20 2013

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is/Ernst Young LLP

Dallas Texas

February 20 2013
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FLUOR CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

Year Ended December 31

in thousands except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010

TOTAL REVENUE $27577135 $23381399 $20849349

TOTAL COST OF REVENUE 26692138 22232483 20144099
OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

Corporate general and administrative expense 151010 163460 156268

Interest expense 28238 15601 10616

Interest income 27756 31961 21230
Total cost and expenses 26843630 22379583 20289753

EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 733505 1001816 559596
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 162438 303729 118514

NET EARNINGS 571067 698087 441082

LESS NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 114737 104359 83586

NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO FLUOR
CORPORATION 456330 593728 357496

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 2.73 3.44 2.01

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 2.71 3.40 1.98

SHARES USED TO CALCULATE EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic 167121 172501 178047

Diluted 168491 174564 180988

D1VIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE 0.64 0.50 0.50

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FLUOR CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31

2011 20102012
in thousands

NET EARNINGS $571067 $698087 $441082

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS NET OF TAX

Foreign currency translation adjustment 29703 40118 36250

Ownership share of equity method investees other comprehensive

income loss 563 23791 19791

Defined benefit pension and postretirement plan adjustments 91155 58451 28274

Unrealized gain loss on derivative contracts 1298 12342 2416

Unrealized gain loss on debt securities 85 445 137

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS NET OF

TAX 59506 18245 47012

COMPREHENSiVE INCOME 511561 679842 488094

LESS COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 113789 109095 85922

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO FLUOR

CORPORATION $397772 $570747 $402172

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FLUOR CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31 December 31
2012 2011in thousands except share and per share amounts

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $411550 and $472597 related to variable interest entities

VIEs $2154541 $2161411
Marketable securities current $30369 and $0 related to VIEs 137127 96438
Accounts and notes receivable net $193354 and $167238 related to VIEs 1242691 1234023
Contract work in progress $221897 and $264014 related to VIEs 1942679 1946747
Deferred taxes 249839 207674
Other current assets

367260 232418

Total current assets 6094137 5878711

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land

51644 42575
Buildings and improvements 453484 419364

Machinery and equipment 1461307 1381219
Construction in progress 17329 25650

1983764 1868808
Less accumulated depreciation 1032509 947223

Net property plant and equipment $105692 and $117755 related to VIEs 951255 921585

OTHER ASSETS

Marketable securities noncurrent 318355 503550
Goodwill

101332 95947
Investments

142894 129299
Deferred taxes 79357 167387
Deferred compensation trusts 332904 303016
Other

255809 268869

Total other assets
1230651 1468068

TOTAL ASSETS $8276043 $8268364

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

11ade accounts payable $295972 and $239522 related to VIEs $1954108 $1734686
Convertible senior notes and other notes payable 20792 19458
Advance billings on contracts $300491 and $469644 related to VIEs 870147 1092707
Accrued salaries wages and benefits $59183 and $39581 related to VIEs 755075 668107
Other accrued liabilities $6478 and $23427 related to VIEs 286992 323241

Total current liabilities 3887114 3838199

LONG-TERM DEBT DUE AFFER ONE YEAR 520205 513500
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 441630 456759
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

EQUITY

Shareholders equity

Capital stock

Preferred authorized 20000000 shares $0.01 par value none issued

Common authorized 375000000 shares $0.01 par value issued and outstanding

162359906 and 168979199 shares in 2012 and 2011 respectively 1624 1690
Additional paid-in capital 2574
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 257850 199292
Retained earnings 3597521 3590553

Total shareholders equity 3341295 3395525

Noncontrolling interests
85799 64381

Total equity 3427094 3459906

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $8276043 $8268364

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FLUOR CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

in thousands
_______________________________

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2012

210441

1940

42856
10434

37400

29887
35961

13152
77444

4356
46877

174515
11838

7172

2011 2010

199365

2574

36757

10449

12518

13795
17398
12737
69581
46005

19225

3336

189350

1234

6188

46824

28.614

33737

5000
10686
12707

893
22264

173007
12343

3385

571067 698087 441082Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation of fixed assets

Amortization of intangibles

Gain on sale of cost method investment

Impairment of long-lived assets

Restricted stock and stock option amortization

Deferred compensation trust

Deferred compensation obligation

Funding of deferred compensation trust

Statute expirations and tax settlements

Deferred taxes

Excess tax benefit from stock-based plans

Retirement plan contributions net of accrual

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Undistributed earnings of equity method investments

Other items

Cash provided by operating activities 628378 889769 550914

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of marketable securities 922024 857787 853622

Proceeds from the sales and maturities of marketable securities 1065312 724409 1291159

Capital expenditures
254747 338167 265410

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment 77772 53752 53692

Investments in partnerships and joint ventures 30782 8089 10035

Proceeds from sale of cost method investment and other assets 55136 11016

Acquisitions
19337 27326

Other items 9677 5768 2646

Cash provided utilized by investing activities 38347 436424 218430

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase of common stock 389233 639556 175058

Dividends paid
128650 87678 90093

Proceeds from issuance of 3.375% Senior Notes 495595

Debt issuance costs 3241 4066

Settlement of U.S Treasury rate lock agreements
16778

Repayment of convertible debt and notes payable 7514 77234 13097

Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests 100623 103659 83656

Capital contribution by joint venture partners
2665 22789 1000

Repayment of corporate-owned life insurance loans 32163

Taxes paid on vested restricted stock 11744 18693 6899

Stock options exercised 11592 25410 14040

Excess tax benefit from stock-based plans 4356 12737 893

Other items 5766 4692 4839

Cash utilized by financing activities 616626 395825 389872

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 19725 31106 68497

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 6870 26414 447969

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2161411 2134997 1687028

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $2154541 $2161411 $2134997

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FLUOR CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Accumulated

Common Stock
Additional Other Total

-______________ Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Shareholders Noncontrolling Total

Shares Amount Capital Income Loss Earnings Equity Interests Equityin thousands except per share amounts

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31 2009 178825 $1788 682304 $220987 $2842428 $3305533 28360 $3333893

Net
earnings 357496 357496 83586 441082

Other comprehensive income 44676 44676 2336 47012

Dividends $0.50 per share 89967 89967 89967
Distributions to noncontrolling interests 83656 83656
Partner contributions in noncontrolling

interests
1000 1000

Stock-based plan activity 495 54851 54857 54857

Repurchase of common stock 3080 31 175027 175058 175058
Debt conversions 185 539 538 538

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31 2010 176425 $1764 561589 $176311 $3109957 $3496999 31626 $3528625

Net earnings 593728 593728 104359 698087

Other comprehensive income loss 22981 22981 4736 18245
Dividends $0.50 per share 86669 86669 86669
Distributions to noncontrolling interests 103659 103659
Partner contributions in noncontrolling

interests
22789 22789

Acquisition and other noncontrolling

interest transactions 534 534 4530 3996
Stock-based plan activity 926 11 56196 56207 56207

Repurchase of common stock 10050 101 612992 26463 639556 639556
Debt conversions 1678 16 1685 1669 1669

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31 2011 168979 $1690 2574 $199292 $3590553 $3395525 64381 $3459906

Net earnings 456330 456330 114737 571067

Other comprehensive loss 58558 58558 948 59506
Dividends $0.64 per share 107522 107522 107522
Distributions to noncontrolling interests 100623 100623
Partner contributions in noncontrolling

interests
2665 2665

Other
noncontrolling interest transactions 2673 2673 5587 2914

Stock-based plan activity 771 47412 47421 47421

Repurchase of common stock 7409 75 47318 341840 389233 389233
Debt conversions 19

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31 2012 162360 $1624 $257850 $3597521 $3341295 85799 $3427094

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Major Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The financial statements include the accounts of Fluor Corporation and its subsidiaries the

company The equity method of accounting is generally used for investment ownership ranging from

20 percent to 50 percent Investment ownership of less than 20 percent is generally
accounted for on the

cost method Joint ventures and partnerships
in which the company has the ability to exert significant

influence but does not control are accounted for using the equity method of accounting Certain contracts

are executed jointly through partnerships and joint ventures with unrelated third parties The company

consolidates certain variable interest entities VIEs in accordance with Accounting Standards

Codification ASC 810 see 14 Variable Interest Entities below For joint ventures and partnerships

in the construction industry unless full consolidation is required the company generally recognizes its

proportionate share of revenue cost and profit in its Consolidated Statement of Earnings and uses the

one-line equity method of accounting in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as allowed under

ASC 810-10-45-14 At times the cost and equity methods of accounting are also used

All significant intercompany transactions of consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated Certain amounts

in 2011 and 2010 have been reclassified to conform to the 2012 presentation Management has evaluated

all material events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements up to the date this annual

report is filed on Form 10-K

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported

amounts These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the financial statements

Therefore actual results could differ from those estimates

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include securities with maturities of three months or less at the date of

purchase Securities with maturities beyond three months are classified as marketable securities within

current and noncurrent assets

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of time deposits placed with investment grade banks with original

maturities greater than three months which by their nature are typically held to maturity and are classified

as such because the company has the intent and ability to hold them to maturity Held-to-maturity

securities are carried at amortized cost The company also has investments in debt securities which are

classified as available-for-sale because the investments may be sold prior to their maturity date

Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value The cost of securities sold is determined by using the

specific identification method Marketable securities are assessed for other-than-temporary impairment

Engineering and Construction Contracts

The company recognizes engineering and construction contract revenue using the

percentage-of-completion method based primarily on contract cost incurred to date compared to total

estimated contract cost Cost of revenue includes an allocation of depreciation and amortization

Customer-furnished materials labor and equipment and in certain cases subcontractor materials labor

and equipment are included in revenue and cost of revenue when management believes that the company

is responsible for the ultimate acceptability of the project Contracts are generally segmented between
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FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

types of services such as engineering and construction and accordingly gross margin related to each

activity is recognized as those separate services are rendered Changes to total estimated contract cost or

losses if any are recognized in the period in which they are determined Pre-contract costs are expensed as

incurred Revenue recognized in excess of amounts billed is classified as current asset under contract

work in progress Amounts billed to clients in excess of revenue recognized to date are classified as

current liability under advance billings on contracts The company anticipates that the majority of incurred

cost associated with contract work in
progress as of December 31 2012 will be billed and collected in 2013

The company recognizes revenue but not profit for certain significant claims when it is determined that

recovery
of incurred cost is probable and the amounts can be reliably estimated Under ASC 605-35-25

these requirements are satisfied when the contract or other evidence provides legal basis for the claim
additional costs were caused by circumstances that were unforeseen at the contract date and not the result

of deficiencies in the companys performance claim-related costs are identifiable and considered

reasonable in view of the work performed and evidence supporting the claim is
objective and verifiable

Cost but not profit associated with unapproved change orders is accounted for in revenue when it is

probable that the cost will be recovered through change in the contract price In circumstances where

recovery
is considered probable but the revenue cannot be reliably estimated cost attributable to change

orders is deferred pending determination of the impact on contract price If the requirements for

recognizing revenue for claims or unapproved change orders are met revenue is recorded only to the

extent that costs associated with the claims or unapproved change orders have been incurred

Properly Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment are recorded at cost Leasehold improvements are amortized over the

shorter of their economic lives or the lease terms Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
over the following ranges of estimated useful service lives in years

Estimated

December 31

cost in thousands 2012 2011 Lives

Buildings 287895 278029 20 40

Building and leasehold improvements 165589 141335 20

Machinery and equipment 1315756 1245770 10

Furniture and fixtures 145551 135449 10

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In the first quarter of 2012 Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards

Update ASU 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment became effective ASU 2011-08 allows

entities testing goodwill for impairment the option of performing qualitative assessment before

calculating the fair value of reporting unit i.e the first
step of the goodwill impairment test If entities

determine on the basis of qualitative factors that the fair value of the reporting unit is more likely than

not greater than the carrying amount quantitative calculation would not be needed The adoption of

ASU 2011-08 did not have material impact on the companys financial position results of operations or

cash flows

Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to annual impairment tests Interim testing for impairment is

performed if indicators of potential impairment exist For purposes of impairment testing goodwill is

allocated to the applicable reporting units based on the current reporting structure When testing goodwill
for impairment quantitatively the company first compares the fair value of each reporting unit with its

carrying amount If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds its fair value second step is
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FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

performed to measure the amount of potential impairment In the second step the company compares the

implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting units goodwill If

the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied
fair value of that goodwill an

impairment loss is recognized During 2012 the company completed its annual goodwill impairment test in

the first quarter and quantitatively determined that none of the goodwill was impaired because the fair

value of each reporting unit substantially exceeded its carrying amount Goodwill for each of the

companys segments is shown in 15 Operations by Business Segment and Geographical Area The

company also performed an interim goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter
of 2012 for the

Industrial Infrastructure segment after the Greater Gabbard Project charge and quantitatively

determined that none of the segments goodwill was impaired See 13 Contingencies and Commitments

for further discussion of the Greater Gabbard Project charge

The company has intangible assets with carrying value of $21 million and $23 million as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are

subject to annual impairment tests Interim testing for impairment is performed if indicators of potential

impairment exist An intangible asset with an indefinite life is impaired if its carrying value exceeds its fair

value As of December 31 2012 none of the companys intangible assets with indefinite lives were

impaired Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on straight-line basis over the useful lives of

those assets ranging from one year to ten years

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events

that have been recognized in the companys financial statements or tax returns The company evaluates the

realizability of its deferred tax assets and maintains valuation allowance if necessary to reduce certain

deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be realized The factors used to assess the

likelihood of realization are the companys forecast of future taxable income and available tax planning

strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets Failure to achieve forecasted

taxable income in the applicable taxing jurisdictions could affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax

assets and could result in an increase in the companys effective tax rate on future earnings

Income tax positions must meet more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to be recognized

Income tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are recognized in

the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met Previously recognized tax

positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are derecognized in the first subsequent

financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met The company recognizes potential

interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within its global operations in income tax

expense

Judgment is required in determining the consolidated provision for income taxes as the company

considers its worldwide taxable earnings and the impact of the continuing audit process conducted by

various tax authorities The final outcome of these audits by foreign jurisdictions the Internal Revenue

Service and various state governments could differ materially from that which is reflected in the

Consolidated Financial Statements

Derivatives and Hedging

The company limits exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in most of its engineering and

construction contracts through provisions that require client payments in currencies corresponding to the

currencies in which cost is incurred Certain financial exposure which includes currency and commodity

price risk associated with engineering and construction contracts currency risk associated with

intercompany transactions deposits
denominated in non-functional currencies and risk associated with
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FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

interest rate volatility may subject the company to earnings volatility In cases where financial exposure is

identified the company generally mitigates the risk by utilizing derivative instruments as hedging
instruments that are designated as either fair value or cash flow hedges in accordance with ASC 815
Derivatives and Hedging The company formally documents its hedge relationships at inception

including identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items as well as its risk management
objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction The company also formally assesses both

at inception and at least quarterly thereafter whether the hedging instruments are highly effective in

offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged items The fair values of all hedging instruments are

recognized as assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date For fair value hedges the effective portion of

the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument is offset against the change in the fair value of the

underlying asset or liability through earnings For cash flow hedges the effective portion of the derivative

instruments gains or losses due to changes in fair value are recorded as component of accumulated other

comprehensive income loss AOCI and are reclassified into earnings when the hedged items settle

Any ineffective portion of hedging instruments change in fair value is immediately recognized in

earnings The company does not enter into hedging instruments or engage in hedging activities for

speculative purposes

Under ASC 815 in certain limited circumstances foreign currency payment provisions could be

deemed embedded derivatives As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the company had no significant

embedded derivatives in any of its contracts

The Company offsets fair value amounts for multiple derivative instruments executed with the same

counterparty under master netting arrangement as permitted by ASC 815

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable and all contract work in progress are from clients in various industries and

locations throughout the world Most contracts require payments as the projects progress or in certain

cases advance payments The company generally does not require collateral but in most cases can place

liens against the property plant or equipment constructed or terminate the contract if material default

occurs The company evaluates the counterparty credit risk of third parties as part of its project risk review

process
and in determining the appropriate level of reserves The company maintains adequate reserves

for potential credit losses and generally such losses have been minimal and within managements estimates

However in the third quarter of 2010 the company recognized pre-tax charge of $95 million related to

bankruptcy court ruling that adversely impacted the collectability of amounts due the company on

completed infrastructure joint venture project in California In 2011 $11 million of this amount was

recovered in settlement with the bankrupt client

Cash and marketable securities are deposited with major banks throughout the world Such deposits

are placed with high quality institutions and the amounts invested in any single institution are limited to

the extent possible in order to minimize concentration of counterparty credit risk The company has not

incurred any credit risk losses related to these deposits

The companys counterparties for derivative contracts are large financial institutions selected based on

profitability strength of balance sheet credit ratings and capacity for timely payment of financial

commitments which are unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events There are no significant

concentrations of credit risk with any individual counterparty related to our derivative contracts

The company monitors credit risk by continuously assessing the credit quality of its counterparties
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FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Stock-Based Plans

The company applies the provisions
of ASC 718 Compensation Stock Compensation in its

accounting and reporting for stock-based compensation ASC 718 requires all share-based payments to

employees including grants
of employee stock options to be recognized in the income statement based on

their fair values All unvested options outstanding under the companys option plans have grant prices

equal to the market price of the companys stock on the dates of grant Compensation cost for restricted

stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the fair market value of the companys stock at the

date of grant Compensation cost for stock appreciation rights is determined based on the change in the

fair market value of the companys stock during the period Stock-based compensation expense is generally

recognized over the required service period or over shorter period when employee retirement eligibility

is factor

Comprehensive Income Loss

ASC 220 Comprehensive Income establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive

income and its components in the consolidated financial statements The company reports the cumulative

foreign currency translation adjustments unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and

derivative contracts ownership share of equity method investees other comprehensive income loss and

adjustments related to defined benefit pension and postretirement plans as components of accumulated

other comprehensive income loss

In the first quarter of 2012 the company adopted ASU 2011-05 Presentation of Comprehensive

Income which amends certain guidance in ASC 220 ASU 2011-05 revises the manner in which entities

present comprehensive income in their financial statements ASU 2011-05 requires entities to report

components of comprehensive income in either continuous statement of comprehensive income or

two separate but consecutive statements As result of the adoption of ASU 2011-05 the companys

financial statements now include Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

The company also adopted ASU 2011-12 Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the

Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in

ASU 2011-05 in the first quarter of 2012 ASU 2011-12 indefinitely deferred the provisions
of

ASU 2011-05 that required entities to present
reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other

comprehensive income by component in both the statement in which net income is presented and the

statement in which other comprehensive income OCI is presented

F-12



FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

The tax effects of the components of other comprehensive income loss are as follows

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Before- Tax Net-of- Before- Tax Net-of- Before- Tax Net-of-

Tax Expense Tax Tax Expense Tax Tax Expense Tax

in thousands Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefit Amount

Other comprehensive income

loss

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 47780 $18077 29703 $66717 26599 $40118 56576 $20326 36250

Ownership share of equity

method investees other

comprehensive income

loss 1487 924 563 33492 9701 23791 32459 12668 19791
Defined benefit pension and

postretirement plan

adjustments 145848 54693 91155 93522 35071 58451 45239 16965 28274

Unrealized gain loss on

derivative contracts 2369 1071 1298 19420 7078 12342 3237 821 2416

Unrealized gain loss on

debt securities 135 50 85 711 266 445 220 83 137

Total other comprehensive

income loss 94077 34571 59506 26818 8573 18245 72373 25361 47012

Less Other comprehensive

income loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests 948 948 4736 4736 2336 2336

Other comprehensive income

loss attributable to Fluor

Corporation 93129 34571 $58558 $31554 8573 $22981 70037 $25361 44676
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FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

The changes in the balances of each after-tax component of accumulated comprehensive income

loss attributable to Fluor Corporation are as follows

Ownership
Share of Equity Unrealized Accumulated

Method Defined Benefit Unrealized Gain Loss Other

Foreign Investees Other Pension and Gain Loss on Available- Comprehensive

Currency Comprehensive Postretirement on Derivative for-Sale Income

in thousands Translation Income Loss Plans Contracts Securities Loss Net

Balance as of December 31

2009 26187 $248294 331 $1451 $220987

Current-period other

comprehensive income

loss

Balance as of December 31

2010

Current-period other

comprehensive income

loss

Balance as of December 31

2011

Current-period other

comprehensive income

loss

Balance as of December 31

2012

33914 19791 28274 2416 137 44676

60101 19791 220020 2085 1314 176311

44331 23791 58451 12865 445 22981

15770 43582 161569 10780 869 199292

30129 563 91155 1820 85 58558

45899 $43019 $252724 8960 954 $257850

During 2012 and 2010 functional currency exchange rates for most of the companys international

operations strengthened against the U.S dollar resulting in unrealized translation gains During 2011

functional currency exchange rates for most of the companys international operations
weakened against

the U.S dollar resulting in unrealized translation losses

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013 the FASB issued ASU 2013-02 Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income which requires an entity to disclose additional information

about reclassification adjustments including changes in AOCI balances by component and

significant items reclassified out of AOCI ASU 2013-02 is effective for interim and annual reporting

periods beginning after December 15 2012

In February 2013 the FASB issued ASU 2013-01 Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities ASU 2013-01 clarifies which instruments and transactions are subject to

the offsetting disclosure requirements established by ASU 2011-11 ASU 2013-01 is effective for interim

and annual reporting periods beginning after January 2013 and will be applied on retrospective basis

In October 2012 the FASB issued ASU 2012-04 Technical Corrections and Improvements The

amendments in ASU 2012-04 make technical corrections clarifications and limited-scope improvements to

various topics throughout the Accounting Standards Codification ASU 2012-04 is effective upon issuance

except for amendments that are subject to transition guidance which will be effective for interim and

annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2012 Management does not expect the adoption of

ASU 2012-04 to have material impact on the companys financial position results of operations or cash

flows

In August 2012 the FASB issued ASU 2012-03 Technical Amendments and Corrections to SEC

Sections which amends various SEC sections in the Accounting Standards Codification as result of
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FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

the issuance of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No 114 the issuance of SEC Release No 33-9250

and corrections related to ASU 2010-22 Technical Corrections to SEC Paragraphs ASU 2012-03 was

effective upon issuance The adoption of ASU 2012-03 did not have an impact on the companys financial

position results of operations or cash flows

In July 2012 the FASB issued ASU 2012-02 Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for

Impairment ASU 2012-02 allows entities testing an indefinite-lived intangible asset for impairment the

option of performing qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of the asset If entities

determine on the basis of qualitative factors that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is

more likely than not greater than the carrying amount quantitative calculation would not be needed

ASU 2012-02 is effective for interim and annual impairment tests performed for fiscal
years beginning

after September 15 2012 Management does not expect the adoption of ASU 2012-02 to have material

impact on the companys financial position results of operations or cash flows

In December 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-11 Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and

Liabilities which requires an entity to disclose the nature of its rights of setoff and related arrangements

associated with its financial instruments and derivative instruments The objective of ASU 2011-11 is to

make financial statements that are prepared under U.S generally accepted accounting principles

GAAP more comparable to those prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS The new disclosures will give financial statement users information about both gross and net

exposures ASU 2011-11 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after January

2013 and will be applied on retrospective basis

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

The changes in operating assets and liabilities as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

are comprised of

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010in thousands

Increase decrease in

Accounts and notes receivable net 23680 43501 $207328

Contract work in
progress 29669 504670 54576

Other current assets 111311 199412 104526
Other assets 44423 18118 10081

Increase decrease in

Trade accounts payable 195147 320708 82016

Advance billings on contracts 237497 48470 85535

Accrued liabilities 28993 60050 27446

Other liabilities 58773 16346 11655

Increase decrease in cash due to changes in operating assets

and liabilities $174515 46005 $173007

Cash paid during the year for

Interest 24244 28255 9761

Income taxes 294214 176915 202341

2012
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Income Taxes

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

The income tax expense benefit included in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings is as follows

Year Ended December 31

2011 20102012

reconciliation of U.S statutory federal income tax expense to income tax expense is as follows

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010in thousands

U.S statutory federal tax expense $256727 $350635 195859

Increase decrease in taxes resulting from

State and local income taxes 1727 15360 16255

Other permanent items net 4849 7932 10575
Worthless stock 152409

Noncontrolling interests 39600 35682 28644
Foreign losses benefited net 84366
Valuation allowance net 85541 11014 90214

Statute expirations and tax authority settlements 13152 13795 10686
Other changes to unrecognized tax positions 29740 8973 1075
Other net 9850 6898 19575

Total income tax expense $162438 $303729 118514

2012

in thousands

Current

Federal $133312 $117868 22406

Foreign 226110 176116 94293

State and local 7804 27143 27260

Total current 84994 321127 143959

Deferred

Federal 87723 13039 26322
Foreign 16645 883 2355

State and local 6366 3476 1478

Total deferred 77444 17398 25445

Total income tax expense 162438 $303729 $118514
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Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of differences between the amounts recorded as assets and

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts recorded for income tax purposes The tax

effects of significant temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows

December 31

in thousands 2012 2011

Deferred tax assets

Accrued liabilities not currently deductible

Employee compensation and benefits 42387

Employee time-off accrual 90573

Project and non-project reserves 70882

Workers compensation insurance accruals 8566

Tax basis of investments in excess of book basis 18583

Net operating loss carryforwards 257692

Unrealized currency loss 6991

Capital loss carryforwards 3896

Other comprehensive loss 149364

Other 9640

62134

83526

132872

6269

1632

172852

11659

3896

113957

24928

613725

144582

Total deferred tax assets 658574

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 230123

Deferred tax assets net 428451 469143

Deferred tax liabilities

Book basis of property equipment and other capital costs in excess of tax

basis 44332 57558
Residual U.S tax on unremitted non-U.S earnings 40250 23003
Other 14673 13521

Total deferred tax liabilities 99255 94082

Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities 329196 375061

The company had non-U.S net operating
loss carryforwards related to various jurisdictions of

approximately $1.0 billion as of December 31 2012 Of the total losses $974 million can be carried forward

indefinitely and $73 million will begin to expire in various jurisdictions starting in 2013

The company had non-U.S capital loss carryforwards of approximately $11 million as of

December 31 2012 which can be carried forward indefinitely

The company maintains valuation allowance to reduce certain deferred tax assets to amounts that

are more likely than not to be realized The allowances for 2012 and 2011 primarily related to the deferred

tax assets established for certain net operating and capital loss carryforwards and certain reserves on

investments The net increase in the valuation allowance during 2012 was primarily due to an increase in

net operating losses

The company conducts business globally and as result the company or one or more of its

subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign

jurisdictions In the normal course of business the company is subject to examination by taxing authorities

throughout the world including such major jurisdictions as Australia Canada the Netherlands South

Africa the United Kingdom and the United States Although the company believes its reserves for its tax

positions are reasonable the final outcome of tax audits could be materially different both favorably and
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unfavorably With few exceptions the company is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or

non-U.S income tax examinations for years before 2003

During 2012 the company reached an agreement on certain issues with the U.S Internal Revenue

Service IRS on tax audit for tax years 2003 through 2005 This agreement resulted in net reduction

in tax expense of $13 million

The unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 2012 and 2011 were $47 million and $215 million

of which $33 million and $78 million if recognized would have favorably impacted the effective tax rates at

the end of 2012 and 2011 respectively The company does not anticipate any significant changes to the

unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits including interest

and penalties is as follows

in thousands 2012 2011

Balance at beginning of year 214998 $219028

Change in tax positions of prior years 64214 9765

Change in tax positions of current year

Reduction in tax positions for statute expirations 874
Reduction in tax positions for audit settlements 103741 12921

Balance at end of year 47043 $214998

The company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income

tax expense The company has $7 million and $14 million in interest and penalties accrued as of

December 31 2012 and 2011

U.S and foreign earnings before taxes are as follows

in thousands 2012

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010

United States $279890 346016 $454066

Foreign 453615 655800 105530

Total $733505 $1001816 $559596

Earnings before taxes in the United States declined in 2012 compared to 2011 principally due to

reduced contributions from several completed projects in the Power segment and expenses associated with

the companys continued investment in NuScale Earnings before taxes in foreign jurisdictions decreased in

2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to pre-tax charge of an unexpected adverse decision in the

arbitration proceedings related to the companys claim for additional compensation on the Greater

Gabbard Project see 13 Contingencies and Commitments Earnings before taxes in the United States

declined in 2011 compared to 2010 principally due to the reduction in project execution activities in the

Power segment as well as reduced contributions from various projects in the Oil Gas segment Earnings

before taxes in foreign jurisdictions increased significantly in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to

increased contributions from the Industrial Infrastructure segment including reduced level of pre-tax

charges for the Greater Gabbard Project see 13 Contingencies and Commitments and improved

performance in the mining and metals business line
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Retirement Benefits

The company sponsors contributory and non-contributory defined contribution retirement and

defined benefit pension plans for eligible employees worldwide The defined contribution retirement plans

are primarily related to domestic and international engineering and construction operations Contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans are based on percentage of the employees eligible

compensation The company recognized expense of $144 million $101 million and $93 million associated

with contributions to its defined contribution retirement plans during 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The increase in company contributions during 2012 was principally the result of certain U.S plan

amendments that increased employer contributions to the primary U.S defined contribution plan and

reduced contributions to the U.S defined benefit plan The defined benefit pension plans are primarily

related to domestic and international engineering and construction salaried employees and U.S craft

employees Contributions to defined benefit pension plans are at least the minimum annual amounts

required by applicable regulations Payments to retired employees under these plans are generally based

upon length of service age and/or percentage of qualifying compensation

Net periodic pension expense for the U.S and non-U.S defined benefit pension plans includes the

following components

U.S Pension Plan Non.U.S Pension Plans

Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2012 2011 2010in thousands 2012

Service cost 5957 37172 36668 7723 8219 10509

Interest cost 33293 36136 38417 32630 34502 31328

Expected return on assets 35322 40430 42396 41949 42852 36611
Amortization of prior service

cost/credits 114 168
Recognized net actuarial loss 4279 13955 18765 1663 5874 8203

Gain on curtailment/loss on

settlement 618 1111

Net periodic pension expense 8093 46047 51454 67 6854 13429

The ranges of assumptions indicated below cover defined benefit pension plans in the United States

the Netherlands the United Kingdom Australia the Philippines 2012 and 2011 and Germany 2011 and

2010 and are based on the economic environment in each host country at the end of each respective

annual reporting period The discount rate assumption for the U.S defined benefit plan was determined by

discounting the expected future benefit payments using yields based on portfolio of high quality

corporate bonds having maturities that are consistent with the expected timing of future payments to plan

participants The discount rates for the non-U.S defined benefit plans were determined primarily based on

hypothetical yield curve developed from the yields on high quality corporate bonds with durations

consistent with the pension obligations in that country The expected long-term rate of return on asset

assumptions utilizing historical returns correlations and investment manager forecasts are established for
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each major asset category including public U.S and international equities U.S private equities and fixed

income securities

U.S Pension Plan Non-U.S Pension Plans

December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

For determining projected benefit

obligation at year-end

Discount rates 4.05% 5.05% 5.65% 3.60-6.00% 3.75-6.75% 5.10-5.50%

Rates of increase in compensation

levels N/A N/A 4.00% 2.25-9.00% 2.25-9.00% 2.25-4.50%

For determining net periodic cost for

the year

Discount rates 5.05% 5.65% 6.50% 3.75-6.75% 5.10-9.20% 5.75%

Rates of increase in compensation

levels N/A 4.00% 4.00% 2.25-9.00% 2.25-9.00% 2.25-4.50%

Expected long-term rates of return

on assets 5.25% 6.69% 7.50% 5.00-7.00% 5.00-8.00% 5.00-7.00%

The company evaluates the funded status of each of its retirement plans using the above assumptions

and determines the appropriate funding level considering applicable regulatory requirements tax

deductibility reporting considerations and other factors The funding status of the plans is sensitive to

changes in long-term interest rates and returns on plan assets and funding obligations could increase

substantially if interest rates fall dramatically or returns on plan assets are below expectations Assuming

no changes in current assumptions the company expects to fund approximately $30 million to $60 million

for calendar year 2013 which is expected to be in excess of the minimum funding required If the discount

rates were reduced by 25 basis points plan liabilities for the U.S and non-U.S plans would increase by

approximately $20 million and $39 million respectively

During the first quarter of 2011 the company and its Board of Directors approved an amendment to

the U.K pension plan to freeze the accrual of future service-related benefits for eligible participants on

April 2011 Accordingly the company remeasured the assets and liabilities of the U.K pension plan and

recognized curtailment accounting event resulting in net reduction in the pension obligation of

$18 million and an after-tax decrease in accumulated other comprehensive loss of $11 million

During the third quarter of 2011 the company and its Board of Directors approved an amendment to

the U.S pension plan to freeze the accrual of future service-related benefits for certain eligible participants

on December 31 2011 Accordingly as of September 30 2011 the company remeasured the assets and

liabilities of the U.S pension plan and recognized curtailment accounting event resulting in net

reduction in the pension obligation of $29 million and an after-tax decrease in accumulated other

comprehensive loss of $18 million

F-20



FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

The following table sets forth the target allocations and the weighted average actual allocations of

plan assets

U.S Plan Assets Non-U.S Plan Assets

December 31 December 31

Target Allocation 2012 2011 Target Allocation 2012 2011

Asset category

Equity securities 0% 10% 5% 19% 20% 45% 35% 33%

Debt securities 90% 100% 95% 69% 55% 65% 60% 62%
Other 0% 10% 0% 12% 5% 15% 5% 5%

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

The companys investment strategy is to maintain asset allocations that appropriately address risk

within the context of seeking adequate returns Investment allocations are determined by each plans

investment committee and/or trustees In the case of certain foreign plans asset allocations may be

impacted by local requirements Long-term allocation guidelines are set and expressed in terms of target

range allocation for each asset class to provide portfolio management flexibility Short-term deviations

from these allocations may exist from time to time for tactical investment or strategic implementation

purposes During 2012 the company continued to reallocate larger percentage of its U.S plan assets into

debt securities to reduce volatility and protect the funded status of the plans As of December 31 2011 the

percentage of U.S plan assets categorized as Other exceeded the target allocation due to the inclusion

of temporarily held short-term investment funds that were in the process of being reallocated to debt

securities

Investments in equity securities are utilized to generate long-term capital appreciation to mitigate the

effects of increases in benefit obligations resulting from growth in the number of plan participants

inflation longer life expectancy and salary growth Investments in debt securities are used to provide stable

investment returns while protecting the funding status of the plans While most of the companys plans are

not prohibited from investing in the companys common stock or debt securities there are no such direct

investments at the present time

Plan assets include investments in common or collective trusts which offer efficient access to

diversified investments across various asset categories The estimated fair value of the investments in the

common or collective trusts represents the underlying net asset value of the shares or units of such funds as

determined by the issuer redemption notice period of no more than 30 days is required for the plans to

redeem certain investments in common or collective trusts At the present time there are no other

restrictions on how the plans may redeem their investments

Equity securities are diversified across various industries and are comprised of common and preferred

stocks of U.S and international companies common or collective trusts with underlying investments in

common and preferred stocks and limited partnerships Publicly traded corporate equity securities are

valued based on the last trade or official close of an active market or exchange on the last business day of

the plans year Securities not traded on the last business day are valued at the last reported bid price As of

December 31 2012 direct investments in equity securities excluding common or collective trusts were

concentrated solely in international securities held by the companys non-U.S pension plans As of

December 31 2011 the aggregate concentration of direct investments in equity securities for the various

plans was approximately 45 percent in U.S securities and 55 percent in international securities Limited

partnerships are valued at the plans proportionate share of the estimated fair value of the underlying net

assets as determined by the general partners The limited partnerships are classified as Level

investments
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Debt securities are comprised of corporate bonds government securities and common or collective

trusts with underlying investments in corporate bonds government and asset backed securities and

interest rate swaps Corporate bonds primarily consist of investment-grade rated bonds and notes of which

no significant concentration exists in any one rating category or industry Government securities include

U.S and international government bonds some of which are inflation-indexed Corporate bonds and

government securities are valued based on evaluated prices which are determined from compilation of

primarily observable market information broker quotes in non-active markets or similar assets Securities

not traded on the last business day are valued at the last reported bid price As of December 31 2012 the

investments in corporate bonds and government securities held by the U.S plan were primarily

concentrated in U.S issuers

Other is primarily comprised of common collective trusts short-term investment funds foreign

exchange forward contracts and insurance contracts Common collective trusts hold underlying

investments in commodities foreign exchange foreign contracts and real estate Common collective trusts

with underlying investments in real estate are classified as Level investments Insurance contracts are

valued based on actuarial assumptions and are also classified as Level investments

Liabilities primarily consist of foreign currency exchange contracts and obligations to return collateral

under securities lending arrangements The estimated fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts is

determined from broker quotes The estimated fair value of obligations to return collateral under

securities lending arrangements are determined based on the last traded price of the underlying securities

held as collateral

The company measures and
reports

assets and liabilities at fair value utilizing pricing information

received from third-party pricing services The company performs procedures to verify the reasonableness

of pricing information received for significant assets and liabilities classified as Level

The fair value hierarchy established by ASC 820 Fair Value Measurement prioritizes the use of

inputs used in valuation techniques into the following three levels

Level quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that

are observable either directly or indirectly

Level unobservable inputs
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The following table presents for each of the fair value hierarchy levels required under ASC 820-10

the plan assets and liabilities of the companys U.S and non-U.S defined benefit pension plans that are

measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December 31 2012 and 2011

U.S Pension Plan

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair Value Hierarchy

Total Level Level Total Level LevelLevel Levelin thousands

Assets

Equity securities

Common and preferred stock 95714 $95714

Common or collective trusts 18164 18164 12821 12821

Limited Partnerships 17630 17630 19.314 19314

Debt securities

Common or collective trusts 200401 200401

Corporate bonds 456123 456123 393338 393338

Government securities 66973 66973 73079 73079

Other

Common or collective trusts money market funds 5285 5285 79624 79624

Other assets 1487 1487 6322 6322

Liabilities

Foreign currency exchange contracts and other 1598 1598 6338 6338

Plan assets measured at fair value net $764465 $746835 $17630 $673874 $95714 $558846 $19314

Plan assets not measured at fair value net 2831 16680

Total plan assets net $767296 $690554

Non-U.S Pension Plans

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair Value Hierarchy

in thousands Total Level Level Level Total Level Level Level

Assets

Equity securities

Common and preferred stock 88034 $88034 83151 $83151

Common or collective trusts 218542 218542 164201 164201

Debt securities

Common or collective trusts 317494 317494 468140 468140

Corporate bonds 96457 96457 542 542

Government securities 114531 114531 4263 4263

Other

Common or collective trusts 45554 37754 7800 32663 24572 8091

Other assets 2729 2729 4661 870 3791

Liabilities

Foreign currency exchange contracts and other 1988 1988

Plan assets measured at fair value net $881353 $88034 $785519 7800 $757621 $83151 $662588 $11882

Plan assets not measured at fair value net 4788 10340

Total plan assets net $886141 $767961
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in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018 2022

U.S Pension Plan

2012 2011

76935

39459

39400

41428

42976

232646

27529

28456

29995

32231

34532

190593

The following table
presents

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the fair value

measurements using significant unobservable inputs Level

Non.U.S

Pension Plans

2012 2011in thousands

Balance at beginning of year $19314 $19596 $11882 $11686

Actual return on plan assets

Assets still held at reporting date 112 909 291 32

Assets sold during the period 2184 477

Purchases 17 761

Sales 3997 1668 3791
Settlements 597

Balance at end of year $17630 $19314 7800 $11882

The following table presents expected benefit payments for the U.S and non-U.S defined benefit

pension plans

U.S Non-U.S

Pension Plan Pension Plans
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Measurement dates for the companys U.S and non-U.S defined benefit pension plans are

December 31 The following table sets forth the change in projected benefit obligation plan assets and

funded status of the U.S and non-U.S plans

U.S Pension Plan Non.U.S Pension Plans

December 31 December 31

in thousands 2012 2011 2012 2011

Change in projected benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $677005 $666973 $620117 $626618

Service cost 5957 37172 7723 8219

Interest cost 33293 36136 32630 34502

Employee contributions 3854 4145

Currency translation 22460 12521
Actuarial gain loss 77858 41359 169220 4773
Plan amendments 3736

Benefits paid 37833 38459 25536 26226
Curtailments 62899 15870
Other 3040 3277 4002 6023

Projected benefit obligation at end of
year 756976 677005 826466 620117

Change in plan assets

Plan assets at beginning of year 690554 618045 767961 680593

Actual return on plan assets 72615 43195 107583 70972

Company contributions 45000 71050 11830 50998

Employee contributions 3854 4145

Currency translation 23854 18929
Benefits paid 37833 38459 25536 26226
Other 3040 3277 3405 6408

Plan assets at end of year 767296 690554 886141 767961

Funded status 10320 13549 59675 $147844

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Pension assets included in other assets 10320 13549 67931 $151967

Pension liabilities included in noncurrent liabilities 8256 4123
Accumulated other comprehensive loss pre-tax $184378 $144243 $216856 $109290

During 2013 approximately $6 million for the U.S plan and $7 million for the non-U.S plans of the

amount of accumulated other comprehensive loss shown above is expected to be recognized as

components of net periodic pension expense

For the defined benefit pension plans in Australia and the Philippines the projected benefit

obligations exceeded the plan assets In the aggregate these plans had projected benefit obligations of

$32 million and plan assets with fair value of $23 million

The total accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S and non-U.S plans as of December 31 2012 was

$757 million and $775 million respectively The total accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S and

non-U.S plans as of December 31 2011 was $677 million and $590 million respectively As of

December 31 2012 and 2011 plan assets for each of the companys benefit plans exceeded the

accumulated benefit obligation except for Germany in which the accumulated benefit obligation exceeded

plan assets by less than $1 million as of December 31 2011
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In addition to the companys U.S defined benefit pension plans the company and certain of its

subsidiaries provide health care and life insurance benefits for certain retired U.S employees The health

care and life insurance plans are generally contributory with retiree contributions adjusted annually The

accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31 2012 and 2011 was determined in

accordance with the current terms of the companys health care plans together with relevant actuarial

assumptions and health care cost trend rates projected at annual rates ranging from eight percent in 2013

down to five percent in 2019 and beyond The effect of one percent annual increase in these assumed

cost trend rates would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and interest cost by

approximately $0.5 million and less than $0.1 million respectively The effect of one percent annual

decrease in these assumed cost trend rates would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation and interest cost by approximately $0.5 million and less than $0.1 million respectively

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost includes the following components

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010in thousands

Service cost

Interest cost 592 723 951

Expected return on assets

Amortization of prior service cost

Recognized net actuarial loss 640 679 827

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $1232 $1402 $1778

The following table sets forth the change in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation

Year Ended

December 31

in thousands 2012 2011

Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 16828 18311

Service cost

Interest cost 592 723

Employee contributions 399 269

Actuarial gain loss 955 308

Benefits paid 2352 2783

Benefit obligation at end of year 14512 16828

Funded status $14512 $16828

Unrecognized net actuarial losses totaling $3 million and $5 million as of December 31 2012 and

2011 respectively were classified in accumulated other comprehensive loss The accumulated

postretirement benefit obligation classified in current liabilities is approximately $3 million as of both

December 31 2012 and 2011 The remaining balance of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation

is classified in noncurrent liabilities for both years

The discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was

2.65 percent as of December 31 2012 and 3.85 percent as of December 31 2011 The discount rate used

for accumulated postretirement obligation is determined based on the same considerations discussed

above that impact defined benefit plans in the United States Benefit payments as offset by retiree

contributions are not expected to change significantly in the future
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The preceding information does not include amounts related to benefit plans applicable to employees

associated with certain contracts with the U.S Department of Energy because the company is not

responsible for the current or future funded status of these plans

In the first quarter of 2012 the company adopted ASU 2011-09 Disclosures about an Employers

Participation in Multiemployer Plan which amends ASC 715-80 by increasing the quantitative and

qualitative disclosures an employer is required to provide about its participation in significant

multiemployer plans that offer pension or other postretirement benefits The objective of ASU 2011-09 is

to enhance the transparency of disclosures about the significant multiemployer plans in which an employer

participates the level of the employers participation in those plans the financial health of the plans and

the nature of the employers commitments to the plans The company was not required to make additional

disclosures as result of the adoption of ASU 2011-09

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In the first quarter of 2012 the company adopted ASU 2011-04 Amendments to Achieve Common

Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S GAAP and IFRS which amended and

expanded the disclosure requirements of ASC 820

The following table presents for each of the fair value hierarchy levels required under ASC 820-10

the companys assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December 31

2012 and 2011

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair Value Hierarchy

in thousands Total Level Level Level Total Level Level Level

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14457 $144572 24364 $243642

Marketable securities current 102439 102439 72845 72845

Deferred compensation trusts 80842 80842a 76844 76844

Marketable securities noncurrent 318355 318355 503550 503550

Derivative assets6

Commodity swap forward contracts 95 95 2535 2535

Foreign currency contracts 640 640 3105 3105

Liabilities

Derivative liabilities6

Commodity swap forward contracts 28 28 53 53

Foreign currency contracts 2151 2151 4612 4612

The company measures and reports assets and liabilities at fair value utilizing pricing information received from third parties The

company performs procedures to verify the reasonableness of pricing information received for significant assets and liabilities classified

as Level

Consists of registered money market funds valued at fair value These investments represent the net asset value of the shares of such

funds as of the close of business at the end of the period

Consists of investments in U.S agency securities corporate debt securities and other debt securities which are valued at the last

reported sale
price on the last business day at the end of the period Securities not traded on the last business day are valued at the last

reported bid price

Consists of registered money market funds and an equity index fund valued at fair value These investments which are trading securities

represent the net asset value of the shares of such funds as of the close of business at the end of the period

Consists of investments in U.S agency securities U.S fteasuiy securities corporate debt securities and other debt securities with

maturities ranging from one year to five years which are valued at the last reported sale price on the last business day at the end of the

period Securities not traded on the last business day are valued at the last reported bid price

See Derivatives and Hedging for the classification of commodity swap forward contracts and foreign currency forward contracts on

the Consolidated Balance Sheet Commodity swap contracts and foreign currency forward Contracts are estimated using standard

pricing models with market-based inputs which take into account the present value of estimated future cash flows
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All of the companys financial instruments carried at fair value are included in the table above All of

the above financial instruments are available-for-sale securities except for those held in the deferred

compensation trusts which are trading securities and derivative assets and liabilities The company has

determined that there was no other-than-temporary impairment of available-for-sale securities with

unrealized losses and the company expects to recover the entire cost basis of the securities The

available-for-sale securities are made up of the following security types as of December 31 2012 money
market funds of $14 million U.S agency securities of $161 million U.S Treasury securities of $67 million

corporate debt securities of $184 million and other securities of $9 million As of December 31 2011

available-for-sale securities consisted of money market funds of $24 million U.S agency securities of

$238 million U.S Treasury securities of $99 million corporate debt securities of $235 million and other

securities of $5 million The amortized cost of these available-for-sale securities is not materially different

from the fair value During 2012 2011 and 2010 proceeds from sales and maturities of available-for-sale

securities were $523 million $497 million and $522 million respectively

The carrying values and estimated fair values of the companys financial instruments that are not

required to be measured at fair value on recurring basis are as follows

Fair Value
December 31 2012 December 31 2011

in thousands Hierarchy Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Assets

Cash1 Level $1343866 $1343866 $1225480 $1225480

Cash equivalents2 Level 796218 796218 911567 911567

Marketable securities current3 Level 34688 34688 23593 23593

Notes receivable including noncurrent

portion4 Level 34471 34471 41957 41957

Liabilities

3.375% Senior Notes5 Level 496164 527219 495723 500254

1.5% Convertible Senior Notes5 Level 18472 39392 19458 35647

5.625% Municipal Bonds5 Level 17795 17878 17777 17901

Notes Payable including noncurrent

portion6 Level 8566 8566

Cash consists of bank deposits Carrying amounts approximate fair value

Cash equivalents consist of held-to-maturity time deposits with maturities of three months or less at

the date of purchase The
carry amounts of these time deposits approximate fair value because of the

short-term maturity of these instruments

Marketable securities current consist of held-to-maturity time deposits with original maturities

greater than three months that will mature within one year The carrying amounts of these time

deposits approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments Amortized

cost is not materially different from the fair value

Notes receivable are carried at net realizable value which approximates fair value Factors considered

by the company in determining the fair value include current interest rates the term of the note the

credit worthiness of the borrower and any collateral pledged as security Notes receivable are

periodically assessed for impairment

The fair value of the 3.375% Senior Notes 1.5% Convertible Senior Notes and 5.625% Municipal

Bonds are estimated based on quoted market prices for similar issues
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Notes payable consist primarily of equipment loans with banks at various interest rates with maturities

ranging from less than one year
to four years The carrying value of notes payable approximates fair

value Factors considered by the company in determining the fair value include the companys current

credit rating current interest rates the term of the note and any collateral pledged as security

Derivatives and Hedging

As of December 31 2012 the company had total gross notional amounts of $225 million of foreign

exchange forward contracts and $1 million of commodity swap forward contracts outstanding relating to

engineering and construction contract obligations and intercompany transactions The foreign exchange

forward contracts are of varying duration none of which extend beyond March 2014 The commodity swap

forward contracts are of varying duration none of which extend beyond August 2014 The impact to

earnings due to hedge ineffectiveness was immaterial for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and

2010

The fair values of derivatives designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815 as of December 31

2012 and 2011 were as follows

Commodity swaps

Foreign currency forwards

Commodity swaps

Foreign currency forwards

Total derivatives

15

2130 4612

13 53

21

$2179 $4665

The pre-tax amount of gain loss recognized in earnings associated with the hedging instruments

designated as fair value hedges for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was as follows

Fair Value Hedges in thousands

Foreign currency forwards

Foreign currency forwards

Total

Location of Gain Loss

Total cost of revenue

Corporate general and administrative expense

The pre-tax amount of gain loss recognized in earnings on hedging instruments for the fair value

hedges noted in the table above offset the amounts of gain loss recognized in earnings on the hedged

items in the same locations on the Consolidated Statement of Earnings

The after-tax amount of gain loss recognized in OCT and reclassified from AOCI into earnings

associated with the derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was as follows

Cash Flow Hedges in thousands

Commodity swaps

Foreign currency forwards

Treasury rate lock agreements

Total

After-Tax Amount of Gain

Loss Reclassified from

AOCI into Earnings

2011 2010

in thousands

Asset Derivatives

Balance Sheet December 31 December 31
Location 2012 2011

Liability Derivatives

Balance Sheet December 31 December 31

Location 2012 2011

Other current assets 95 $2451 Other accrued liabilities

Other current assets 640 3105 Other accrued liabilities

Other assets 84 Noncurrent liabilities

Other assets Noncurrent liabilities

$735 $5640

2012 2011 2010

14236 15064

$14236 $15064

3465

6864

$10329

After-Tax Amount of Gain

Loss Recognized inOCI

2012 2011 2010 Location of Gain Loss 2012

$1138 1755 916 Total cost of revenue 1859 4052 $2066

2933 1544 389 Total cost of revenue 1441 1156 177

10486 Interest Expense 1049 306

$4071 $10275 527 2251 2590 $1889
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During 2012 2011 and 2010 the company recognized gains of less than $0.1 million $1.1 million and

$3.6 million respectively in corporate general and administrative expense related to settled foreign

currency forward contracts which were not designated as hedges for accounting purposes These foreign

currency forward contracts mitigated short-term economic exposures

Financing Arrangements

On November 2012 the company entered into $1.8 billion Revolving Loan and Letter of Credit

Facility Agreement Credit Facility that matures in 2017 Borrowings on the Credit Facility are to bear

interest at rates based on the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR or an alternative base rate plus

an applicable borrowing margin The Credit Facility may be increased up to an additional $500 million

subject to certain conditions and contains customary financial and restrictive covenants including

maximum ratio of consolidated debt to tangible net worth of one-to-one and cap on the aggregate

amount of debt of $600 million for the companys subsidiaries On the same day the company terminated

its $800 million Revolving Loan and Financial Letter of Credit Facility and its $500 million Letter of Credit

Facility and all outstanding letters of credit thereunder were assigned or otherwise transferred to the new

Credit Facility

In conjunction with the Credit Facility the company also amended its existing $1.2 billion Revolving

Performance Letter of Credit Facility PLOC Facility dated as of December 14 2010 The cap on the

PLOC Facility for the aggregate amount of debt for the company subsidiaries was increased from

$500 million to $600 million subject to certain conditions

As of December 31 2012 the company had combination of committed and uncommitted lines of

credit that totaled $4.4 billion These lines may be used for revolving loans letters of credit and/or general

purposes Letters of credit are provided in the ordinary course of business primarily to indemnify our

clients if we fail to perform our obligations under our contracts As of December 31 2012 $1.1 billion in

letters of credit were outstanding under these committed and uncommitted lines of credit As an

alternative to letters of credit surety bonds are also used as form of credit enhancement

Consolidated debt consisted of the following

December 31

in thousands 2012 2011

Current

1.5% Convertible Senior Notes $18472 $19458

Notes Payable 2320

Long-Term

3.375% Senior Notes $496164 $495723

5.625% Municipal Bonds 17795 17777

Notes Payable 6246

In September 2011 the company issued $500 million of 3.375% Senior Notes the 2011 Notes due

September 15 2021 and received proceeds of $492 million net of underwriting discounts and debt issuance

costs Interest on the 2011 Notes is payable semi-annually on March 15 and September 15 of each year

and began on March 15 2012 The company may at any time redeem the 2011 Notes at redemption

price equal to 100 percent of the principal amount plus make whole premium described in the

indenture Additionally if change of control triggering event occurs as defined by the terms of the

indenture the company will be required to offer to purchase the 2011 Notes at purchase price equal to

101 percent of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest if any to the date of purchase

The company is generally not limited under the indenture governing the 2011 Notes in its ability to incur
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additional indebtedness provided the company is in compliance with certain restrictive covenants

including restrictions on liens and restrictions on sale and leaseback transactions

In February 2004 the company issued $330 million of 1.5% Convertible Senior Notes the 2004

Notes due February 15 2024 and received proceeds of $323 million net of underwriting discounts In

December 2004 the company irrevocably elected to pay the principal amount of the 2004 Notes in cash

Interest on the 2004 Notes is payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year The 2004

Notes are convertible into shares of the companys common stock par value $0.01 per share at

conversion rate of 36.2815 shares per each $1000 principal amount of the 2004 Notes subject to

adjustment as described in the indenture The 2004 Notes are convertible during any fiscal quarter if the

closing price of the companys common stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading

day-period ending on the last trading day of the previous fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to

130 percent of the conversion price in effect on that trading day the trigger price The trigger price

is currently $3i83 but is subject to adjustment as outlined in the indenture The trigger price condition

was satisfied during the fourth
quarter of 2012 and 2011 and the 2004 Notes were therefore classified as

short-term debt as of December 31 2012 and 2011

Holders of the 2004 Notes were entitled to require the company to purchase all or portion of their

2004 Notes on February 17 2009 at 100 percent of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

de minimis amount of 2004 Notes were tendered for purchase Holders of the 2004 Notes will again be

entitled to have the company purchase their 2004 Notes at the same price on February 15 2014 and

February 15 2019 The 2004 Notes are currently redeemable at the option of the company in whole or in

part at 100 percent of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest In the event of change of

control of the company each holder may require the company to repurchase the 2004 Notes for cash in

whole or in part at 100 percent of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

Pursuant to the requirements of ASC 260-10 Earnings per Share the company includes in the

diluted EPS computations based on the treasury stock method shares that may be issuable upon
conversion of the 2004 Notes On December 30 2004 the company irrevocably elected to pay the principal

amount of the 2004 Notes in cash and therefore there is no dilutive impact on EPS unless the average

stock price exceeds the conversion price of $27.56 Upon conversion shares of the companys common
stock are issued to satisfy any appreciation between the conversion price and the market price on the date

of conversion During 2012 holders converted $1 million of the 2004 Notes in exchange for the principal

balance owed in cash plus 18899 shares of the companys common stock During 2011 holders converted

$77 million of the 2004 Notes in exchange for the principal balance owed in cash plus 1678095 shares of

the companys common stock

The company applies the provisions of ASC 470-20 Debt with Conversion and Other Options
ASC 470-20 requires the issuer of convertible debt instrument to separately account for the liability and

equity components in manner that reflects the entitys nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest

expense is recognized in subsequent periods

The following table
presents

information related to the liability and equity components of the 2004

Notes

December 31

in thousands 2012 2011

Carrying value of the equity component $19519 $19514

Principal amount and carrying value of the liability component 18472 19458

Interest expense for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 includes original coupon

interest of $0.3 million $0.5 million and $1.5 million respectively The effective interest rate on the liability
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component was 4.375 percent through February 15 2009 at which time the discount on the liability was

fully amortized The if-converted value is $39 million and is in excess of the principal value as of

December 31 2012

The Municipal Bonds are due June 2019 with interest payable semi-annually on June and

December of each year commencing December 1999 The bonds are redeemable in whole or in part

at the option of the company at redemption price ranging from 100 percent to 102 percent of the

principal amount of the bonds on or after June 2009 In addition the bonds are subject to other

redemption clauses at the option of the holder should certain events occur as defined in the offering

prospectus In January 2013 the company redeemed the $18 million principal amount of the bonds at

price of 100 percent of their principal amount

In the third quarter of 2012 the company assumed various notes payable in connection with the

acquisition of an equipment company The notes payable consist primarily of equipment loans with banks

at various interest rates and with maturities ranging from less than one year to four years

As of December 31 2012 the company was in compliance with all of the financial covenants related to

its debt agreements

Other Noncurrent Liabilities

The company has deferred compensation and retirement arrangements for certain key executives

which generally provide for payments upon retirement death or termination of employment The deferrals

can earn either market-based fixed or variable rates of return at the option of the participants As of

December 31 2012 and 2011 $337 million and $326 million respectively of obligations related to these

plans were included in noncurrent liabilities To fund these obligations the company has established

non-qualified trusts which are classified as noncurrent assets These trusts held primarily company-owned

life insurance policies reported at cash surrender value and marketable equity securities reported at fair

value These trusts were valued at $333 million and $303 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively Periodic changes in value of these trust investments most of which are unrealized are

recognized in earnings and serve to mitigate changes to obligations included in noncurrent liabilities which

are also reflected in earnings

The company maintains appropriate levels of insurance for business risks including workers

compensation and general liability Insurance coverages contain various retention amounts for which the

company provides accruals based on the aggregate of the liability for reported claims and an actuarially

determined estimated liability for claims incurred but not reported Other noncurrent liabilities include

$23 million and $8 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively relating to these liabilities For

certain professional liability risks the companys retention amount under its claims-made insurance policies

does not include an accrual for claims incurred but not reported because there is insufficient claims history

or other reliable basis to support an estimated liability The company believes that retained professional

liability amounts are manageable risks and are not expected to have material adverse impact on results of

operations or financial position

Stock-Based Plans

The companys executive stock-based plans provide for grants of nonqualified or incentive stock

options restricted stock awards or units stock appreciation rights and performance-based Value Driver

Incentive VDI units All executive stock-based plans are administered by the Organization and

Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors Committee comprised of outside directors none

of whom are eligible to participate in the executive plans Recorded compensation cost for share-based

payment arrangements which is generally recognized on straight-line basis totaled $40 million

$37 million and $30 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively net of

recognized tax benefits of $24 million $22 million and $17 million for the years ended 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively
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The following table summarizes restricted stock restricted stock unit and stock option activity

Restricted Stock or

Restricted Stock Units

Weighted

Average Weighted
Grant Date Average

Fair Value Exercise Price

Per Share Per ShareNumber

As of December 31 2012 there were maximum of 3498926 shares available for future grant under

the companys various stock-based plans Shares available for future grant include shares which may be

granted by the Committee as either stock options on share-for-share basis or restricted stock or

restricted stock units on the basis of one share for each 1.75 available shares

Restricted stock awards issued under the plans provide that shares awarded may not be sold or

otherwise transferred until service-based restrictions have lapsed and any performance objectives have

been attained as established by the Committee Restricted stock units are rights to receive shares subject to

certain service and performance conditions as established by the Committee Generally upon termination

of employment restricted stock units and restricted shares which have not vested are forfeited Restricted

units and shares granted in 2012 2011 and 2010 vest ratably over three years Restricted units and shares

granted to the companys directors in 2012 2011 and 2010 vest or vested on the first anniversary of the

grant except for initial grants that certain directors received upon joining the Board of Directors which

vest ratably over five year period For the
years 2012 2011 and 2010 recognized compensation expense

of $25 million $25 million and $32 million respectively is included in
corporate general and

administrative expense related to restricted stock awards and units The fair value of restricted stock that

vested during 2012 2011 and 2010 was $38 million $58 million and $22 million respectively The balance

of unamortized restricted stock expense as of December 31 2012 was $18 million which is expected to be

recognized over weighted-average period of 1.6 years

Option grant amounts and award dates are established by the Committee Option grant prices are the

fair value of the companys common stock at such date of grant Options normally extend for 10
years

and

Stock Options

Number

Outstanding asof December31 2009 1633058 $38.28 2360482 $44.56

Granted 844706 42.93 1140303 42.78

Expired or canceled 909211 40.09 96639 43.20

Vested/exercised 500735 42.16 368307 38.12

Outstanding as of December 31 2010 1886108 $39.25 3035839 $44.71

Granted 291912 70.59 548391 70.76

Expired or canceled 55159 52.87 73599 56.66

Vested/exercised 828246 41.44 611130 41.57

Outstanding as of December 31 2011 1294615 $44.33 2899501 $50.00

Granted 450668 61.70 688380 62.18

Expired or canceled 17109 58.35 45164 61.57

Vested/exercised 657998 43.46 309692 37.41

Outstanding as of December 31 2012 1070176 $51.96 3233025 $53.64

Options exercisable as of December 31 2012 1878247 $49.53

Remaining unvested options outstanding and expected

to vest 1314135 $59.32
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become exercisable over vesting period determined by the Committee The options granted in 2012 2011

and 2010 vest ratably over three years The aggregate intrinsic value representing the difference between

market value on the date of exercise and the option price of stock options exercised during 2012 2011 and

2010 was $7 million $18 million and $6 million respectively The balance of unamortized stock option

expense as of December 31 2012 was $8 million which is expected to be recognized over weighted-

average period of 1.5 years Expense associated with stock options for the years
ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 which is included in corporate general and administrative expense in the accompanying

Consolidated Statement of Earnings totaled $13 million $12 million and $15 million respectively

The fair value on the grant date and the significant assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model are as follows

December 31

2012 2011

Weighted average grant
date fair value $19.85 $23.41

Expected life of options in years 4.5 4.5

Risk-free interest rate 0.8% 2.2%

Expected volatility
41.1% 38.8%

Expected annual dividend per share 0.64 0.50

The computation of the expected volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes calculations is based

on 50/50 blend of historical and implied volatility

Information related to options outstanding as of December 31 2012 is summarized below

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Weighted Average Weighted

Remaining Average Remaining Average

Number Contractual Exercise Price Number Contractual Exercise Price

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life In Years Per Share Exercisable Life In Years Per Share

$30.46 $41.77 354188 6.2 $30.62 354188 6.2 $30.62

$42.11 $62.50 1907374 7.3 49.75 894368 5.9 43.28

$68.36 $80.12 971463 6.7 69.66 629691 6.0 69.06

3233025 7.0 $53.64 1878247 6.0 $49.53

As of December 31 2012 options outstanding and options exercisable had an aggregate intrinsic

value of approximately $29 million and $24 million respectively

Performance-based VDI units issued under the plans are based on target award values The number

of units awarded is determined by dividing the applicable target award value by the closing price of the

companys common stock on the date of grant The number of units is adjusted at the end of each

performance period based on the achievement of performance criteria These awards vest on the first and

third anniversaries of the date of grant The awards may be settled in cash based on the closing price of

the companys common stock on the vesting date or company stock In accordance with ASC 718 these

awards are classified as liabilities and remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period until the

awards are settled Compensation expense of $26 million and $22 million related to these awards is

included in corporate general and administrative expense in 2012 and 2011 respectively of which

$17 million was paid in 2012 The balance of unamortized compensation expense associated with VDI units

as of December 31 2012 was $11 million which is expected to be recognized over weighted-average

period of 2.0 years
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10 Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share EPS is calculated by dividing net earnings attributable to Fluor

Corporation by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period Potentially

dilutive securities include employee stock options restricted stock units and shares and the 1.5%

Convertible Senior Notes see Financing Arrangements above for information about the Convertible

Senior Notes Diluted EPS reflects the assumed exercise or conversion of all dilutive securities using the

treasury stock method

The calculations of the basic and diluted EPS for the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

under the treasury stock method are presented below

2012in thousands except per share amounts

Net earnings attributable to Fluor Corporation $456330 $593728 $357496

Basic EPS

Weighted average common shares outstanding 167121 172501 178047

Basic earnings per share 2.73 3.44 2.01

Diluted EPS

Weighted average common shares outstanding 167121 172501 178047

Diluted effect

Employee stock options and restricted stock units and shares 1024 1393 1380

Conversion equivalent of dilutive convertible debt 346 670 1561

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 168491 174564 180988

Diluted earnings per share 2.71 3.40 1.98

Anti-dilutive securities not included above 1557 824 1253

During the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the company repurchased and canceled

7409200 10050000 and 3079600 shares of its common stock respectively under its stock repurchase

program for $389 million $640 million and $175 million respectively

11 Lease Obligations

Net rental expense amounted to approximately $181 million $166 million and $228 million in the

years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The companys lease obligations relate

primarily to office facilities equipment used in connection with long-term construction contracts and other

personal property Net rental expense in 2012 was higher compared to 2011 primarily due to an increase in

rental equipment required to support project execution activities in the Government segment Net rental

expense in 2011 declined due to reduction in rental equipment required to support project execution

activities in the Oil Gas and Government segments

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
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The companys obligations for minimum rentals under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows

Year Ended December 31 in thousands

2013 $49100

2014 51600

2015 40300

2016 34000

2017 30400

Thereafter 86800

12 Noncontrolling Interests

The company applies the provisions of ASC 810-10-45 which establishes accounting and reporting

standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent the amount of

consolidated net earnings attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest changes in

parents ownership interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when

subsidiary is deconsolidated

As required by ASC 810-10-45 the company has separately disclosed on the face of the Consolidated

Statement of Earnings for all periods presented the amount of net earnings attributable to the company

and the amount of net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests For the
years

ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests were $116 million $106 million and

$85 million respectively and the related tax effect was $1 million $2 million and $1 million respectively

Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests were $101 million $104 million and $84 million for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Capital contributions by noncontrolling interests

were $3 million $23 million and $1 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

13 Contingencies and Commitments

The company and certain of its subsidiaries are involved in various litigation matters Additionally the

company and certain of its subsidiaries are contingently liable for commitments and performance

guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business The company and certain of its clients have made

claims arising from the performance under its contracts The company recognizes revenue but not profit

for certain significant claims when it is determined that recovery of incurred costs is probable and the

amounts can be reliably estimated Under ASC 605-35-25 these requirements are satisfied when the

contract or other evidence provides legal basis for the claim additional costs were caused by

circumstances that were unforeseen at the contract date and not the result of deficiencies in the companys

performance claim-related costs are identifiable and considered reasonable in view of the work

performed and evidence supporting the claim is objective and verifiable Recognized claims against

clients amounted to $20 million and $298 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively and are

included in contract work in progress
in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Claim

revenue of $278 million for the Greater Gabbard Project was reversed in the fourth quarter of 2012 when

the company no longer believed the recovery of its incurred cost was probable as result of the unexpected

adverse arbitration ruling discussed below The company periodically evaluates its position and the

amounts recognized in revenue with respect to all its claims Amounts ultimately realized from claims

could differ materially from the balances included in the financial statements The company does not

expect that the ultimate resolution of the remaining outstanding matters will have material adverse effect

on its consolidated financial position or results of operations
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As of December 31 2012 several matters were in the litigation and dispute resolution process The

following discussion provides background and current status of these matters

Greater Gabbard Offshore Wind Farm Project

The company is involved in dispute in connection with the Greater Gabbard Project $1.8 billion

lump-sum project to provide engineering procurement and construction services for the clients offshore

wind farm project in the United Kingdom The primary dispute related to the companys claim for

additional compensation for schedule and cost impacts arising from delays in the fabrication of monopiles

and transition pieces along with certain disruption and productivity issues associated with construction

activities and weather-related delays that the company anticipated would be recovered in arbitration due to

the companys belief the schedule and cost impacts were attributable to the client and other third parties

On November 16 2012 the company received an unexpected decision from the arbitration panel

dismissing the companys claims for additional compensation The decision resulted in pre-tax charge of

$416 million against the companys earnings in the fourth quarter which included claim revenue previously

recorded and the remaining liquidated damages withheld by the client and not previously charged against

the companys earnings as well as additional costs expected to be incurred through close-out of the

project

The client has filed counterclaim against the company seeking to recover approximately $100 million

for past and future costs associated with among other things monitoring certain monopiles and transition

pieces for alleged defects The counterclaim is currently scheduled for hearing in April 2013 While the

ultimate outcome of the hearing is uncertain the company believes that the monopiles and transition

pieces meet applicable performance requirements and therefore does not believe that loss associated

with the counterclaim is probable As result the company has not recorded charge under ASC 450 To

the extent the clients counterclaim is successful there could be substantial charge to earnings

St Joe Minerals Matters

Since 1995 the company has been named as defendant in number of lawsuits alleging injuries

resulting from the lead business of St Joe Minerals Corporation St Joe and The Doe Run Company

Doe Run in Herculaneum Missouri which are discontinued operations The company was named as

defendant in these lawsuits as result of its ownership or other interests in St Joe and Doe Run in the

period between 1981 and 1994 In 1994 the company sold its interests in St Joe and Doe Run along with

all liabilities associated with the lead business pursuant to sale agreement in which the buyer agreed to

indemnify the company for those liabilities Until December 2010 substantially all the lawsuits were settled

and paid by the buyer and in all cases the company was fully released

In December 2010 the buyer settled with certain plaintiffs without obtaining release for the benefit

of the company leaving the company to defend its case with these plaintiffs in the City of St Louis Circuit

Court In late July 2011 the jury reached an unexpected verdict in this case ruling in favor of 16 of the

plaintiffs and against the company and certain former subsidiaries for $38.5 million in compensatory and

economic damages and $320 million in punitive damages In August 2011 the court entered judgments

based on the verdict

In December 2011 the company appealed the judgments of the court The company strongly believes

that the judgments are not supported by the facts or the law and that it is probable that such judgments will

be overturned Therefore based upon the present status of this matter the company does not believe it is

probable that loss will be incurred Accordingly the company has not recorded charge as result of the

judgments The company has also taken steps to enforce its rights to the indemnification described above

The company the buyer and other entities are defendants in 22 additional lawsuits relating to the lead

business of St Joe and Doe Run The company believes it has strong defenses to these lawsuits and is

F-37



FLUOR CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

vigorously defending its position In addition the company has filed claims for indemnification under the

sale agreement for other matters raised in these lawsuits While we believe we will be ultimately successful

in these various matters if we were unsuccessful in our appeal of the ruling referenced above or in any of

the other lawsuits or in the prosecution of and collection on our indemnity claims we could recognize

substantial charge to our earnings

Embas5y Projects

The company constructed 11 embassy projects for the U.S Department of State under fixed-price

contracts Some of these projects were adversely impacted by higher costs due to schedule extensions

scope changes causing material deviations from the Standard Embassy Design increased costs to meet

client requirements for additional security-cleared labor site conditions at certain locations subcontractor

and teaming partner difficulties and the availability and productivity of construction labor All embassy

projects were completed prior to 2011

The company had previously recognized claim revenue of $33 million for outstanding claims on two

embassy projects During the first quarter of 2012 the company received an adverse judgment from the

Board of Contract Appeals associated with claim on one embassy project and as result recorded

charge of $13 million The company believes that the decision was incorrect and has filed an appeal with

the Federal Circuit Total claims-related costs incurred to date for the last remaining claim along with

requests for equitable adjustment exceed the amount recorded in claim revenue All claims have been

certified in accordance with federal contracting requirements hearing on the final embassy claim was

held during the second quarter of 2012 and final written submissions were completed in the fourth quarter

of 2012 The results of this hearing are expected during 2013

Conex International Fluor Enterprises Inc

In November 2006 Jefferson County Texas jury reached an unexpected verdict in the case of Conex

International Conex Fluor Enterprises Inc FEI ruling in favor of Conex and awarding

$99 million in damages related to 2001 construction project

In 2001 Atofina now part of Total Petrochemicals Inc hired Conex International to be the

mechanical contractor on project at Atofinas refinery in Port Arthur Texas FEI was also hired to

provide certain engineering advice to Atofina on the project There was no contract between Conex and

FEI Later in 2001 after the project was complete Conex and Atofina negotiated final settlement for

extra work on the project Conex sued FEI in September 2003 alleging damages for interference and

misrepresentation and demanding that FEI should pay Conex the balance of the extra work charges that

Atofina did not pay in the settlement Conex also asserted that FEI interfered with Conexs contract and

business relationship with Atofina The jury verdict awarded damages for the extra work and the alleged

interference

The company appealed the decision and the judgment against the company was reversed in its entirety

in December 2008 Both parties appealed the decision to the Texas Supreme Court and the court denied

both petitions The company requested rehearing on two issues to the Texas Supreme Court and that

request was denied The Texas Supreme Court remanded the matter back to the trial court for new trial

The matter was stayed pending resolution of certain technical issues associated with the 2011 bankruptcy

filing by the plaintiffs parent These issues have been resolved The matter has been remanded to the

court in Jefferson County Texas Based upon the present status of this matter the company does not

believe that there is reasonable possibility that loss will be incurred
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Guarantees

In the ordinary course of business the company enters into various agreements providing

performance assurances and guarantees to clients on behalf of certain unconsolidated and consolidated

partnerships joint ventures and other jointly executed contracts These agreements are entered into

primarily to support the project execution commitments of these entities The performance guarantees

have various expiration dates ranging from mechanical completion of the facilities being constructed to

period extending beyond contract completion in certain circumstances The maximum potential payment

amount of an outstanding performance guarantee is the remaining cost of work to be performed by or on

behalf of third parties under engineering and construction contracts Amounts that may be required to be

paid in excess of estimated cost to complete contracts in
progress are not estimable For cost reimbursable

contracts amounts that may become payable pursuant to guarantee provisions are normally recoverable

from the client for work performed under the contract For lump-sum or fixed-price contracts the

performance guarantee amount is the cost to complete the contracted work less amounts remaining to be

billed to the client under the contract Remaining billable amounts could be greater or less than the cost to

complete In those cases where costs exceed the remaining amounts payable under the contract the

company may have recourse to third parties such as owners co-venturers subcontractors or vendors for

claims Performance guarantees outstanding as of December 31 2012 were estimated to be $3.8 billion

The company assessed its performance guarantee obligation as of December 31 2012 and 2011 in

accordance with ASC 460 Guarantees and the carrying value of its liability was not material

Financial guarantees made in the ordinary course of business in certain limited circumstances are

entered into with financial institutions and other credit grantors and generally obligate the company to

make payment in the event of default by the borrower These arrangements generally require the

borrower to pledge collateral to support the fulfillment of the borrowers obligation

Other Matters

The companys operations are subject to and affected by federal state and local laws and regulations

regarding the protection of the environment The company maintains reserves for potential future

environmental cost where such obligations are either known or considered probable and can be

reasonably estimated

The company believes based upon present information available to it that its reserves with respect to

future environmental cost are adequate and such future cost will not have material effect on the

companys consolidated financial position results of operations or liquidity However the imposition of

more stringent requirements under environmental laws or regulations new developments or changes

regarding site cleanup cost or the allocation of such cost among potentially responsible parties or

determination that the company is potentially responsible for the release of hazardous substances at sites

other than those currently identified could result in additional expenditures or the provision of additional

reserves in expectation of such expenditures

14 Variable Interest Entities

In the normal course of business the company forms partnerships or joint ventures primarily for the

execution of single contracts or projects The majority of these partnerships or joint ventures are

characterized by 50 percent or less noncontrolling ownership or participation interest with decision

making and distribution of expected gains and losses typically being proportionate to the ownership or

participation interest Many of the partnership and joint venture agreements provide for capital calls to

fund operations as necessary Such funding is infrequent and is not anticipated to be material The

company accounts for its partnerships and joint ventures in accordance with ASC 810
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In accordance with ASC 810 the company assesses its partnerships and joint ventures at inception to

determine if any meet the qualifications of VIE The company considers partnership or joint venture

VIE if either the total equity investment is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities

without additional subordinated financial support characteristics of controlling financial interest are

missing either the ability to make decisions through voting or other rights the obligation to absorb the

expected losses of the entity or the right to receive the expected residual returns of the entity or the

voting rights of the equity holders are not proportional to their obligations to absorb the expected losses of

the entity and/or their rights to receive the expected residual returns of the entity and substantially all of

the entitys activities either involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor that has disproportionately

few voting rights Upon the occurrence of certain events outlined in ASC 810 the company reassesses its

initial determination of whether the partnership or joint venture is VIE The majority of the companys

partnerships and joint ventures qualify as VIEs because the total equity investment is typically nominal and

not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support

The company also performs qualitative assessment of each VIE to determine if the company is its

primary beneficiary as required by ASC 810 The company concludes that it is the primary beneficiary and

consolidates the VIE if the company has both the power to direct the economically significant activities

of the entity and the obligation to absorb losses of or the right to receive benefits from the entity that

could potentially be significant to the VIE The company considers the contractual agreements that define

the ownership structure distribution of profits and losses risks responsibilities indebtedness voting rights

and board representation of the respective parties in determining if the company is the primary

beneficiary The company also considers all parties that have direct or implicit variable interests when

determining whether it is the primary beneficiary As required by ASC 810 managements assessment of

whether the company is the primary beneficiary of VIE is continuously performed

In most cases when the company is not the primary beneficiary and not required to consolidate the

VIE the proportionate consolidation method of accounting is used for joint ventures and partnerships in

the construction industry whereby the company recognizes its proportionate share of revenue cost and

profit in its Consolidated Statement of Earnings and uses the one-line equity method of accounting in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet as allowed under ASC 810-10-45-14 The equity and cost methods of

accounting for the investments are also used depending on the companys respective ownership interest

amount of influence over the VIE and the nature of services provided by the VIE The net carrying value

of the unconsolidated VIEs classified under Investments and Other accrued liabilities in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet was net asset of $22 million and $50 million as of December 31 2012 and

2011 respectively Some of the companys VIEs have debt however such debt is typically non-recourse in

nature The companys maximum exposure to loss as result of its investments in unconsolidated VIEs is

typically limited to the aggregate of the carrying value of the investment and future funding commitments

Future funding commitments as of December 31 2012 for the unconsolidated VIEs were $41 million

In some cases the company is required to consolidate certain VIEs As of December 31 2012 the

carrying values of the assets and liabilities associated with the operations of the consolidated VIEs were

$1.0 billion and $664 million respectively As of December 31 2011 the carrying values of the assets and

liabilities associated with the operations of the consolidated VIEs were $1.1 billion and $774 million

respectively The assets of VIE are restricted for use only for the particular VIE and are not available for

general operations of the company

The company has agreements with certain VIEs to provide financial or performance assurances to

clients See 13 Contingencies and Commitments for further discussion of such agreements None of

the VIEs are individually material to the companys results of operations financial position or cash flows

except for the Fluor SKM joint venture which is material to the companys revenue and is discussed below

under Fluor SKM Joint Venture Below is discussion of some of the companys more significant or

unique VIEs and related accounting considerations
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Interstate 95 High-Occupancy Toll HOT Lanes Project

In August 2012 the company was awarded the $925 million Interstate 95 HOT lanes project in

Virginia The project is public-private partnership between the Virginia Department of Transportation

VDOT and 95 Express Lanes LLC joint venture in which the company has 10 percent interest and

Transurban USA Inc has 90 percent interest Under the agreement VDOT owns and oversees the

addition and extension of HOT lanes interchange improvements and construction of commuter parking

lots on 29 miles of 1-95 in northern Virginia As concessionaire 95 Express Lanes LLC will develop

design finance construct maintain and operate the improvements and HOT lanes under 75-year

concession agreement The construction is being financed primarily through grant funding from VDOT
private activity bonds non-recourse loan from the federal Transportation Infrastructure Finance

Innovation Act TIFIA which is administered by the U.S Department of Transportation and equity

contributions from the joint venture members

The construction of the improvements and HOT lanes are being performed by construction joint

venture in which the company has 65 percent interest and Lane Construction has 35 percent interest

Fluor-Lane 95 Transurban USA Inc will perform the operations and maintenance upon completion

of the improvements and commencement of operations of the toll lanes The company has evaluated its

interest in Fluor-Lane 95 and has determined that it is the primary beneficiary Accordingly the company
consolidates the accounts of Fluor-Lane 95 As of December 31 2012 the companys financial statements

include assets of $80 million and liabilities of $68 million for Fluor-Lane 95

The company has also evaluated its interest in 95 Express Lanes LLC and has determined that it is

not the primary beneficiary Based on contractual documents the companys maximum exposure to loss

relating to its investment in Fluor-Transurban is its future funding commitment of $18 million plus its

investment balance of $11 million The company will never have repayment obligations associated with any

of the debt because it is non-recourse to the joint venture members The company accounts for its

ownership interest in 95 Express Lanes LLC under the equity method of accounting

Eagle P3 Commuter Rail Project

In August 2010 the company was awarded its $1.7 billion share of the Eagle P3 Commuter Rail

Project in the Denver metropolitan area The project is public-private partnership between the Regional

Transportation District in Denver Colorado RTD and Denver Transit Partners DTP wholly-

owned subsidiary of Denver Transit Holdings LLC DTH joint venture in which the company has

10 percent interest with two additional partners each owning 45 percent interest Under the agreement

RTD owns and oversees the addition of railways facilities and rolling stock for three new commuter and

light rail corridors in the Denver metropolitan area RTD is funding the construction of the railways and

facilities through the issuance of $398 million of private activity bonds as well as from various other

sources including federal grants RTD advanced the proceeds of the private activity bonds to DTP as

loan that is non-recourse to the company and will be repaid to RTD over the life of the concession

agreement DTP as concessionaire will design build finance operate and maintain the railways facilities

and rolling stock under 35-year concession agreement The company has determined that DTH is VIE

for which the company is not the primary beneficiary DTH is accounted for under the equity method of

accounting Based on contractual documents the companys maximum exposure to loss relating to its

investments in DTH is limited to its future funding commitment of $5 million plus the carrying value of its

investment of less than $1 million

The construction of the railways and facilities is being performed through subcontract arrangements

by Denver Transit Systems DTS and Denver Transit Constructors DTC construction joint

ventures in which the company has an ownership interest of 50 percent and 40 percent respectively The

company has determined that DTS and DTC are VIEs for which the company is the primary beneficiary
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Therefore the company consolidates the accounts of DTS and DTC in its financial statements As of

December 31 2012 the combined carrying values of the assets and liabilities of DTS and DTC were

$120 million and $79 million respectively As of December 31 2011 the combined carrying values of the

assets and liabilities of DTS and DTC were $133 million and $113 million respectively The company has

provided certain performance guarantees on behalf of DTS

Fluor SKM Joint Venture

In 2008 the Fluor SKJvI joint venture was awarded the initial program management engineering and

construction management contract for the expansion of port rail and mine facilities for BHP Billiton

Limiteds iron ore mining project in the Pilbara region of Western Australia Fluor SKM is joint venture

between Fluor Australia Pty Ltd and Sinclair Knight Merz Fluor SKM in which Fluor Australia Pty Ltd

has 55 percent interest and Sinclair Knight Merz has the remaining 45 percent interest

The company has evaluated its interest in Fluor SKM and has determined that the company is the

primary beneficiary Accordingly the company consolidates the accounts of Fluor SKM For the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the companys results of operations included revenue of

$3.4 billion $1.8 billion and $2.4 billion respectively As of December 31 2012 the carrying values of the

assets and liabilities of the Fluor SKM joint venture were $107 million and $123 million respectively As of

December 31 2011 the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of the Fluor SKM joint venture were

$92 million and $112 million respectively

Interstate 495 Capital Beltway Project

In December 2007 the company was awarded the $1.3 billion Interstate 495 Capital Beltway HOT
lanes project in Virginia The project is public-private partnership between VDOT and Capital Beltway

Express LLC joint venture in which the company has 10 percent interest and Transurban USA Inc

has 90 percent interest Fluor-Transurban Under the agreement VDOT owns and oversees the

addition of traffic lanes interchange improvements and construction of HOT lanes on 14 miles of the 1-495

Capital Beltway in northern Virginia Fluor-Transurban as concessionaire will develop design finance

construct maintain and operate the improvements and HOT lanes under an 80-year concession

agreement The construction is being financed through grant funding from VDOT non-recourse

borrowings from issuance of public tax-exempt bonds non-recourse loan from TIFIA which is

administered by the U.S Department of Transportation and equity contributions from the joint venture

members

The construction of the improvements and HOT lanes are being performed by construction joint

venture in which the company has 65 percent interest and Lane Construction has 35 percent interest

Fluor-Lane Transurban USA Inc will perform the operations and maintenance upon completion of

the improvements and commencement of operations of the toll lanes The company has evaluated its

interest in Fluor-Lane and has determined that it is the primary beneficiary Accordingly the company

consolidates the accounts of Fluor-Lane As of December 31 2012 the companys financial statements

include assets of $53 million and liabilities of $49 million for Fluor-Lane As of December 31 2011 the

companys financial statements include assets of $153 million and liabilities of $149 million for Fluor-Lane

The company has also evaluated its interest in Fluor-Transurban and has determined that it is not the

primary beneficiary Based on contractual documents the companys maximum exposure to loss relating to

its investment in Fluor-Transurban is its future funding commitment of $4 million plus its investment

balance of $9 million The company will never have repayment obligations associated with any of the debt

because it is non-recourse to the joint venture members The company accounts for its ownership interest

in Fluor-Transurban under the equity method of accounting
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15 Operations by Business Segment and Geographical Area

The company provides professional services in the fields of engineering procurement construction

and maintenance as well as project management on global basis and serves diverse set of industries

worldwide The five principal business segments are Oil Gas Industrial Infrastructure Government

Global Services and Power as discussed further below

The Oil Gas segment provides design engineering procurement construction and project

management professional services for upstream oil and gas production downstream refining offshore

production chemicals and petrochemicals markets The revenue of single customer and its affiliates of

the Oil Gas segment amounted to 11 percent and 13 percent of the companys consolidated revenue

during the year ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

The Industrial Infrastructure segment provides design engineering procurement and construction

services to the transportation wind power mining and metals life sciences manufacturing commercial

and institutional telecommunications microelectronics and healthcare sectors The revenue of single

customer and its affiliates of both the Industrial Infrastructure and Global Services segments amounted

to 13 percent and 12 percent of the companys consolidated revenue during the year ended December 31

2012 and 2010 respectively

The Government segment provides engineering construction logistics support contingency response

and management and operations services to the U.S government The percentage of the companys

consolidated revenue from work performed for various agencies of the U.S government was 12 percent

14 percent and 15 percent during the years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The Global Services segment includes operations and maintenance activities small capital project

engineering and execution site equipment and tool services industrial fleet services plant turnaround

services and supply chain solutions In addition Global Services provides temporary staffing of technical

professional and administrative personnel for projects in all segments

The Power segment provides engineering procurement construction program management start-up

and commissioning operations and maintenance and technical services to the gas fueled solid fueled

environmental compliance renewables nuclear and power services markets The Power segment includes

the operations of NuScale Power LLC the Oregon-based designer of small modular nuclear reactors

acquired by the company in 2011 which is considered separate operating segment of the company

The reportable segments follow the same accounting policies as those described in Major Accounting

Policies Management evaluates segments performance based upon segment profit Intersegment

revenue is insignificant The company incurs cost and expenses and holds certain assets at the corporate

level which relate to its business as whole Certain of these amounts have been charged to the companys

business segments by various methods largely on the basis of usage

Engineering services for international projects are often performed within the United States or

country other than where the project is located Revenue associated with these services has been classified

within the geographic area where the work was performed

Effective January 2013 the company implemented certain organizational changes that will impact

the composition of the companys reportable segments in 2013 The companys operations and

maintenance activities previously included in the Global Services segment have been integrated into the

Industrial Infrastructure segment Additionally the Global Services segment will now include activities

associated with the companys efforts to grow its fabrication capabilities and the operations of new

procurement entity Acqyre currently being formed to provide strategic sourcing solutions to third parties
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Operating Information by Segment

Year Ended December 31

Total assets

Oil Gas

Industrial Infrastructure

Government

Global Services

Power

Corporate and other

1704.4

561.0

827.2

959.6

120.6

4103.2

$1245.0

943.6

799.6

934.7

191.1

4154.4

in millions 2012 2011 2010

External revenue

Oil Gas 9513.9 7961.7 7740.0

Industrial Infrastructure 12195.7 9700.4 6867.2

Government 3304.7 3398.2 3038.0

Global Services 1721.7 1577.7 1508.6

Power 841.1 743.4 1695.5

Total external revenue $27577.1 $23381.4 $20849.3

Segment profit loss
Oil Gas 334.7 275.6 344.0

Industrial Infrastructure 124.3 389.3 169.7

Government 149.7 145.5 142.2

Global Services 177.6 151.8 133.3

Power 16.9 81.1 170.9

Total segment profit 769.4 1043.3 620.7

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets

OilGas
Industrial Infrastructure 2.4 4.8 4.5

Government 12.9 10.8 7.4

Global Services 124.6 117.5 108.3

Power 0.9

Corporate and other 69.6 66.3 69.2

Total depreciation and amortization of fixed assets 210.4 199.4 189.4

Capital expenditures

OilGas
Industrial Infrastructure 0.5 5.9

Government 5.7 10.7 16.2

Global Services 184.5 248.6 185.5

Power 3.6

Corporate and other 60.4 78.9 57.8

Total capital expenditures 254.7 338.2 265.4

Total assets 8276.0 8268.4

Goodwill

OilGas 7.1 7.1

Industrial Infrastructure 12.2 12.2

Government 46.5 46.5

Global Services 24.9 19.8

Power 10.6 10.3

Total goodwill
101.3 95.9

Industrial Infrastructure Segment profit for 2012 2011 and 2010 was impacted by pre-tax charges

for the Greater Gabbard Project totaling $416 million $60 million and $343 million respectively

Segment profit for 2012 also included pre-tax gain of $43 million on the sale of the companys

unconsolidated interest in telecommunications company located in the United Kingdom Segment
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profit for 2010 also included pre-tax charge of $95 million for completed infrastructure joint

venture project in California The Greater Gabbard project is also discussed further in 13
Contingencies and Commitments above

Power Segment profit for 2012 and 2011 included research and development expenses of

$63 million and $7 million respectively associated with the operations of NuScale Segment profit

for 2010 included pre-tax charges of $91 million on gas-fired power project in Georgia

Enterprise-Wide Disclosures

External Revenue Total Assets

Year Ended December 31 As of December 31

in millions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

United States 7021.4 6959.8 7640.8 $4410.3 $4653.4

Canada 5371.9 4127.5 2422.0 925.9 709.9

Asia Pacific includes Australia 6349.7 4395.5 3325.4 1140.3 957.1

Europe 1632.9 1736.8 3030.1 1196.2 1287.5

Central and South America 3526.5 2822.5 1687.1 260.2 328.3

Middle East and Africa 3674.7 3339.3 2743.9 343.1 332.2

Total $27577.1 $23381.4 $20849.3 $8276.0 $8268.4

Reconciliation of Segment Information to Consolidated Amounts

Year Ended December 31

in millions 2012 2011 2010

Total segment profit 769.4 $1043.3 620.7

Corporate general and administrative expense 151.0 163.5 156.3

Interest income expense net 0.5 16.4 10.6

Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests 115.6 105.6 84.6

Earnings before taxes 733.5 $1001.8 559.6

Non-Operating Income and Expense

Non-operating expense itews of $11.7 million $13.5 million and $1.6 million were included in

corporate general and administrative expense in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Non-operating

expenses in 2012 and 2011 primarily included expenses associated with previously divested operations
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16 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

The following is summary of the quarterly results of operations

in millions except per share amounts First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Year ended December 31 2012

Revenue $6290.1 $7128.2 $7136.1 $7022.7

Cost of revenue 6014.2 6809.8 6829.8 7038.3

Earnings loss before taxes 240.8 288.2 264.5 60.0

Net earnings 177.2 192.5 172.3 29.1

Net earnings loss attributable to Fluor

Corporation 154.9 161.2 144.6 4.4

Earnings loss per share

Basic 0.92 0.96 0.87 0.03

Diluted 0.91 0.95 0.86 0.03

Year ended December 31 2011

Revenue $5057.8 $6033.9 $6037.6 $6252.1

Cost of revenue 4787.5 5727.0 5775.5 5942.5

Earnings before taxes 241.1 281.2 230.9 248.6

Net earnings 161.2 191.5 161.6 183.8

Net earnings attributable to Fluor

Corporation 139.7 165.5 135.4 153.1

Earnings per share

Basic 0.79 0.95 0.79 0.91

Diluted 0.78 0.94 0.78 0.90

Net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2012 and the third
quarter

of 2011 were impacted by pre-tax

charges for the Greater Gabbard Project totaling $416 million or $1.61 per diluted share and $38 million

or $0.14 per diluted share respectively The Greater Gabbard Project is discussed in 13 Contingencies

and Commitments above Net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2012 also included pre-tax gain of

$43 million or $0.17 per diluted share on the October 2012 sale of the companys unconsolidated interest

in telecommunications company located in the United Kingdom and tax benefits of $43 million $0.26

per diluted share associated with the net reduction of tax reserves for various domestic and international

disputed items and an IRS settlement The tax benefits are disclosed in Income Taxes above
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